

THESIS/BXXXRETAXXON

Press Pools and Newspaper Coverage of the Gulf War: Attitudes of Newspaper Editors

Jay C. Steuck, Captain

AFIT Student Attending: Arizona State University

AF1T/CI/CIA- 92-004

AFIT/CI Wright-Patterson AFB OH 45433-6583

Approved for Public Release IAW 190-1 Distributed Unlimited ERNEST A. HAYGOOD, Captain, USAF Executive Officer











Abstract

Press Pools and Newspaper Coverage of the Gulf War: Attitudes of Newspaper Editors

Jay C. Steuck Walter Cronkite School of Journalism and Telecommunication Arizona State University

Press pools have been the principal means of front-line media coverage of U.S. military contingency operations since 1983, and have been criticized on a number of grounds since their inception. A review of Gulf War literature revealed problems in three categories. Attitudinal problems were rooted in a lack of trust between the military and media. Logistical problems were categorized as copy transmission and access difficulties; access was the major hurdle. Operational problems were largely characterized as problems with press escorts and copy review delays. This study used a self-administered mail survey of managing editors (MEs) at the 200 largest daily circulation U.S. newspapers to address the issue of Gulf War coverage. Response (n=58) was low. A majority of MEs found Gulf War coverage to be credible, but more than one-fourth disagreed with that assessment; respondents indicated strong dissatisfaction with the pool system. MEs were willing to accept brief delays (3 days) in coverage, regardless of fighting/non-fighting activity or pool/non-pool membership. MEs with prior military service were more concerned with troop safety, accepting longer delays of troop movement stories than their non-service colleagues; these MEs were split over censoring major troop movement stories, compared to overwhelming

disapproval of censorship among non-service MES. A quartile design was used to stratify respondents (on the basis of circulation) into blocks of 50 (e.g., the 1st largest circulation to the 50th, the 51st to 100th, etc.) Respondents in the last quartile (e.g., the 151st to 200th-ranked newspapers) were contrasted with their larger counterparts; MEs at the smallest newspapers were more inclined to delay publication of troop movement stories to resolve details of those stories. These MEs were also more tolerant of press escorts and Joint Information Bureau (JIB) personnel than were MEs at larger newspapers. MEs gave individuals at all levels of the press pool hierarchy low marks, but ratings were significantly different. Press escorts and policymakers were seen as being more capable than JIB personnel, and escorts were seen as more cooperative than either policymakers or JIB personnel. A large bibliography (138 references) is included.

Aucesio	on For)	
NTIS	CRA&I	J	
DTIC	14B	ŧ 1	
Unannounced Er			
Justilie	ation		
By Distrib	ition /		
Availabiety Course			
Dist	Avel a Spir		•
A-1			

Press Pools and Newspaper Coverage of the Gulf War:

Attitudes of Managing Editors

by

Jay C. Steuck

has been approved

April 1992

APPROVED: Dr. John Craft Committee Dr. Bruce Merrill •

Prof. Edward Sylvester, Committee

ACCEPTED:

Dr. Douglas Anderson Director, Walter Cronkite School of Journalism & Telecommunication

Acknowledgements

A number of acknowledgements are in order. First, I gratefully acknowledge the opportunity offered me by the United States Air Force through the Air Force Institute of Technology's Civilian Institutions program. This program made it possible for me to pursue my master's degree at Arizona State University, and I am grateful for the chance to do so. I also wish to express my thanks to my previous supervisor, Maj. Linda Leong, USAF, and my previous commander, Col. Richard "Dick" Martin, USAF (Ret.). These officers played a major role in guiding my career and helping me attain my present assignment; I am grateful for their advice and assistance.

Dr. John Craft graciously provided his advice and direction during the course of my M.M.C. program, particularly as chair of this project. Dr. Bruce Merrill guided me through the statistical thickets of this as well as other applied research; his assistance is deeply appreciated. Prof. Edward Sylvester provided many helpful insights into the ways of the working press.

Finally, thanks are due Dr. Joe Milner for suggesting the basis of this project during the course of an earlier class. His assistance and counsel while director of the Cronkite School's graduate program is appreciated.

iv

Table of Contents

Abstracti
Approval Pageiii
Acknowledgementsiv
Title Page1
Chapter One: Introduction, Problem & Research Questions2
Introduction2
The Problem
Statement of the Problem5
Significance of the Problem6
Research Questions6
Chapter Two: Literature Review10
Attitudinal Problems10
Logistical Problems17
Operational Problems22
A Few Words From the Lawyers
Chapter Three: Methodology
Research Questions and Subquestions
Data Collection and Recording
Methods
Population
Instrument
Instrument Design
Response Rate40
Schedule

Definitions
Limitations, Delimitations and Assumptions
Chapter Four: Findings, Conclusions and Summary
Pretest
Main Survey48
Administration and Return Tracking
Return Rate
Dataset Verification50
Findings
Research Question One50
Research Question Two52
Pool Scenario53
Non-Pool Scenario54
Research Question Three
Research Question Four
Research Question Five60
Research Question Six67
Research Question Seven
Conclusions
Summary
Chapter Five: Postscript85
References
Appendices103
A. Pool Ground Rules, Guidelines & Operating Procedures103
B. Pilot Study Questionnaire106
C. Circulation List112

D.	Main Survey Mailing List113
E.	Cover letter, Follow-up letter & Questionnaire121
F.	Postcard Reply enclosed with Questionnaire
G.	Postcard Follow-up131
н.	War Coverage Guidelines article

Press Pools and Newspaper Coverage of The Gulf War:

Attitudes of Managing Editors

Jay C. Steuck

An Applied Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master of Mass Communication Degree

Walter Cronkite School of Journalism and Telecommunication Arizona State University Spring, 1992

2

Press Pools and Newspaper Coverage of The Gulf War:

Attitudes of Managing Editors

Chapter One: Introduction, Problem & Research Questions

Introduction

"Covering a war by pools must be something like phone sex, judging from the middle-of-the-night television ads. It sounds safe and easy, and with enough imagination you could get the job done, but you instinctively know there must be a better way." -- Cragg Hines, Houston Chronicle. (Prepared Statement of Cragg Hines, 1991, p. 39).

It would be fair to characterize the use of press pools in the 1990-1991 Gulf War as an acrimonious affair, marked by distaste or outright disgust by the media. The values at stake were high: the public's "right to know" versus national security concerns. The Pentagon's top spokesman, Assistant Secretary of Defense for Public Affairs Louis A. "Pete" Williams, touted pooling as "a good-faith effort on the part of the military to get as many reporters as possible out with troops during a highly mobile, modern ground war" (Williams, 1991, p. 9). One reporter, however, saw matters from a different perspective: "journalists...are, in effect, prisoners of war, trapped behind the barbed wire of reporting curbs" (Boot, 1991a, p. 24). These perspectives were neither new nor extreme; however, to understand the press pool system, it may be helpful to place it in a historical context.

The exclusion of the U.S. media from the 1983 U.S. invasion of Grenada was the genesis of the current press pool system. (White,

З

1984). While media coverage was allowed after the second day of the invasion, (Warden, 1988) this initial exclusion led to media cries for an acceptable policy on media access, ("A Statement of Princip.e," 1984). The then-chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, Gen. John W. Vessey Jr., commissioned a joint media-military panel to create plans for future coverage of U.S. military action (Warden). The working press refused to serve on the panel, but its chair, retired Maj. Gen. Winant Sidle, persuaded retired news executives and war correspondents to participate (Warden, 1988). From February 6-9, 1984, the panel heard testimony from five military and 25 senior media representatives at Fort McNair, Washington, D.C.; closed sessions continued until February 11 (White, 1984). The panel's findings, which came to be known as the Sidle Report, were officially released August 23, 1984 (Stebenne, 1991).

The report's chief recommendation was to establish the press pool system, in which a small group of reporters and photographers, representing the print and broadcast media, would be chosen from a prepared roster to accompany the military (Warden, 1988). Their reports would later be shared, or "pooled," by media organizations (Warden).

Pooling was not a new concept: for example, a rather dracomian version of pooling was introduced in the 1904-1905 Russo-Japanese War, when the Japanese kept Western reporters "detained under tight escort at a risible distance from the fighting" (Lubow, 1991, p. 24). Criticized since its introduction in 1984, pooling was called the "worst possible solution to coverage, but better than nothing" (White, 1984, p. 19).

Since that time, press pools have been used a number of times, most recently in the coverage of the Gulf War. Although pools have functioned acceptably in some instances (Lederer, 1991; Pyle, 1988; Rodrigue, 1991), they have generally functioned with some difficulty (Cloud, 1990; Garneau, 1987 a & b; Lee & DeVitt, 1991; Thompson, 1987).

Press pool problems prior to the Gulf War can be grouped into three broad categories: logistical, operational and attitudinal. Logistical problems, which were defined as difficulties in transporting, supplying and handling pool members and their output, ranged from transmission of print copy and videotapes (Garneau, 1987a & b; Pyle, 1988) to more troublesome problems, such as getting to the action (Cloud, 1990; Elson, 1990) and dealing with military systems (Komarow, 1990; Sheahan, 1988).

Operational problems were defined as difficulties in operating the pools, including military field review of copy; these problems were sometimes perceived as censorship. For example, problems in obtaining troop transport helicopters to move the press pool from ship to ship (Manker, Boyd & Van Dyke, 1988) were seen as censorship through keeping the press from the action (Sheahan, 1988). There were instances of censorship beyond pre-established "ground rules": on one naval cruise, the ship's senior staff was allowed to review press copy, which violated the ground rules (Thompson, 1987). After the 1990 invasion of Panama, the Department of Defense acknowledged "incompetence" (Komarow, 1990, p. 50) in delaying field access.

A third problem category, attitudinal problems, were defined as difficulties created by each group's attitudes and consequent

5

perceptions of the other. While largely attributed as a "legacy of Vietnam" (Sarkesian, 1987) other factors exist (Halloran, 1991; Trainor, 1991). Overall, while some found that pools have worked, others subscribed to the idea that "the Pentagon has one agenda and the news media have another agenda and quite often, they are in conflict" (Garneau, 1987b, p. 24c).

The Problem

Statement of the Problem

The problem of press pools lies in the conflict between the societal interest of "the public's right to know," as derived from the First Amendment, and the government's national security interests (Minor, 1970; The Nation Magazine ... United States Department of Defense, 1991; Silverberg, 1991; Stebenne, 1991). Exposure of information unfavorable to government is also a factor in that conflict (Gibson, 1985; Trainor, 1991). A concept closely linked to this conflict is the media's "watchdog" role, in which the media acts as the public's eyes and ears in coverage of institutional activity, such as government (Charnley & Charnley, 1979). In wartime, this concept is often exemplified by coverage of atrocities such as the infamous Vietnam "Zippo raid" at Cam Ne (Emery, 1971). Although such events undoubtedly occurred in earlier U.S. wars, press coverage was muted through tacit press cooperation (Steele, 1985) or left unreported by individuals (Braestrup, 1985).

In summary, press pools exist at best as "a cooperative arrangement designed to balance the media's desire for unilateral coverage with...[the military] responsibility to maintain operational security, protect the safety of the troops, and prevent interference with military operations." (CENTCOM [U.S. Central Command] Pool Membership and Operating Procedures, 1991 [Appendix A]). At worst, pools lead to a situation where

"When the crunch comes, military people become soldiers first and public affairs specialists somewhere after that. Everything is subverted to the military objectives. All the good-faith planning in the world will not change that." (Aukofer, 1991, p. 26).

Both statements are somewhat polarized; as we shall see, the reality of press pool coverage lies somewhere between.

Significance of the Problem

Credibility of press coverage in press pools may be suspect; limited access by a numerically tiny press corps precludes full coverage of wartime activity, which casts doubt to the overall credibility of coverage. The efficacy of unrestricted coverage is open to philosophical question: does more coverage provide better coverage? Massing (1991) and Maitre (1991) cast doubt on this concept in coverage of the Gulf War; however, the majority of media opinions (e.g., Gersh, 1991j) support unrestricted coverage. Additionally, the paucity of scientific research on this topic may indicate a need for study of this relatively new press-government interface.

<u>Research Questions</u>

The research question on which this study is based is: Does press pool coverage of military wartime activity provide credible coverage for newspapers? Newspapers were chosen for this study due to the large number of newspapers published and the in-depth nature of newspaper

coverage; the author contends that due to these characteristics, newspapers are comparatively affected to a greater degree by press pool restrictions than their broadcast brethren.

One journalism text put it this way: "Broadcasting, with only a fraction of its day's schedule assigned to news, offers fewer stories, in fewer words, than do newspapers." (Charnley & Charnley, 1979, p. 80). One measure of this assertion is the makeup of press pools; for example, the 17 members of the first pool sent to the Gulf represented seven print and two broadcast organizations (Williams, 1991). This pool, the Department of Defense National Media Pool, is selected from a roster jointly prepared by the military and the media (Warden, 1988); its makeup indicates the relative emphasis placed on print media. Subsequent pools, in which participation was controlled by the media, maintained a strong (and hotly contested) print majority (Gersh, 1991c).

Managing editors were chosen as the survey subjects. Trayes (1978) identifies a number of activities that these individuals fulfill; these activities include selection and display of information, budgetary control, control of assignments, establishing priorities and overall newsroom supervision. In dealing with press pools, the managing editor plays a role in determining participation in pools (the prioritization and assignment roles), how long participation continues (budgetary and assignment decisions), and how coverage is used (selection and display). As the "captain of the ship" (Charnley & Charnley, 1979) managing editors clearly fill a leadership role; their attitudes reflect authoritative opinions based on years of experience.

8

Questions will survey the managing editors' attitudes in three areas -- access, censorship and credibility -- which will be used to approximate their overall attitude on credibility. A subquestion in the access category will focus on the variable of fighting versus non-fighting as a factor affecting coverage. Charnley and Charnley (1979) cite conflict as a prime factor in the newsworthiness of a story; it is thus hypothesized that in the absence of fighting, media will more readily accept delays and for longer periods of time than if fighting were underway, because the impetus of conflict does not exist.

Another subquestion concerns chain-affiliated newspapers. Chain members tend to share editorial philosophies, and smaller members often share national stories from the chain (Bagdikian, 1983), in effect creating news services supplementing traditional sources such as the *Associated Press.* Managing editors will be asked to identify if "their" newspaper is a chain member. If so, they will be asked if a chain reporter's copy would be acceptable in lieu of their own reporter's stories. If so, a larger but still limited pool (with chain representatives) may partially mitigate representation problems.

The third subquestion addresses military service as a possible source of personal bias. Several demographic questions will ask for information on managing editors' military service, if any; respondents with military service will be analyzed versus those without service experience. Prior service may bias respondents, positively or negatively, compared to their non-service colleagues.

9

The fourth subquestion analyzes assertions made regarding support at various levels of the military's pool apparatus. It is asserted that the military, particularly senior officers and policymakers, distrusts the media (Lamb, 1991; Monroe, 1991); the Joint Information Bureau (JIB) was also criticized, while field personnel were seen in a more favorable light (Gersh, 1991i.) To test these assertions, managing editors will be asked to evaluate each level of the military interface -- press escorts, JIB personnel and policymakers -- with respect to their capability and cooperation.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

The literature review will be presented in four sections. The first three expand upon the major problem categories alluded to above: attitudinal, logistical and operational. Definitions of each category are those of the author, and are designed to separate problems into working areas. However, it should be acknowledged that in the situations discussed below, factors from more than one area may be at work in any situation. The fourth section focuses on the legal challenges to press pooling filed against the Department of Defense (DoD) by various parties in the wake of the Gulf War.

Attitudinal Problems

During a Gulf War press briefing, the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, Gen. Colin Powell, was questioned about a chart which lacked details to corroborate Powell's comments. Powell replied that the gist was accurate: "Trust me," he said. "Trust me."(Zoglin, 1991a, p. 44). This exchange underscores the underlying problem in pooling: simply put, the media distrust the military (Boot, 1991a & b; Lee & DeVitt, 1991; McMasters, 1991, Rodrigue, 1991) and the military, particularly among senior officers, distrust the media (Lamb, 1991; Monroe, 1991; Schanberg, 1991). In the time-honored role of the press' adversarial relationship with government, this distrust is considered by some (Pavlik & Rachlin, 1991) to be inevitable and even healthy (Soucy, 1991; Trainor, 1991). However, while skepticism may be healthy for the

11

media and military, "the problem of minimizing the natural friction is a daunting one." (Trainor, 1991, p. 123).

The origin of this distrust is attributed to the Vietnam War. Newsday's Rita Ciolli neatly summarizes the general perspective:

"The discussion [of pool ground rules] are taking place against a recent backdrop of disastrous relations. The Pentagon is still influenced by the perception that the media prevented the United States from winning the Vietnam War; and journalists are very wary about being deliberately shutout of the action during the incursions in Grenada and Panama." (Ciolli, 1990, p. 2).

Others put it bluntly: access restrictions were "mostly a reaction to the legacy of Vietnam" (Alter, et al., 1991, p. 19). Coverage of the Vietnam War is thus blamed for two divisive attitudes; first, an anti-media attitude in the military; second, an anti-military attitude on the media's part.

There is some basis for the first criticism. For example, retired Lt. Gen. Bernard Trainor writes:

"It [the anti-press attitude] is a legacy of the war, and it takes root [in officers] shortly after they enter service. The credo of the military seems to have become 'duty, honor, country, and hate the media." (Trainor, 1991, p. 122).

This attitude can be found in at least one Vietnam veteran: after the Vietnam War, Gen. William Westmoreland, commander of U.S. forces there from 1964-1968, remarked, "Press and television created an aura not of victory but of defeat, which, coupled with vocal antiwar elements, profoundly influenced timid officials in Washington." (Kinnard, 1976, p. 164). Maj. Gen. Patrick H. Brady, chief of Army public affairs from 1987-1990, is quoted as saying:

"Some look on news as just another four-letter word, but I believe it is more useful to look at it as a C-letter word: chaos, confusion, contradiction, crime, corruption. catastrophe. It does not hurt if you add some S's -- sex, sensationalism, state secrets. The words of a reporter for a national news syndicate best sum it up. He came to us for some information we provided with the comment that we were always happy to get it right. He replied rather hurriedly: 'I don't care if I get it right; I only care if I get it first.'" (Browne, 1991, p. 1,184).

Other factors contribute as well. Retired Maj. Philip Soucy (a former public affairs officer (PAO) for the Secretary of the Army) quotes a Washington media bureau chief as saying, "It's not my job to keep your secrets; if I get one, and it's a good story, I'm going to print it." (Soucy, 1991, p. 109). Along with this element of concern for preserving operational security, Halloran (1990) lists three other factors in the military's distrust: the military's traditional distrust of critical civilians, an ignorance of the media's role and the First Amendment, and a reaction to media excesses.

One example of this attitude during the Gulf War: John Balzar of the Los Angeles Times writes of an Army colonel who, when asked about an after-battle assessment, asked the reporter, "Do you have a security clearance?" (Lamb, 1991, p. 36). Faced with a lack of cooperation from the Army, Balzar's pool, which included two Vietnam veterans, later voted to disband (Lamb.)

Following the Gulf War, 17 major media organizations issued an ad hoc report on media coverage of the war, calling it "the most undercovered major conflict in modern history" (Gersh, 1991i, p. 7). This report sharply criticized the Joint Information Bureau (JIB) and military high command for delaying review and ordering lower-ranking

personnel to "not..be cooperative, indeed to detain and expel independent reporters" (Gersh, 1991i, p. 8).

This attitude was not universal. The Dallas Morning News' George Rodrigue (1991) writes that "almost every unit we visited welcomed us heartily" (p. 22); Associated Press correspondent Edith Lederer tells of how an Air Force colonel escorted her and Chicago Tribune reporter David Evans to a secret telephone to post the story of the initial U.S. air attack against Iraq (Lederer, 1991). The ad hoc media report credited "soldiers and many company and field-grade officers [who] welcomed press coverage, were not afraid of it, and tried to help reporters" (Gersh, 19911, p. 8).

In the sole research study found, Pavlik and Rachlin's (1991) purposive survey of Desert Storm journalists found that 86 percent said informal military contacts were helpful, and 37 percent said those contacts were very helpful. Unfortunately, this survey reached a very small number (n=37) of Gulf War reporters. The number of reporters in the Gulf War theatre are variously reported between 1,300 to 1,800 (Grossman, 1991); Pavlik and Rachlin (1991) cite a figure of 1,400 reporters. The generalizability of this study is thus suspect.

Another attitude media members found objectionable was the military's concern for their safety (Apple, 1991; Galloway, 1991). As in the Panama invasion, in which the military kept reporters from the action for their safety (Cloud, 1990; Komarow, 1990), Gulf War pools were sometimes held back (Leeson, 1991.) The Iraqi capture and incarceration [January 24 to March 2, 1991] of the CBS news team headed

by Bob Simon demonstrated the danger of capture in the Gulf War (Williams, 1991). Trainor states:

"The military is protective and feels responsible for the safety of any civilians they are sponsoring. Keeping the press pool isolated at an air base in Panama was a genuine reflection of military concern for the reporters's safety." (Trainor, 1991, p. 128).

On the other hand, the journalist's precept is that their safety is their own concern. As Marvin Kalb said on this subject in USA Today: "If journalists, in doing their work, feel they must be in harm's way to do the job properly, that should be their call and not the Pentagon's call." (Kalb, 1991, p. 1,165). Their employers, however, may not always agree. Komarow writes: "With American news executives complaining that the military didn't do enough to protect the reporters trapped at the Marriott downtown [in Panama City], it was harder to convince the military that danger was our business." (Komarow, 1990, p. 49).

In the Gulf War, the same dichotomy was observed. Bureau news chiefs told the Pentagon's Pete Williams that a reporter's security was not the military's concern; but when approximately 40 journalists were captured in Iraq after the March 4 cease-fire, "four news industry executives wrote to the President, saying that *no* U.S. forces should withdraw from Iraq until the issue of the journalists was resolved." (Williams, 1991, pp. 8-9). [These detainees were released to the International Red Cross in Baghdad March 9.] Although journalists (Apple, 1991; Leeson, 1991) claimed safety concerns were an excuse to force journalists into press pools and restrict access, their executives clearly saw matters differently.

15

Another example of a military attitude arose in regard to unilateral reporters (those U.S. reporters who covered U.S. military activity independent of pools and without military escort.) Unilateral coverage was to be allowed once safety and operational conditions warranted (CENTCOM Pool Membership and Operating Procedures, 1991), but was not officially allowed. However, several instances occurred during the brief ground war, particularly during the liberation of Kuwait City (Gugliotta, 1991). Although by definition the unilaterals were not part of pools and thus lie outside the scope of this study, the military's treatment of unilaterals sometimes exceeded the rather vague policy of "exclud[ing] from the area of operation all unauthorized individuals." (Department of Defense Guidelines for News Media, 1991, p. 469).

A unilateral's lot wasn't easy; as Bob Simon's experience proved, the Iraqis were quite capable of handling unarmed journalists. If found by U.S. forces, the military detained unilaterals until they were returned to press centers; unilaterals also could have their press credentials revoked (Hedges, 1991; Offenburger, 1991). Pavlik & Rachlin (1991) cite 30 percent of their respondents as having engaged in such reporting; treatment of unilaterals was uneven. While some were threatened with revocation of their credentials, others had their credentials temporarily revoked (Hedges); others were rebuked. After losing his credentials to two Army public affairs officers, one reporter wrote: "Two other Army public affairs officers with them -- I didn't get their names -- had plenty to say to me too. In short, I hadn't been talked to like that since I went through Army basic training in 1969. I

feel like I have only about half my rear end left." (Offenburger, 1991, p. 1,173.)

On the media's part, one attitude -- a perceived military grudge against the media -- was quite evident. "Doing away with independent reporting has been the Pentagon's goal ever since Vietnam" (Morrow, 1991, p. 18). "It's obvious the government has been planning for a rematch since Vietnam. They were brilliantly successful." (Zoglin, 1991d, p. 57). "They [the press] were still fighting the last war in Vietnam, always suspecting that the United States would eventually screw up, that its generals would lie and its soldiers would die in droves." (Gergen, 1991, p. 57).

And what of objectivity? One reporter wrote: "I look at the news media predicament like this: journalists accredited to the allied command in Saudi Arabia are, in effect, prisoners of war, trapped behind the barbed wire of reporting curbs." (Boot, 1991a, p. 24.) A nice wartime analogy, but it might have been more meaningful had Boot actually been in a pool when those words were written. Indeed, William Boot* provides an interesting pair of articles -- the "before-and-after" pool stories. The "before' story is quoted above; his "after" article opens tongue-in-cheek:

"I was a combat pool correspondent, one of the happy few who helped provide America with what Pentagon spokesman Pete Williams called 'the best war coverage we've ever had.' True, most of us never saw a battle and few of us

^{*}It's interesting to note that "William Boot" is actually a pseudonym for Seattle *Post-Intelligencer* Washington correspondent Christopher Hansen. The use of a pen name is unexplained.

even saw a dead Iraqi soldier, but at least we got to be part of the great adventure. True, many of our news dispatches never made it back to our news organizations, but at least we got to write them. True, military officers controlled our every movement, but that, after all, may be why Williams bestowed his glowing praise, and pool veterans should not take compliments lightly." (Boot, 1991b, p. 24.)

Another journalist saw matters from a different perspective:

"When the flow of information to the public is totally controlled by the government, when the tradition of civilian control of the military is flouted, when the Pentagon tries to shoulder a political as well as a military role, then a democratic society is in peril." (McMasters, 1991, p. 9.)

Of course, not all reporters shared these opinions (Lamb, 1991: Lederer, 1991; Maitre, 1991.) An interesting comment on pooling comes from Pulitzer Prize-winner George Rodrigue: "The pool work reminded me of the importance of making your own observations and drawing your own conclusions. In other words, the pool system often did not work well for non-pool reporters." (Rodrigue, 1991, p. 21). Rodrigue's solution to pooling was either to abandon the idea or to expand pooling to such a degree that pools functioned solely as support mechanisms.

In summary, while it would be fair to say that both sides -military and media alike -- often suffered from prejudicial attitudes, such attitudes were by no means universal. These attitudes, however, often set the tone for media-military encounters, some of which will be explored in the next section.

Logistical Problems

Logistical problems are defined as difficulties in transporting, supplying and handling pool members and their output. These problems

manifested themselves as copy transmission and access problems; of the two, access problems were widely judged to be the worst (see Apple, 1991b; Aukofer, 1991; Gersh, 1991i; Rodrigue, 1991), while transmission problems were largely a result of being too far ahead of support facilities (Boot, 1991b).

Access was clearly the most annoying problem: while estimates ranged from 1,300 - 1,800 reporters in the war theatre, (Grossman, 1991) pools only accommodated approximately 130 (Lamb, 1991). Although the military was criticized (Apple, 1991b; Gersh 1991i; Leeson, 1991) for not providing more slots, Massing (1991) criticized the emphasis on front-line reporters, saying that more openness wouldn't have necessarily produced better reporting, and that unlike Vietnam, where front-line reporters could bring back the story, the air war in the Gulf didn't lend itself to on-the-spot reporting. Vietnam's relatively relaxed coverage rules seem to have become the yardstick for coverage: for example, Zoglin writes that in Vietnam, "reporters were free to travel almost anywhere they wanted in areas under nominal U.S. control. With the restrictive gulf pool system, military escorts stand by while a limited number of journalists conduct their interviews." (Zoglin, 1991a, pp. 44-45).

Access on the Vietnam model, however, was perhaps asking too much. Veteran correspondent Otto Kriesher of the *Copley News Service* said:

"...I don't think in a case like this you can simply open up the theatre, as happened in Vietnam, and say, 'Okay, everybody drive out to the war.' The hazards are too great. To a large extent, the group on the front lines has had reasonably good access. They've even

19

brought back information that the official briefers in Riyadh don't want to handle. So I'd give the military a B-plus for effort and a C for execution." (Lamb, 1991, p. 35).

Another perspective echoed the point:

"Too often, American reporters seemed to be fighting the last war. Where there was sand, they saw rice paddies, and, like latter-day David Halberstams, they instinctively headed for the front. This was no guerrilla war, however, but a high-intensity, fully conventional conflict, and it required something other than the traditional on-the-ground reporting." (Massing, 1991, p. 23).

Reasons cited for controlled access (CENTCOM Pool Membership and Operating Procedures, 1991) were several: they included maintaining operational security, protecting troop safety and preventing interference with military operations. With 1,300 - 1,800 reporters in-theatre, some restraints can perhaps be understood.

One anecdote illustrates the point: an Apache helicopter unit of the Army's 82nd Airborne Division was so overwhelmed by reporters that its pilots were unable to fly for one week. "After the unit's commander gave 20 interviews that week, answering the same questions over and over, media visits to the unit were suspended." (Lamb, 1991, p. 35). While this would probably not occur to the same degree if unrestricted access were allowed, the nature of "pack journalism" raises the specter of hordes of reporters flocking from one unit to the next as stories break, impeding supply routes and operations.

But access was ultimately found to be lacking. By February, pools covering ground combat units were doubled due to what the commander of the Dhahran JIB, Navy Captain R. E. Wildermuth, called "the complaints of the press corps, who have brought to our attention the inadequacies

of the current system." (Apple, 1991b, p. 1,160). As noted above, when the ground war broke out, a "jailbreak" of sorts occurred when a number of pool journalists turned unilateral and headed for Kuwait City (Gugliotta, 1991). Although the Iraqi capture and later release of 40-odd journalists [March 4-9, 1991] after the cease-fire demonstrated the danger of even a defeated enemy (Williams, 1991), the exigencies of the situation clearly reached the breaking point for some journalists.

Another problem involved coverage of fatalities suffered by U.S. forces. The ad hoc media report outlines three separate incidents, but perhaps the most clear-cut example involved the Feb. 25 SCUD missile attack on a troop barracks in Dhahran. Despite being a few miles from the JIB headquarters, and although a quick reaction pool was available there, the pool was never deployed; access was restricted, no Dhahran officials were "authorized to comment...[and] official information came from Riyadh, 150 miles away." ("Military Obstacles Detailed, 1991, p. 9). The official rationale was that by executive directive, nextof-kin had to be personally notified by the appropriate service. Media coverage held the potential to cause "anguish [by] sudden recognition at home [that] far outweighs the news value of the photograph, film or videotape" (Guidelines for News Media, 1991 [Appendix A]).

Similar sensitivities were cited (see Stebenne, 1991) as a reason to bar media coverage of the arrival of flights bearing U.S. casualties at Dover AFB, Del.; although Department of Defense policy (Public Affairs Guidance, 1991) was to hold ceremonies at the service member's

duty station to spare family members the cost and inconvenience of traveling to the port of entry, this rationale was later legally challenged in *J. B. Pictures, et. al. v. Department of Defense* (1991).

Access wasn't the only logistical problem. One reporter said the pool system "was fatally flawed by the fact the military did not put assets or resources in the hands of the public affairs people in the field." (Pavlik and Rachlin, 1991, p. 28). This problem, particularly in the transmission of pool copy, (see Boot, 1991b) led to this castigation in the ad hoc media report:

"many [media] reports from front-line units were delayed and/or recommended for censorship by on-scene PAOs [Public Affairs Officers]. That JIB officers refused in most cases to go along with these recommendations was small consolation, given the transmission delays involved." (Gersh, 19911, p. 8).

This problem did not sit well with the Pentagon's Pete Williams:

"I would say the biggest lesson learned is that we need to do much better getting stories back from the field; it was the part of this that I don't think anybody was particularly satisfied with....Whether that means that there's dedicated stuff for reporters -- dedicated transportation...helicopters, armored personnel carriers, things like that -- I think that military units are going to have to just do a better job of putting people in the unit who don't do anything but take care of reporters...." (Gersh, 1991f, p. 17).

In summary, the access problem was clearly the most odious for poolers. One dispirited correspondent was asked whether having 800 instead of 100 journalists in front-line positions would improve accounts of the gulf war; the reporter said, "I can't say, because I really don't know what the truth is here." (Lamb, 1991, pp. 35-36).

While it seems clear that complaints about the access and copy transmittal problems have been at least heard, if not heeded, the problems of access and copy transmission were considerable. Promises of change aside, *Newsweek*'s Tony Clifton sounded a facetious note:

"Now I know why I haven't had children. It's because later in my life, I don't want some innocent child saying, 'Daddy, what did you do in the gulf war?' Because I would have to reply, 'Child, I watched it on CNN, from an armchair in a big hotel in Dhahran, Saudi Arabia." (Clifton, 1991, p. 36).

Operational Problems

Operational problems are defined as problems in operating pools, including field review, or censorship, of copy. While reporters naturally found any modifications of their copy offensive (Boot, 1991b; Browne, 1991a), others (Lamb, 1991; Rodrigue, 1991) found censorship to be "mostly rather light-handed" (Grossman, 1991, p. 28.) Other operational problems were more troublesome and outside the pre-established "ground rules" (Operation Desert Shield Ground Rules, 1991 [See Appendix A]).

Field review, or censorship, of copy was instituted to prevent the release of "sensitive information about military plans, capabilities, operations or vulnerabilities" (CENTCOM Guidelines for News Media, 1991 [Appendix A]). Changes suggested by press escorts would be discussed by the reporter; if agreement could not be reached, disputes were forwarded to the Dhahran JIB for military-media discussion. If agreement could not be reached there, copy was forwarded to the Pentagon for discussion with Washington bureau chiefs; the final decision lay

with the reporter's organization. (CENTCOM Guidelines, 1991). This system was touted as allowing "expeditious" review and clearance of copy; however, such was not always the case.

Most copy modifications were relatively minor; for example. The New York Times' Malcolm Browne (1991a) was persuaded to change his description of F-117A fighter pilots returning from a successful mission from "giddy" to "proud;" while Browne and others (see Pavlik & Rachlin, 1991) decried this, one observer called it "not exactly the Pentagon Papers." (Massing, 1991, p. 23). Browne's story also fell prey to misrouting errors during review. After agreeing to the modification of his story, Browne was promised quick telefaxing of his story to pool headquarters in Dhahran. The story, however, wound up at Air Force facilities at the Tonopah Test Range, Nevada, (the F-117A's home base) for review. After a 24-hour delay, it was released, but by that point was termed "hopelessly stale." (Browne, 1991. p. 1,186).

Perhaps the most notorious instance of routing delays was found in the Army's VII Corps, where a so-called "layering effect" caused copy to be

"reviewed by the PAO of the 2nd Armored Division, then by the 1st Infantry Division, then by VII Corps' 'notorious' Major Cook and finally by the Dhahran JIB. The process added days to an already unacceptably slow process." (Military Obstacles Detailed, 1991, p. 9.)

This layering problem was not unknown to the media or the military. Wall Street Journal reporter John Fialka assessed the situation this way: "Seventh Corps was simply a black hole." (Boot, 1991b, p. 25). Fialka had first-hand knowledge of VII Corps' care: one of his stories

was so heavily marked up when it reached the JIB that the PAO there believed VII Corps wanted it deleted. Upon further review, inserting the term "perhaps" in an appropriate spot solved the problem -- after a three-day review (Military Obstacles Detailed, 1991). In their study, Pavlik and Rachlin (1991) found that 23% of respondents reported delays in copy transmission; however, the small return rate (n=37) of their study may cast doubt to the veracity of this statistic.

These delays were also known to the military, and were sharply reprimanded by the Public Affairs staff at U.S. Central Command (Media Pool Feedback, 1991). Such delays were termed "unacceptable" and the primary field review procedure was emphasized. Transport of copy was also directed for the fastest means available, including aircraft when possible and frequent courier runs. Delays in transmission were nonetheless numerous (see Military Obstacles Detailed, pp. 9-10).

Other censorship problems seemed timed to allow the military, not the media, to break stories. For example, ABC News wanted to announce that the pilot of a downed F-14 had been rescued but was denied permission, on the rationale that the F-14 carries two crewmembers and Iraqi forces would seek the other member. "That seemed perfectly reasonable to us," said ABC's Richard Kaplan, but "20 minutes later they have a briefing, and the briefer says, 'An F-14 was shot down, and we picked up one of the pilots.'" (Zoglin, 1991a, p. 45).

Another example (Military Obstacles Detailed, 1991) makes less sense. During an interview, the *Seattle Post-Intelligencer*'s military/ defense issues writer, Ed Offley, was told that the Air Force's EF-111,

an electronic warfare aircraft, carries 10 "exciters," which the operator uses to electronically jam enemy radars and radios. A PAO told Offley that the information was classified, so he deleted it from his story. The next day, Offley read an Air Force press release, which mentioned that the EF-111 carries exciters. One possible explanation is that the <u>number</u> of exciters was classified; more likely, the PAO simply wasn't familiar with the press release.

One reason for inconsistent public affairs response may have been the training level of the PAOs and press escorts. Press escorts were not always active-duty public affairs personnel; while escorts traveled with six to nine reporters, they were often reservists just called up (Williams, 1991b). While this may explain some errors, others were more egregious. Some (Boot, 1991b; Schanberg, 1991) criticized escorts for causing interviewees to "self-censor" their remarks. One escort (Military Obstacles Detailed, 1991) sat in at every interview, sitting behind the interviewer "and shaking his head yes or no as to whether a question should be answered." (p. 9). Written advisories read to troops before interviews became known in the press corps as the "Miranda warning." (Military Obstacles Detailed.) These activities were sharply condemned by the CENTCOM Public Affairs staff (Media Pool Feedback, 1991.)

However, if some press escorts were a little "green," their media counterparts were often wet behind the ears. Maitre (1991) catalogs some of the more egregious factual media errors: *The New York Times* report of smoking F-15 fighter engines that give away their presence;

the claim by *Newsweek*'s Charles Lane that F-15s and Apache helicopters would not be effective against Iraqi tank forces; the assertion by *Boston Globe* correspondent Fred Kaplan that the M-1 Abrams tank was not suited for desert warfare. Veteran correspondent Peter Braestrup (1991) summed it up by labeling these reporters "yuppies in the desert."

On the other hand, some (Aukofer, 1991; Rodrigue, 1991) found their escorts to be fairly benign. In their study of Gulf War journalists, Pavlik and Rachlin (1991) found that only 17% of respondents said they were ever unable to file stories; in Rodrigue's experience, his escort (a navy lieutenant) "actually told his captain that we, and not the captain" (p. 21) were allowed to change stories.

Another, more interesting operational problem lies in the assignment of pool openings. Following the August 1990 arrival of the DoD National Media Pool, other reporters began flowing into Saudi Arabia; the decision on how to allocate pool openings in the nine pool categories (television, radio, wire service, newsmagazine, newspaper, photo, Saudi, international, and "pencil" [writers]) was left to the pool coordinator. Since the pool coordinator was a media member, the media determined which individuals went in the pools; internecine squabbling for press pool slots ultimately resolved itself in favor of the four TV networks and 10 major newspapers (Aukofer, 1991; Lamb, 1991; Rodrigue, 1991.)

These major organizations became known as "the Sacred 14" (Gersh. 1991c, p. 9), dividing the media against themselves. Aukofer said the Sacred 14 "run [pools] like some kind of despotic monarchy... Some newspapers are getting screwed and so are the photographers." (Gersh, p. 9).

27

The Sacred 14 took advantage of the rule (CENTCOM Pool Membership and Operating Procedures, 1991) that mandated rotation in and out of the pool every three weeks. By having staff members arrive in the Gulf three weeks before their pool member was due to rotate out; these new arrivals were able to get on the waiting list for assignments into pools; once on the waiting list, these members then replaced the staffer rotating out. The pool coordinator was the final authority on pool matters; thus, although CENTCOM rules forbade "favoritism or disparate treatment of the media by pool coordinators in pool operations," (p. VI), the Sacred 14 were able to maintain control. Aukofer (1991) claims the Sacred 14 were determined to exploit the system to gain "virtual exclusives," since other organizations would normally use the pool's information, but not the actual stories.

It was also alleged (Gersh, 1991i; Grossman, 1991; Pavlik and Rachlin, 1991) that the military used the press in a disinformation campaign, particularly in regard to the rumored amphibious landing in Kuwait City. The ad hoc media report cites Desert Storm commander Gen. Norman Schwartzkopf as waiting until the war was over to "explain that the press had been deliberately used to mislead the Iragis...." (Gersh, 1991i, p. 8).

DoD's own interim report on the conduct of the Gulf War (Conduct of the Persian Gulf Conflict, 1991) lists three shortcomings of their media support plans. These shortcomings were: command support (at the component command levels) was uneven; PAOs were often not properly trained to conduct security reviews of pool products, and although most

performed well, some public affairs escorts overstepped their bounds. This report mirrors many media complaints, but did not outline any specific solutions, rendering it more of an acknowledgement of problems than anything else.

In summary, field treatment of copy, particularly in transmission delays, often lessened a story's news value through delay. Overzealous or uninformed press escorts often exacerbated problems; many of their opposite numbers displayed their lack of knowledge as well. This lack of information, coupled with the lack of trust between the two sides, made for short tempers and long-term grievances.

A Few Words From the Lawyers

In the wake of media distaste and self-recrimination over press coverage, three suits (*The Nation Magazine v. United States Department* of Defense, Agence France-Presse, et. al. v. United States Department of Defense and J. B. Pictures, et. al., v. the Department of Defense and Donald O. Rice, Secretary of the Air Force) were filed in 1991.

J. B. Pictures (1991) concerns press access to Dover AFB, Del., traditionally the port of entry for deceased servicemembers. While this case does not concern press pooling, and is thus outside the scope of this study, it is mentioned here as an adjunct to the legal issues involved: prior restraint and the emerging right of access (Silverberg, 1991).

The Nation case was filed Jan. 28, 1991 in New York's Southern District U.S. District Court before Judge Leonard B. Sand. The media
plaintiffs contended that pooling restrictions violated their First and Fifth Amendment rights; specifically, that the pool system violated their news-gathering privileges under the First Amendment and that the media have an unlimited right of access to foreign areas in which American forces are engaged. The Nation plaintiffs sought immediate injunctive relief from pool restrictions. Department of Defense attorneys argued that the First Amendment does not bar the government from restricting access to combat activities, and that pool regulations were narrowly tailored in response to national security concerns. DoD also contended that three threshold arguments made the case non-justicative (eligible for judgment by the court). These threshold arguments -- (1) access was allowed under the pool system and thus access was not denied; (2) the political doctrine question removed the case from the court's consideration and (3) after March 4, when the pool system was disbanded, the suit became moot -- were later considered by Judge Sand in his findings.

The Agence France-Presse case was filed in the same court, again before Judge Sand; this case, however, is not as straightforward as the Nation case. Agence France-Presse (AFP) is one of three international photo services, similar to the AP/Reuters photo services, and is headquartered in Paris. AFP had requested access to the photo pool in late September 1990 and at least five times between Sept. 27, 1990, and Feb. 1, 1991; however, despite numerous letters of support from U.S. newspapers, AFP access to the photo pool was denied.

An explanation for AFP's exclusion surfaced in a Feb. 14th hearing. The Department of Defense asserted that due to AFP's status as a French corporation, it was eligible for and was admitted to the international pool. Agence France-Presse again sought access to the photo pool, contending that the international pool produced no photos, and that they would be ineligible for photo pool products under the CENTCOM guidelines. Agence France-Presse further contended that its exclusion was discriminatory and unlawful; Reuters, a British corporation, was allowed to participate in the photo pool, but unlike Reuters, AFP was classified into the international pool.

Upon discussion with attorneys for all parties, these cases were merged on Feb. 25, 1991 (*Nation*, p. 1,260.), with the proviso that issues unique to either plaintiff were to be resolved separately. Judge Sand then heard oral arguments on March 7, 1991, three days after the cease-fire.

In his decision, Judge Sand rejected the first two threshold claims. The first -- failure to deny access -- was rejected because AFP was, in the merged case, denied access.

The second, the political question doctrine, refers to Article II of the U.S. Constitution, which places the military under the command of the President; under the separation of powers principle, the President can order executive actions beyond judicial review. In this instance, the Department of Defense's contention was that the separation of powers principle moved the case beyond the court's power to review. Judge Sand rejected this claim as overbroad and inconsistent with constitutional

31

precedent, because the judiciary has and can rule over the military in certain situations. In this case, that the pool system was imposed by an Executive agency (DoD) did not qualify under Article II of the Constitution as a non-justicative executive action.

The third question, mootness, was not decided. Citing the requirement in *Rescue Army v. Municipal Court of Los Angeles* (1947) that "underlying constitutional issues [be presented] in a clean-cut and concrete form" as precedent, Judge Sand ruled that the access issues were "not sufficiently in focus at this time to meet the *Rescue Army* requirement" (*Nation*, 1991, p. 1,271) and dismissed the complaint.

Two articles on the topic of media access to battlefield operations (Silverberg, 1991 and Frenznick, 1992) reach opposite conclusions. Regarding prior restraint, neither concedes an absolute governmental right to bar the press under the national security exemption established in Near v. Minnesota (1931) and modified in New York Times Co. v. U.S. (1971) [The Pentagon Papers case]. Both concede, however, that the use of emerging technologies (e.g., real-time salellite uplink) may well provide enough evidence to support Justice Brennan's requirement of demonstrating inevitable, direct and immediate peril of troop safety in wartime.

Both differ over the emerging right of access, which offers some hope for the press. Silverberg (1991) and Frenznick (1992) suggest virtually identical tripartite tests, based on precedents in *Richmond Newspapers, Inc. v. Virginia* (1980) and *Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court* (1982). The tests require the press to prove (1) that

32

the place "historically [has] been open to the press and general public" (*Globe* and *Richmond*); (2) that the right of access must "play a particularly significant role" in the operation at issue and of the government in its entirety (*Globe*); (3) but the press still may fail if the government can show that "denial is necessitated by a compelling governmental interest and is narrowly tailored to serve that interest" (*Globe*). Silverberg and Frenznick diverge in their conclusions.

Silverberg (1991) argues that there is no First Amendment right to battlefield access. He argues that the public has never had a right to battlefield access, and that military activity is not a public forum due to the "historically unquestioned power of [an installation's] commanding officer summarily to exclude civilians from his area of command (*Greer v. Spock*, 1976). Frenznick does not include the *Greer* decision in his reasoning and concludes that since the press often represents the public (*Cox Broadcasting Corp. v. Cohn*, 1975), there is a First Amendment right of access to battlefields.

They continue to diverge at the test's second step. Silverberg (1991) argues that the military's role is to ensure the success of their mission, and that unless the media takes up weapons in battle, they cannot contribute to mission success, but can quite possibly contribute to mission failure. Frenznick (1992) argues that the military depends on public support and tax dollars. He also claims the military uses the media to influence public opinion and acceptance of its policies; thus, in his view, the media plays a significant role in military functions.

33

Both differ at the third step as well. Silverberg (1991) argues that the military has a compelling interest in the success of its mission, and that since the courts have "traditionally...been reluctant to intrude upon the authority of the Executive in military and national security affairs" (p. 174), the military commander's decision may well be final. Frenznick (1992) modifies the test in U.S. v. Chagra (1983) to test the constitutionality of battlefield access. To deny access, his three-part test requires the military to prove (1) national security will suffer if access is allowed; (2) alternatives to denying access cannot adequately protect national security, and (3) denial of access will effectively protect national security.

The U.S. government has clearly learned from its attempt to deny access in Grenada that outright exclusion is neither desirable nor wise; however, even Frenznick (1992) concedes that pooling does not always violate his First Amendment right of access argument. Silverberg (1991) stipulates that pools are quite legal, but based on the experience following the Grenada invasion, both the military and the public are better served in the long "un by allowing access as much as is feasible.

Chapter Three: Methodology

Research Question and Subquestions

The research question is: Does press pool coverage of U.S. military operations provide credible coverage for newspapers? In a mail survey survey of the managing editors of the top 200 U.S. daily newspapers, (as defined by circulation) answers were sought through an analysis of their attitudes on questions regarding press pool access, censorship and credibility. Due to strong negative media reactions toward press pools, it was hypothesized that managing editors will have strong negative attitudes towards scenarios involving access restrictions and censorship; the null hypothesis is that managing editors would display neutral attitudes towards these scenarios. It was hypothesized that managing editors are likely to have attitudes favoring the level of credibility of coverage; hence, the null hypothesis was that managing editors would express neutral attitudes towards the level of credibility of Gulf War coverage.

Four subquestions were explored; the first uses the variable of fighting versus non-fighting as an impetus to coverage in a paired analysis. These scenarios replicated conditions in the two phases of the Gulf War: Operations Desert Shield (when fighting was not happening) and Desert Storm (when fighting was underway.) It was hypothesized that since conflict is a prime factor in the newsworthiness of a story, managing editors would more readily accept delays <u>and</u> would be less

35

likely to keep their reporters waiting to cover stories than if fighting were underway. Expressing the null hypotheses, managing editors would (1) express neutral attitudes toward the acceptance of delays, and (2) express neutral attitudes toward keeping their reporters waiting to cover battles.

A secondary factor in the "reporter waiting" decision-process is the cost-productivity tradeoff involved; it was thus hypothesized that newspapers with smaller circulations, which comparatively lack the fiscal and manpower resources of their larger brethren, would recall their reporters sooner than larger newspapers. Comparing the response between quartiles on this question was used to yield answers.

The second subquestion concerned chain-affiliated newspapers. Since chain members often share national stories, these chains often mimic traditional newsgathering organizations such as the Associated Press or United Press International by providing national stories to chain members. Managing editors will be asked to identify if "their" newspaper is a chain member; if so, they will be asked if a chain reporter's pool coverage would be acceptable in lieu of coverage from a staff reporter from their newspaper. It was hypothesized that the initial reaction would be negative; however, particularly if the newspaper is a small one, the cost-productivity factor might later alter their acceptance. Again using paired fighting/non-fighting scenarios, managing editors were be asked if and how long they would delay recall of their reporter.

The third subquestion addressed a possible source of personal bias.

36

Several demographic questions asked for information on respondents' military service, if any; respondents with military service were identified and analyzed versus those without service experience. It was hypothesized that positive and negative motivational factors might be operating in those with military service; positive factors include a tendency to more readily accept restrictions due to their understanding of military systems, and these respondents might also be more likely to favorably identify with the military due to their experiences. The reverse of the last factor is also true: former servicemembers might be less likely to identify with the military due to negative experiences. The null hypothesis for this question is that managing editors with prior military service would show no significant differences than their colleagues without military service.

The fourth subquestion analyzed assertions made regarding support at various levels of the military's pool apparatus. It was asserted that the military, particularly among senior officers and policymakers, distrusted the media; the Joint Information Bureau was also criticized, while field personnel were seen in a more favorable light. Managing editors were asked to assess military/governmental people in three categories: press escorts, JIB personnel and policymakers, with respect to their capability and cooperation. It was hypothesized that managing editors would display highly negative attitudes toward JIB personnel and policymakers, while registering more favorable but still negative attitudes toward press escorts. The null hypothesis is that managing editors would display neutral attitudes toward all categories.

37

Data Collection and Recording

<u>Methods</u>

Data was collected through a self-administered mail survey of the managing editors of the 200 largest circulation U.S. daily newspapers. newspapers. Follow-up mailings were sent one week after the initial mailing, with a second follow-up one week after the first follow-up mailing. Follow-ups are suggested to improve response; for example, Parton (1950) and Wimmer and Dominick (1987) cite a 10-20% increase in response by using follow-ups. Due to the increased time lapse between the first and second follow-up mailings, a smaller yield was expected from the second follow-up.

A pilot study (Appendix B) surveyed the managing editors of the 201-250th largest newspapers, along with a comments sheet for their input. While not of the main survey group, these editor's responses should be valid, as one of the assumptions of this study is that attitudes of a representative subset are representative of the population. This also avoids the problem of pretest sensitization in the main survey sample (Wimmer & Dominick, 1987).

Population

The study's sample was the managing editors of the top 200 U.S. daily newspapers, as determined by circulation in the American Newspaper Markets, Inc., *Circulation '91* (1990) listing (Appendix C). These newspapers form a large subset -- 200 of the 264 (*Editor and Publisher Yearbook*, 1990) daily newspapers with a circulation in excess of 50,000 -- of all U.S. newspapers. Managing editors were selected as

38

the individuals most likely to make decisions regarding the utilization of their staff and to have an overall grasp of their organization's philosophy and operations. Names and addresses (Appendix D) were found by cross-referencing the *Editor and Publisher Yearbook*, providing a relatively current and complete list. In cross-referencing the *Circulation '91* list, three newspapers were not found. They are: *Portland This Week, Miami El Nuevo Herald*, and the *Los Angeles Daily Breeze*. However, three major newspapers were excluded from the *Circulation '91* list: the *Wall Street Journal, USA Today*, and the *Christian Science Monitor*. The three missing newspapers were inserted into the list at their proper points.

Instrument

The instrument used was a self-administered mail survey. The questionnaire (Appendix E) was printed in four blocks of 50, using a different color paper stock per block to stratify the respondents into four segments (e.g., the first through 49th, 50th through 99th, 100th through 149th and 150th through 200th.) While maintaining respondent anonymity, this system was used to examine the question of whether chain-supplied stories would be acceptable to the smallest-circulation newspapers (e.g., those in the fourth strata). This question was tested by cross-tabulating the fourth strata against the others for those questions on chain acceptance. Because these newspapers are the smallest of the set, it was assumed that their responses were more influenced by financial considerations than the others. If so, this influence might, in turn, affect their decision to accept a chain report in lieu of their own coverage.

Instrument Design.

Questionnaire design was modeled on Dillman's (1978) Total Design Method (TDM), which he cites as producing response rates as high as 75%. Perhaps as important as the possible return rate, however, is his thorough, step-by-step methodology, including a theoretical background, question wording, questionnaire design, scheduling, and numerous in-text examples of various types.

Based on the theory of social exchange, Dillman identifies three desirable factors in obtaining response: minimal cost to the respondent, maximal reward and trust that the reward will be established. (Crosby, et al. (1989) provide an excellent precis of Dillman's method.)

Costs are defined as the respondent's time and effort in completing a survey; Dillman recommends minimizing costs by making the task appear brief, and eliminating embarrassment or direct monetary costs. This is accomplished through clear and simple questionnaire design, anonymous or confidential returns, and by providing prepaid return envelopes. In this research, the pretest survey was redesigned to create a more visually appealing item (cf Appendices B and E); anonymity was guaranteed, and prepaid return envelopes were provided.

Rewards include showing positive regard for and verbal appreciation to the respondent, using a consulting approach, and making the questionnaire interesting. These goals are met by specific wording of the cover letter and careful selection of respondents to ensure they

would be interested in the questionnaire's topic. Judging from the amount and intensity of anti-pool commentary, it is assumed that managing editors would be interested in the topic; the cover letter (Appendix E) and other letters were modeled on the examples Dillman provides. in the fifth chapter of his book. Dillman suggests making a further reward offer: furnishing a copy of the completed study to interested respondents. Dillman claims this demonstrates social utility for the respondent; this offer was made to survey respondents.

Dillman (1978) recommends building trust by providing a token of appreciation and identifying with an organization of known legitimacy. Dillman suggests enclosing a pen as a token; however, due to mail handling and possible ink smearing from broken pens, this approach was omitted. Identification with a organization of known legitimacy was accomplished by using Arizona State University letterhead and envelopes.

Dillman (1978) suggests a fourth technique: the veiled threat. This rather grandiose-sounding item is in fact nothing more than a paragraph in the cover letter encouraging respondents to complete and mail the questionnaire quickly to avoid follow-up mailings. To encourage frank responses, anonymity was promised; a postcard bearing an identification number (Appendix F) and offer to send a copy of the completed study was included with the first two mailings to allow removal of respondents from the mailing list.

Response Rate

Response rate is of interest to researchers because low response rates bring the problem of response bias and the consequent inability

to generalize to the population (Babbie, 1990). Exactly what constitutes an "adequate" response rate, however, varies. Early studies (cf Andreason, 1970) show large response rates, normally above 50%; others using Dillman's TDM ranged between 75%-50%. Later studies, however, find response rates dipping well below 50%. For example, in ' their study of 93 journal articles, Yu and Cooper (1983) cite 47% as the average response rate; Heberlein and Baumgartner's 1981 study encompassing 13 studies found an average of 42%, and McCrohan and Lowe's 1981 study averaged 32% over four studies.

From the above review, it can be seen that response rates are generally dropping, although those involving professional populations or using Dillman's TDM demonstrated higher-than-average return rates. As outlined below, a number of response-enhancing factors were incorporated into survey design and administration; however, a key initial decision -- to canvass all 200 managing editors -- was made to provide a high initial "n." This entailed higher copy and postage costs than a random stratified survey, but offered a higher potential rate of return; a target response rate around 50% was anticipated.

Other researchers have identified factors increasing response rates; in his analysis of 12 studies, Linsky (1975) cites one or more followups, pre-contact, the use of stamped versus metered or business-reply envelopes, a small cash reward and university auspices to increase response. In their analysis of 93 journal articles, Yu and Cooper (1983) suggest personalizing communications; Fox, et al. (1988) recommend using light green paper stock to improve response.

Follow-up timing and the number of follow-ups has attracted some attention. Heberlein and Baumgartner (1978) found that the first follow-up was most effective, while the second was less effective; successive follow-ups were only marginally effective. This study used two follow-ups, the first containing a duplicate questionnaire; most studies (cf Crosby, et al. (1989)) show the majority of response to the first mailing, with the second mailing generating the lion's share of further responses. On a cost-benefit basis, this study's third mailing was of the postcard-reminder type (Appendix G). Postage combinations have received a great deal of attention (cf Heberlein and Baumgartner, 1978; Yu and Cooper, 1983); at worst, most combinations seem to cause minor, if any difference in return rate; this study used a stamped, university outgoing/business-reply return combination to minimize costs while establishing university auspices upon respondent's receipt.

Personalization of envelopes and letters has also received great scrutiny (cf Carpenter, 1974; Kerin, 1974; Neider and Sugrue, 1983; Wunder and Wynn, 1988). Again, most combinations seem to make little if any difference; for simplicity's sake, this study used letter-quality computer-generated labels for envelopes and individually-addressed letters.

The use of colored paper stock was critical to this study, as the promise of anonymity forced an alternate means of identification for the planned quartile analysis. Overall, Fox, et al.'s (1988) meta-analysis of 82 studies found that color at best only marginally increases response; however, it may be reasonably inferred that barring

aesthetically unpleasant colors, color does not retard response. Yellow, white, beige and light gray paper stock was thus used for the questionnaires.

Paper size seems to be of little concern; this study used 11 1/2by 17-inch pages printed double-sided and folded to an 8 1/2- by 11-inch booklet. This departs from Dillman's (1978) recommendation of a slightly smaller (8 1/2- by 12 1/4-inch) booklet; however, this stems from the desire to keep mailing weight under the minimum (1 oz.) first-class postage limit and still fit standard envelopes. Neither factor was a problem in this study. Dillman recommends questionnaires to be less than 11 pages long; this study's questionnaire was eight pages. Like many questionnaires, this questionnaire was precoded; Stevens (1974) found no significant difference between precoded and uncoded questionnaires.

<u>Schedule</u>

Dillman (1978) recommends specific mailings at prescribed intervals. The first mailing should go out early in the week; this study's first mailing was mailed Sunday, March 8th. Dillman's second mailing, a postcard reminder, is to go out two weeks later; this study substituted a duplicate questionnaire/cover letter, based on Heberlein and Baumgartner's (1981) study results. This mailing was sent March 15th. This study's questionnaires were thus timed to arrive during the first two weeks of the survey period, with return during the first three weeks. Dillman's second follow-up, a duplicate questionnaire/cover letter, is timed to go out three weeks after the initial mailing; for

cost/benefit reasons, this study substituted a postcard follow-up, which was sent March 26th.

Dillman recommends a third follow-up, consisting of a duplicate questionnaire/cover letter, to be sent via certified mail seven weeks after the first. Due to time and fiscal constraints, this follow-up was omitted.

Definitions

To clarify terms used in the text, as well as to specify those terms defined by the author, the following definitions are included.

1. Access problems: Problems in transporting, supplying and handling pool members and their output, Problems ranged from transmission of print copy (Garneau, 1987a) to videotape transport (Pyle, 1988) to more troublesome problems, such as getting to the action (Cloud, 1990; Elson, 1990; Garneau, 1987c; Sheahan, 1988).

2. Area of operations: The area in which U.S. military activity takes place.

3. Attitudes: The term used to refer to responses to scales used in the survey; attitudes represent a preconceived response to certain stimuli in a given situation.

4. Attitudinal problems: Difficulties created by the military's and media's attitudes and consequent perceptions of the other; while largely attributed as a "legacy of Vietnam," (Sarkesian, 1987) other factors exist (Halloran, 1991; Trainor, 1991).

45

5. Censorship: A formal (e.g., through legal action) or informal (e.g., through voluntary withholding or persuasion to withhold) means of information control (Gibson, 1985).

6. Chain ownership: Ownership of multiple newspapers by one corporation or news entity (Charnley & Charnley, 1979).

7. Chain reporter: A reporter working for a news chain.

8. Credibility: The qualities of coverage that provide the public with a basis for accepting that coverage as an accurate reflection of reality. These qualities include integrity and capability, (Lipset & Schneider, 1983) trustworthiness and accuracy, (Gaziano & McGrath, 1986) and span and believability of coverage (Robinson & Kohut, 1988).

9. Contingency operation: A U.S. military conflict of limited duration and size, such as Operation Just Cause (the Panama invasion of 1989-90). In conflicts of larger scope, such as Operations Desert Shield/Desert Storm, press contingents are allowed to grow larger and while press pools remain in use, they are not the sole source of information availability.

10. Gulf War: The time period August 6, 1990 to March 4, 1991, encompassing operations Desert Shield and Desert Storm. During this time, U.S. forces in Saudi Arabia and other allied forces prepared for war with Iraqi forces, (Operation Desert Shield, Aug. 6, 1990 - Jan. 15, 1991) and later delivered air and ground attacks against Iraqi forces in occupied Kuwait and Iraq (Operation Desert Storm, Jan. 16 -March 4, 1991).

11. Logistical problems: Difficulties in transporting, supplying and handling pool members and their output.

12. Media: Used as an all-purpose term to encompass all newsgathering organizations.

13. National Security Considerations: The term used to justify the withholding of various items of military information; such information might prove damaging if released indiscriminately.

14. Operational problems: Difficulties in operating the pools, including military field review of copy.

15. Press pool: A term used to describe a small group (6-17) of press members, representing the print and broadcast media, which accompany the U.S. military during contingency operations to cover their activity.

16. Prior restraint: As defined by Gillmor, et al, (1990) a type of press censorship which requires a reporter to submit copy to a government official for review before publication is allowed.

17. "Right to Know": An extension of First Amendment rights which allows the press to act as the public's representatives in obtaining information, chiefly from government (Silverberg, 1991).

18. Staff reporter: A reporter from a specific newspaper.

Limitations, Delimitations and Assumptions

Limitations include several different factors. Since this study utilizes a mail survey, the limitations of that method -- slow delivery and return speed, lost or misplaced mail, the generally low return rate and consequent question of validity, self-induced bias of respondents

47

and the uncertainty of exactly who completes the survey -- are inherent (Wimmer & Dominick, 1987). The author planned multiple follow-up mailings, which was the only factor which the researcher could adjust.

Other limitations are inherent in the population. It is not random, which introduces bias; however, the sample is assumed to be representative and well-defined. Since the newspapers surveyed are the largest of their universe -- all daily newspapers in excess of 50,000 circulation -- it is additionally assumed that they set the professional standards of the population. It is assumed that these newspapers are most affected by the limitations of press pools, since they possess the resources to send reporters to obtain coverage.

Limitations inherent in attitudinal surveys include the problem that behavior may not be inferred from attitudes measured, nor that causation may be implied from measurement correlation (Oppenheimer, 1966.) Face validity (Wimmer & Dominick, 1987) thus remains a necessary assumption. Additionally, while survey bias may be mitigated through pilot studies, a margin of error may remain. It is further assumed that attitudes regarding press pools are measurable and that the survey instrument, in its final form, is valid. This study conforms to the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association (APA), third edition, style requirements.

Chapter Four: Findings

Pretest

The pretest was conducted February 14 - March 6, 1992. The survey frame was based on circulation figures (see Appendix C), and were the 201st through the 250th members of the list. As outlined earlier, the main survey design stratified the main survey frame, (e.g., newspapers with a daily circulation in excess of 50,000) with 50 members in each quartile. The pretest used the "next" 50 newspapers to avoid pretest sensitization in the main survey set and to pretest the questions. Response rate (n=7) was low, accounting for 14% of the sample; however, total returns after the March 6 cutoff point reached 28%, which closely mirrored the main survey's response rate.

An analysis of the pretest is probably not significant and is omitted here. In terms of testing the questions, it is worth noting that none of the seven respondents reported problems understanding or completing the pretest questions. Means of answers to the Likert scale questions fluctuated between one and five, with standard deviations ranging from approximately 0.5 to 2.0, indicating variability of answers and limited validation of the question set.

Main Survey

Administration and Return Tracking

The main survey was conducted March 8 - April 6, 1992. The first mailing was sent March 9th. The first follow-up mailing was sent March 16th, and the second follow-up was sent March 27th. Questionnaire return rate is summarized at Table 1. The overall return rate was

Table 1: <u>Questionnaire Response Rate</u>

	Percent Received
Week 1 (March 9-16)	7%
Week 2	28%
Week 3	38%
Week 4	28%
Total	101%
	(n=58)

low (n=64); after excluding ineligible returns and those who declined to participate, usable n=58. Return of the postcard enclosed with surveys (see p. 40) tallied closely with the survey's return rate. Sixty-one postcards were received.

Return rate

Return rate, 29% (n=58) was lower than the hoped-for 50%. This return rate is, however, consistent with the trend of generally decreasing response rates (see p. 41). To address the consequent question of generalizability, attempts were made to locate demographic data on managing editors for comparison with the demographic data gathered. A literature search was fruitless, as was a review of the Associated Press Managing Editors (APME) Redbook (1989).

A call to APME headquarters (1992) in New York was not helpful; their response was that the idea of gathering demographics on members had "not come up." A call to the offices of the American Society of

50

Newspaper Editors produced a reference to their (1989) The Changing Faces of the Newsroom. The demographic data in this book, however, is based on a composite survey of all newsroom personnel: news executives, editors, reporters, photographers, etc. These demographics were not broken down into the subcategories listed above, rendering that data useless for comparison here. In summary, generalizability of this study to all managing editors may be limited, due to the small response size and consequent question of validity.

Dataset Verification

To check for errors in data transcription from the surveys to the computer dataset, 25% of the surveys (n=15) were randomly selected. The edge-coded surveys were manually checked against the computer dataset on-line; no errors were found.

Findings

Research Question One.

The overall research question was: Did press pool coverage of the Gulf War provide credible coverage for newspapers? A variety of questions were used to address this topic.

First, editors were asked to rate the credibility of coverage. It was hypothesized that editors would give coverage credibility high marks; results are shown at Table 2.

These results show that managing editors had a favorable opinion of coverage, with 59% issuing either a favorable or strongly favorable rating. Interestingly, over one-quarter (28%) of respondents expressed

51

Table 2: Credibility of Coverage

Assessment	Percentage
Strongly Agree	7%
Agree	52%
Neutral	14%
Disagree	28%
Strongly Disagree	6
Total	101%
	(n=58)

Question read as follows: "Finally, how would you rate the overall accuracy and credibility of Gulf War coverage? Please check the block which most closely indicates the level of your agreement/approval:"

a negative response. This negative response could be explained by a lingering resentment of pool restrictions.

Next, an open-ended question was used to survey editors' opinions of press pool coverage. The hypothesis was that editors would express strongly negative opinions toward pooling. Results are tabulated at Table 3 (p. 52).

Overall, opinions were strongly negative, with 62% of those responding expressing a negative opinion. Mixed opinions were expressed by 28% of those responding, while 5% reported no problems.

Pies Pools

52

Table 3: Opinions of Press Pools

Assessment	Percentage
Unacceptably Restricted Coverage	21%
Over-controlled the Press	21%
Other Negative	21%
Necessary but Too Many Problems	10%
Necessary but Overcontrolled Press	9%
Useful but Too Limiting	3%
Other Mixed	5%
No Problems	5%
No Opinion	<u>_5</u> %
Total	100%
	(n=58)

Questions evaluated here will be discussed in the conclusions section of this study. Due to the low response rate of this study's survey, the conclusions reached will have a limited generalizability. The conclusions will, however, provide a basis for discussion.

Research Question Two.

The second research question was: Does fighting create more of an impetus to coverage than non-fighting? It was hypothesized that since conflict is a prime factor in a story's newsworthiness, respondents would be less inclined to accept delays <u>and</u> would be less likely to keep their pool reporters waiting if fighting were underway than if not.

53

A paired design was used to test the hypothesis. Scenarios were cast in pool and non-pool situations, creating a four-celled design.

Pool Scenario

In these scenarios (Questions 2 and 3, Appendix E), the editor's reporter is in a pool awaiting access to front-line units. The dependent variable is the factor of fighting versus non-fighting. Editors were asked to indicate their level of agreement toward accepting a given period as a reasonable period of delay. Since fighting was hypothesized to decrease acceptance of delays, the delay period in the nonfighting scenario where disapproval reached 50% or higher was selected as the "cut" level, since disapproval in the fighting scenario should have been even higher at that level. Responses at the paired level (a 4-7 day delay) are summarized at Table 4.

Table 4: Fighting v. Non-fighting: Pool scenarios*

Fighting (4-7 day wait) Non-fighting (4-7 day wait) Assessment Percent Percent Strongly agree 7% 9% 14% 10% Agree Neutral 14% 2% 29% 21% Disagree Strongly Disagree 58% Total 100% 100% (n=57) (n=57)

*p<.05 significance determined by t-test.

54

Table 4: Text of Questions

Questions read as follows: (Fighting scenario) "Although fighting has begun, the military has again warned that access to front-line units may be delayed for an indefinite period. Your reporter is part of a pool; you have the option to have your reporter wait or to recall your reporter home. For each of the periods listed below, please check the category which most closely indicates your level or agreement/approval regarding that period as a reasonable period of delay."

(Non-fighting scenario) "In this scenario, fighting has not begun. The military has warned that access to front-line units may be delayed for an indefinite period. Your reporter is part of a pool; you have the option to have your reporter wait or to recall your reporter home. for each of the periods listed below, please check the category which most closely indicates your level or agreement/approval regarding that period as a reasonable period of delay."

Disapproval in the fighting scenario was 79%; disapproval in the non-fighting scenario was 65%. A t-test was used to determine significance; the difference between the scenarios was significant at the .05 level.

Non-pool Scenario

In these scenarios, the editor's reporter is not in a pool, but is waiting for access at an area behind the lines. Since these reporters are not as likely to gain access to front-line activity as their pool counterparts, it was hypothesized that while editors would display a greater level of dislike in the fighting versus the non-fighting scenario, the difference would not be as pronounced. In terms of selecting the "cut" level, the reasoning is the same as above. The "cut" level in this scenario was also found at the 4-7 day delay level. Responses are summarized at Table 5.

	Fighting (4-7 day wait)	Non-fighting (4-7 day wait)
Assessment	Percent	Percent
Strongly agree	7%	2%
Agree	12%	21%
Neutral	7%	9%
Disagree	22%	28%
Strongly Disagree	e <u>51%</u>	40%
Total	99%	100%
	(n=57)	(n=57)

Table 5: Fighting v. Non-fighting -- Non-pool scenarios

Table 5: Text of Questions

Questions read as follows: (Fighting scenario) "In this scenario, your reporter is not part of a pool, but is waiting with other reporters at a central location for access to front-line units. Fighting is underway. Your option is to have your reporter remain in place or to recall him/her. For the period given below, please check the block which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval regarding that period as a reasonable period of delay:"

(table continues)

(Non-fighting scenario) "In this scenario, assume your reporter is not part of a pool, but is instead waiting with other reporters at a central location for access to front-line units. Fighting has not begun. Your option is to have your reporter remain in place or to recall him/her. For the period given below, please check the block which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval regarding that period as a reasonable period of delay:"

Disapproval in the fighting scenario was 73%; disapproval in the non-fighting scenario was 68%. The t-test difference between these scenarios was not significant at the .05 level. This does bear out the direction of the hypothesis that in a non-pool situation, editors would not be as sensitive to the dependent variable. Because reporters in these scenarios would not have the likelihood of access that pool reporters would, the comparative variance in these scenarios could reasonably be expected to be less than the variance in pool scenarios.

Research Question Three.

The third question tested was: Would editors of smaller newspapers (i.e., those in the fourth quartile) be more likely to recall their reporters than their counterparts at larger newspapers? It was hypothesized that cost-productivity concerns would affect the smaller newspapers more than the larger newspapers. Editors of smaller newspapers would thus be more likely to call their people sooner.

The main survey design used a quartile design (i.e., four groups of fifty respondents in decreasing order of circulation). Questionnaires

57

were printed in sets of 50 on four different-colored paper stocks, with a specific color for each quartile. This approach provided a means to identify respondents' appropriate quartile while maintaining anonymity. This color, or group, variable was recoded to differentiate between the two circulation groups (i.e., groups 1-3 and group 4). The first through third sets were recoded into one set. This composite group was then tested against the fourth group using t-tests to determine if any significant differences existed in recall scenarios; none were found.

Research Question Four.

This question addressed chain-affiliated newspapers. Would editors of smaller newspapers, owing to the cost-productivity factor, recall their reporter in lieu of stories generated by reporters from a larger newspaper affiliated with the same chain? In essence, this would establish the chain as a smaller version of news services a'la the Associated Press or United Press International. It was hypothesized that although initial reaction to this idea would be negative, it would become more attractive as time progressed, particularly if fighting did not occur.

This hypothesis was tested by posing paired fighting and non-fighting scenarios. Respondents were asked to identify their chain affiliation, if any. If affirmative, they were asked if they would recall their reporter, providing that they could use stories from their chain. Chi-square statistics were used to test this hypothesis. Responses are summarized at Tables 6 and 7.

Table 6: Chain Affiliation Questions Non-fighting Scenario			
		Groups 1-3	Group 4
Yes		12	9
X ² :.03	D.F.: 1	p: .86	Min E.F.: 8.22
Acceptable lengt	h(days)	Groups 1-3(Percent)	Group 4(Percent)
1		0%	22%
2		0%	11%
3		22%	33%
4		11%	0%
5		33%	0%
7		33%	11%
8		0%	11%
10		0%	11%
Totals		99%	99%
		(n=9)	(n=9)
X ² : 10.2	D.F.: 7	p: .18	Min E.F.: .50

Table 6: Text of Questions

Questions read as follows: "In this scenario, fighting has not started. If your newspaper is a chain member, would you recall your reporter if another reporter from your chain was in the pool and your newspaper could use that reporter's stories? (Circle One) YES / NO

(Number of days) "If so, how many days would you wait until recalling your reporter? _____"

59

Table 7: Chain Affiliation Questions Fighting Scenario			
	Groups	5 1-3	Group 4
Yes	7	,	9
X ² : .81	D.F.: 1	p: .37	Min E.F.: 7.04
Acceptable lengt	h(days) Groups	s 1-3 (Percent)	Group 4 (Percent)
1		29%	22%
3		14%	33%
5		0%	11%
7		14%	11%
8		14%	11%
10		29%	<u>_11%</u>
Total		100%	100%
		(n=7)	(n=9)
X ² : 2.11	D.F.: 5	p: .83	Min E.F.:0.44

Table 7: Text of Questions:

Questions read as follows: "In this scenario, fighting has begun. If your newspaper is a chain member, would you recall your reporter if another reporter from your chain was in the pool and your newspaper could use that reporter's stories? (Circle One) YES / NO

(Number of days) "If so, how many days would you wait until recalling your reporter? _____"

60

Unfortunately, there simply were not enough affirmative responses in either scenario to evaluate the hypothesis, nor was n large enough to even determine direction. In terms of the decision to accept the chain-supplied report, the chi-square was less than 1 in either case.

Research Question Five.

This question addresses a possible source of bias: Would the answers from respondents with prior military service differ from the answers of their colleagues without? Several of the demographic questions used focused on the respondent's military service, if any; respondents with prior military service were compared versus those without. Positive and negative motivational factors may be present in prior service respondents.

These respondents may more readily accept restrictions due to their understanding of the military, or may identify with the military due to favorable experiences. Alternatively, respondents with military service may react negatively to the military due to unfavorable experiences.

This question was tested by crosstabbing all variables against the service/non-service variable. Significant differences were found over six variables, four of which are demographic: Age, gender, time in the profession and time as the managing editor of their newspaper. The remaining two variables deal with censoring stories regarding troop movements.

The first of the troop movement situations deals with a matter of degree. Respondents were asked for their level of agreement/approval

61

to delaying publication of a story concerning a major change in U.S. troop strength. Results are summarized at Table 8.

Table 8: Prior Service/Non-service Differences*		
Major Troop Strength Change		
	Prior Service(Percent)	Non-service(Percent)
Strongly Agree	24%	8%
Agree	21%	11%
Neutral	11%	8%
Disagree	17%	31%
Strongly Disagree	_27%	41%
Totals	100%	99%
	(n= 29)	(n=27)

*p<.05 significance determined by t-test.

Table 8: Text of Question.

Question read as follows: "Pre-established "ground rules" allow press escorts to review a reporter's story before release to resolve disputes over details of a sensitive nature. Again, please check the block which most closely indicates <u>your level of agreement/ approval to</u> <u>censoring a story on</u>:"

The frequencies show that the prior service group is evenly split (45%/44%) between the agreement/disagreement sides of the Likert scale. Comparatively, non-service respondents clearly disagree (72%) with censoring the story. There are many possible explanations.

Age could provide one explanation: as we shall see, prior-service respondents were significantly older than their non-service colleagues. If one accepts the idea that individuals generally grow more conservative as they age, the split in the prior-service group may reflect an internal conflict between journalistic values and an increasingly conservative mindset.

Another explanation could be that ex-servicemen identify with military personnel to a greater degree than do non-servicemen. This identification factor may in turn lead to a greater consideration for troop safety among prior-service respondents.

The other troop movement scenario involves a time factor. This question was posed as agreement to withholding (censoring) a story on troop movements for six hours. Results are summarized at Table 9.

Table 9: Prior Service/Non-service Differences*

Delay Troop Movement Story for 6 Hours

	Prior Service(Percent)	Non-service(Percent)
Strongly Agree	21%	15%
Agree	55%	30%
Neutral	21%	22%
Disagree	0%	22%
Strongly Disagree	3%	<u>_11%</u>
Totals	100%	100%
	(n= 29)	(n=27)

*p<.05 significance determined by t-test.

(table continues)

Table 9: Text of Question.

Question read as follows: "The ground rules include the option to delay publication of a story for an indefinite period to resolve disputed passages. Fighting is underway; please check the block which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval regarding delaying publication of a story for the indicated period:"

Over three-fourths (76%) of the prior service group agreed to hold this story for six hours, compared to 45% of the non-service respondents. Again, concern for troop safety and identification with those troops due to service experiences is one explanation. Another explanation could be linked to age. Charnley and Charnley (1979) link the growth of the "adversarial journalism" norm with the media's experience in Vietnam. This adversarial attitude may be present in younger respondents to a greater degree than in older respondents.

Age is significantly different between the groups; results are shown at Table 10 (see p. 64). This difference can be explained several different ways.

One explanation deals with the use of compulsory service ("the drait") in the WW II / Korean War era through the Vietnam era (circa 1973). During this period, the height of the Cold War, military manpower requirements were significant. For example, those in the age 57-69 notch would have been subject to the WW II or Korean War draft. Only one (4%) of the non-service respondents fell into this notch, versus eight (28%) of the prior-service respondents.

Table 10: Prior Service/Non-service Differences*

Age

	Prior Service(Percent)	Non-service(Percent)
29-38	08	21%
39-56	72%	75%
57-65	_28%_	48
Totals	100%	100%
	(n=29)	(n=28)

*p<.05 significance determined by t-test.

<u>Note</u>. Age categories were unevenly collapsed to show distribution peaks.

Conversely, individuals younger than 39 -- six (21%) of the non-service respondents to none of the prior service respondents -- were never eligible for the Vietnam draft, and as such would have served only as volunteers. Two other factors are at work in the younger group: the "baby boomer" generation and the Vietnam-era "lottery" draft.

The post-WW II "baby boomer" generation was much larger than the "pre-boomer" generation, making a <u>numerically larger</u> group of "boomers" eligible for the draft than "pre-boomers." At the same time, the Vietnam-era "lottery" draft system selected a <u>smaller percentage</u> of eligible draftees than the WW II and Korean War drafts, as manpower requirements were not as pressing in Vietnam as they were in the WW II and Korean War eras. In combination, these two factors made it highly likely that boomers had far better odds of not being drafted than did
the pre-boomers. Educational deferments were also issued during the the Vietnam-era draft; although educational status was not surveyed in this group, it is possible that some younger respondents were in college during their draft-eligible years.

Gender is summarized at Table 11. All prior-service respondents were male; five (19%) of the non-service respondents were female.

Table 11: <u>Prior Se</u>	rvice/Non-service Difference	ces*
Gender		
	Prior Service(Percent)	Non-service(Percent)
Male	100%	82%
Female	9	19%
Totals	100%	101%
	(n=29)	(n=28)

*p<.05 significance determined by t-test.

Possible explanations include the male-dominated nature of most professions, particularly before the 1970s; another explanation is that the vast majority of military specialties were restricted to males until the 1970s. Of those non-restricted specialties, a majority were in medical or administrative-related fields, neither of which, it can be hazarded, tend to produce journalists in any great numbers.

Years in the profession is summarized at Table 12. While approximately one-third (31%) of prior-service respondents had less than 23 years in newspapering, 79% of non-service respondents were found

Table 12: Prior Service/Non-service Differences*

Years in the Profession

	Prior Service(Percent)	Non-service(Percent)
7-22	31%	79%
23-43	69%	21%
Totals	100%	100%
	(n=29)	(n=28)

*p<.05 significance determined by t-test.

 $\underline{Note}.$ Categories were arbitrarily collapsed to show significant differences.

in this niche. This is likely a function of age; as the managing editor position is reached through experience (among other factors), it is likely that the individuals with more than 20-odd years would either retire or continue in managerial positions.

Years as managing editor is shown at Table 13. While prior-

Table 13: <u>Prior Se</u>	rvice/Non-service Differen	ces*
Years as Managing	Editor	
	Prior Service(Percent)	Non-service(Percent)
1-5	45%	89%
6-26	55%	11%
Totals	100%	100%
	(n=29)	(n=27)

*p<.05 significance determined by t-test.

 $\underline{Note}.$ Categories were arbitrarily collapsed to show significant differences.

service respondents were split roughly equally (45%/55%) between between the categories, the vast majority (89%) of non-service respondents are in the first category. Like years in the profession, this again is likely a function of age.

Research Question Six.

This question expanded research question three -- were there significant differences in answers from the smaller (quartile four) newspapers' editors versus their counterparts at larger newspapers? This question was addressed by crosstabulating the two subgroups -groups one through three versus group four -- against the variables. Significant differences were found in variables 48 through 50.

These variables deal with a censorship scenario in which respondents are asked to indicate their level of agreement to delay publication of a troop movement story to resolve a specified number of sensitive details. Responses are summarized in Tables 14-16 (see pp. 68-69).

Editors of smaller newspapers agreed to delays more readily than did their counterparts at larger newspapers, but the difference decreased inversely to the number of details. In the first scenario (1-3 details), the agreement ratings were 50%/27% between the smaller/ larger groups; in the second scenario (4-7 details), the rating difference dropped to 50%/30%, and in scenario three (8+) details, fell to 55%/43%. The difference at the larger newspapers may be attributable to the "adversarial relationship" response (see research question five above); but as the level of sensitive content and consequent peril to security consideration rises, common sense (and clearer heads) prevail.

Moble 14 Crears 1-3	w Crown A. Dotoilet	<u> </u>
A Few (1-3) Sensitiv	v. Group 4: Details* e Details	
	Groups 1-3(Percent)	Group 4(Percent)
Strongly Agree	0%	20%
Agree	27%	30%
Neutral	11%	15%
Disagree	30%	25%
Strongly Disagree	27%	10%
No Opinion	5%	0%
Totals	100%	100%
	(n=37)	(n=20)
*p<.05 significance	determined by t-test. T	ext of Question at Table 16
Table 15: <u>Groups 1-3</u>	v. Group 4: Details*	, <u></u>
		Group 4(Percent)
Several (4-7) Sensit	ive Details	Group 4(Percent) 15%
Several (4-7) Sensit Strongly Agree	ive Details Groups 1-3(Percent)	
Several (4-7) Sensit Strongly Agree Agree	ive Details Groups 1-3(Percent) O%	15%
Several (4-7) Sensit Strongly Agree Agree Neutral	ive Details Groups 1-3(Percent) O% 30%	15% 35%
Several (4-7) Sensit Strongly Agree Agree Neutral Disagree	ive Details Groups 1-3(Percent) O% 30% 11%	15% 35% 20%
Several (4-7) Sensit Strongly Agree Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree	ive Details Groups 1-3(Percent) O% 30% 11% 24%	15% 35% 20% 20%
Table 15: <u>Groups 1-3</u> Several (4-7) Sensit Strongly Agree Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree No Opinion Totals	ive Details Groups 1-3(Percent) 0% 30% 11% 24% 30%	15% 35% 20% 20% 10%

(n=37)

(n=20)

*p<.05 significance determined by t-test. Text of Question at Table 16.

Table 16: <u>Groups 1-3 v</u>	. Group 4: Details**	
Many (8+) Sensitive De	tails	
	Groups 1-3(Percent)	Group 4(Percent)
Strongly Agree	5%	20%
Agree	38%	35%
Neutral	5%	15%
Disagree	24%	25%
Strongly Disagree	24%	5%
No Opinion	3%	0£
Totals	99%	100%
	(n=37)	(n=20)

**p<.051 significance determined by t-test.

Tables 14-16: Text of Question.

Question read as follows: "In the above scenario [fighting underway] the story is being held to resolve disclosure of a number of sensitive details. Please check the block which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval to delaying publication of a story for the indicated number of details:"

In the analysis of smaller v. larger newspapers, another set of differences were noted (see Tables 17-20). Ratings of escort capability and cooperation were significantly different.

Editors of smaller newspapers rated escort capability higher (21% v. 11%) than their counterparts (see Table 17); similarly, editors at

Table 17: <u>Groups 1-3</u>	v. Group 4: Escorts*	
Escort Capability		
	Groups 1-3(Percent)	Group 4(Percent)
Strongly Agree	0%	5%
Agree	11%	16%
Neutral	14%	36%
Disagree	22%	21%
Strongly Disagree	16%	11%
No Opinion	37%	<u>_118</u>
Totals	100%	100%
	(n=37)	(n=19)

*p<.05 significance determined by t-test. Text of Question at Table 18.

Table 18: Groups 1-3 v. Group 4: Escorts*

Escort Cooperation

-		
	Groups 1-3(Percent)	Group 4(Percent)
Strongly Agree	0%	5%
Agree	8%	16%
Neutral	14%	26%
Disagree	24%	26%
Strongly Disagree	16%	16%
No Opinion	38%	<u>_11%</u>
Totals	100%	100%
	(n=37)	(n=19)

*p<.05 significance determined by t-test. (table continues)

Tables 17-18: Text of Question.

Question read as follows: "In Gulf War press pools, news passed through a series of gatekeepers: press escorts, and, when involved, their Joint Information Bureau (JIB) superiors and government policymakers. Press escorts and JIB superiors varied in capability (the ability to do their jobs) and cooperation (willingness to do those jobs within the ground rules.) Policymakers' roles are also important; because they set the ground rules, their capability and cooperation with the media "set the stage" for news coverage. Please check the block which most closely indicates your assessment of the overall performance of the indicated group with respect to the attribute listed:"

smaller newspapers rated escort cooperation higher (21% v. 8%) than their colleagues (see Table 18). T-tests were significant at the .05 level. This does match the hypothesis that field personnel would receive unfavorable but less negative ratings than the JIB or policymakers. Again, this may reflect an "adversarial relationship" mindset present in larger newspapers.

Similarly, the smaller newspapers demonstrated a more favorable response to the JIB than did their larger counterparts (see Tables 19-20). Smaller newspapers gave the JIB a higher rating (16% v. 5%) on capability and on cooperation (16% v. 0%). T-tests were significant at the .05% level. Again, results may reflect a normative response in larger newspapers due to the adversarial relationship mindset.

JIB Capability		
	Groups 1-3(Percent)	Group 4(Percent)
Strongly Agree	0%	5%
Agree	5%	11%
Neutral	19%	31%
Disagree	22%	21%
Strongly Disagree	14%	21%
No Opinion	40%	11%
Totals	100%	100%
	(n=37)	(n=19)

*p<.05 significance determined by t-test.

Table 20: Groups 1-3 v. Group 4: JIB*

JIB Cooperation

	Groups 1-3(Percent)	Group 4(Percent)
Strongly Agree	0%	5%
Agree	0%	11%
Neutral	16%	31%
Disagree	27%	21%
Strongly Disagree	16%	21%
No Opinion	41%	<u> 118 </u>
Totals	100%	100%
	(n=37)	(n=19)

*p<.05 significance determined by t-test. (table continued)

Tables 19-20: Text of Question.

Question read as follows: "In Gulf War press pools, news passed through a series of gatekeepers: press escorts, and, when involved, their Joint Information Bureau (JIB) superiors and government policymakers. Press escorts and JIB superiors varied in capability (the ability to do their jobs) and cooperation (willingness to do those jobs within the ground rules.) Policymakers' roles are also important; because they set the ground rules, their capability and cooperation with the media "set the stage" for news coverage. Please check the block which most closely indicates your assessment of the overall performance of the indicated group with respect to the attribute listed:"

Research Question Seven.

The final subquestion analyzed assertions made regarding support from various levels of the military/governmental pool hierarchy. It way asserted that the military, particularly among policymakers and senior officials, distrusts the media; the Joint Information Bureau (JIB) was also criticized, but while field personnel were criticized, they were seen in a more favorable light. Managing editors were asked to assess the individuals at each of the three groups regarding their capability (the ability to do their jobs) and cooperation (their willingness to do their jobs within the ground rules). It was hypothesized that although reactions would be predominantly negative to each group, reactions would be more favorable toward field personnel. This last question was: Would respondents rate different the three groups differently?

74

The hypothesis was tested by cross-tabbing each group against the others. Chi-squares were used to determine significance. Frequencies are reported at Table 21; crosstabs and chi-squares are shown at Tables 22-23. Since the number of cells in crosstab tables increase the chi-square statistic (and may cause Type 1 errors), the five agreement-disagreement categories (which would create a 25-cell crosstab) were collapsed to agreement-neutral-disagreement categories (creating a nine-cell crosstab) to minimize this possibility. Missing responses were also omitted in the crosstabs to minimize cell numbers.

Table	21:	Pool	Hierarchy	 Frequencies

Capability	Escorts Percent	JIB Percent	Policymakers Percent
Strongly Agree	2%	2%	2%
Agree	13%	7%	13%
Neutral	21%	23%	24%
Disagree	21%	21%	20%
Strongly Disagree	14%	16%	18%
No Opinion	29%	_31%_	_24%
Totals	100%	100%	100%
	(n=56)	(n=56)	(n= 55)
			(table continued)

_	_	

	Escorts Percent	JIB Percent	Policymakers Percent
Strongly Agree	2%	2%	2%
Agree	11%	2%	2%
Neutral	18%	18%	13%
Disagree	25%	31%	31%
Strongly Disagree	17%	16%	28%
No Opinion	29%	31%	24%
Totals	100%	100%	100%
	(n=56)	(n =56)	(n=55)

Table 21: Pool Hierarchy -- Frequencies

Cooperation

Text of Question shown in Table 23.

In terms of capability, the policymakers and press escorts finished in a dead heat (15%/15% approval rating), but the JIB didn't fare as well, with an approval rating of 9%. In the literature review, the JIB was frequently cited as a problem area for reporters, which may account for the comparatively lower rating. Both crosstabs of the JIB versus the other groups (Table 22) were significant at the .05 level.

Regarding cooperation (Table 21), the findings fit the hypothesis, as the JIB and policymakers tied with a 4% approval rating, compared to the escorts' 13% rating. Both crosstabs of escort cooperation versus the other groups (Table 23) are significant at the .05 level. Although this may not be the sole explanation for the significance, the hypothesis does stand up to examination in this instance.

76

Table 22: Capability -- JIB Versus Other Groups*

JIB Capability v. Escort Capability

Count Exp Val Residual	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	No Opin	Escort		
JIB	4	0	1	0			
Agree	.7	1.1	1.8	1.4			
_	3.3	-1.1	8	-1.4			
	3	7	3	0			
Neutral	1.9	2.8	4.6	3.7			
	1.1	4.2	-1.6	-3.7			
	1	5	15	0			
Disagree	3.0	4.5	7.5	6.0			
_	-2.0	.5	7.5	-6.0			
	0	0	1	16			
No Opin	2.4	3.6	6.1	4.9			
	-2.4	-3.6	-5.1	11.1	L		
X ² : 80.09 D.F.: 9		*p:.00 Min		E.F.: .71			
Cells with E.F. < 5: 13 of 16 (81.3%).							

Count | Agree | Neutral | Disagree | No Opin | Policymaker Exp Val | Residual JIB 3 2 0 0 Agree .7 1.2 1.9 1.2 2.3 .8 ~1.9 -1.2 2 6 5 0 Neutral 1.9 3.1 5.0 3.1 <u>2.9</u> <u>-3.1</u> .0 1 13 3 4 0 Disagree 2.9 4.7 7.6 4.7 1 -.7 5.4 -4.7 0 4 3 13 No Opin 2.5 4.0 6.5 4.0 -2.5 -3.0 -3.5 9.0 X²: 51.93 D.F.: 9 *p: .00 Min E.F.: .73 Cells with E.F. < 5: 14 of 16 (87.56).

JIB Capability v. Policymaker Capability

(table continues).

77

Escort Cooperation v. JIB Cooperation Count Agree | Neutral | Disagree | No Opin JIB Exp Val Residual 2 1 0 Escorts 4 Agree .3 1.3 3.4 2.1 .8 -2.1 -.1 .6 0 6 4 0 Neutral .4 1.8 4.8 3.0 .4 4.2 -.8 -3.0 0 3 19 1 Disagree 4.1 7.0 .8 11.1 .8 7.9 -6.0 -1.1 0 0 0 16 No Opin .6 2.9 7.7 4.9 <u>-7.</u>7 -2.9 .6 11.1 X²: 76.61 D.F.: 9 *p: .00 Min E.F.: .25

Table 23: Cooperation -- Escorts Versus Other Groups*

Cells with E.F. < 5: 13 of 16 (81.3%).

Count Agree | Neutral | Disagree | No Opin | Policymaker Exp Val Residual 1 0 5 Escort 0 Agree .2 .8 3.6 1.4 8 -.8 1.4 -1.4 0 4 6 0 Neutral .4 1.3 6.0 2.4 .4 2.7 .0 -2.4 1 3 19 0 Disagree .8 2.9 13.8 5.4 2 . 1 5.2 -5.4 0 0 3 13 .6 No Opin 2.0 9.6 3.8 .6 9.2 -2.0 -6.6 X²: 51.15 D.F.: 9 *p: .00 Min E.F.: .22

Escort Cooperation v. Policymaker Cooperation

Cells with E.F. < 5: 12 of 16 (75.0%).

(table continues)

Tables 21-23: Text of Question.

Question read as follows: "In Gulf War press pools, news passed through a series of gatekeepers: press escorts, and, when involved, their Joint Information Bureau (JIB) superiors and government policymakers. Press escorts and JIB superiors varied in capability (the ability to do their jobs) and cooperation (willingness to do those jobs within the ground rules.) Policymakers' roles are also important; because they set the ground rules, their capability and cooperation with the media "set the stage" for news coverage. Please check the block which most closely indicates your assessment of the overall performance of the indicated group with respect to the attribute listed:"

There is, however, a problem in the chi-square tests: minimum expected frequencies dip below the minimum level (five) cited by Norusis (1988). Norusis recommends cross-checking the cells with expected frequencies < 5 statistic; if this figure does not surpass the 80% level, the chi-square test is invalid. This problem affects the escort cooperation v. policymaker cooperation test; while the direction clearly matches the other three tests, the cells with E.F. < 5 statistic falls beneath the 80% level and this test is thus invalidated. Once again, the relative lack of response limited analysis in this instance.

<u>Conclusions</u>

The analysis of this study was to result in an approximation of the attitudes of managing editors (MEs) toward the use of press pools in coverage of military contingency operations. Seven research questions

were developed; six were developed in the course of the literature review and questionnaire design, while research question six is an extension of research question three.

The first research question is the overarching question of this study: Did press pool coverage of the Gulf War provide credible coverage for newspapers? MEs were asked this question directly, and, as might be expected, responded favorably. While their overall rating -- 59% of those responding either agreed or strongly agreed that coverage was credible -- was favorable, more than one-quarter (28%) disagreed with the credibility of coverage.

MEs were offered an open-ended question to express their opinion of press pools, and their attitudes were strongly negative. One-fifth (21%) found coverage restrictions unacceptable; another fifth claimed the military over-controlled the press, while still another fifth expressed negative attitudes. Some MEs waxed eloquent over pooling's faults: for example, one respondent's full-page reply likened the experience to a military "Disneyland in the desert." Others characterized pooling as co-opting the media as "part of the war effort;" one said "much of the reporting smacked of cheering for our side rather than hard-nosed reportage." Two respondents chose brevity: "They sucked." Not all responses were negative; 17% ceded the need for some sort of restrictions but felt the pool system went too far. Five percent had no problems. Although the answer to research question one is that press coverage was credible, a majority of those responding gave little credit to press pools as an effective newsgathering method.

Research question two was: Does fighting provided more of an impetus to news coverage than non-fighting? Pool and non-pool scenarios were used to replicate conditions in the Gulf War, using the fighting/ non-fighting condition as the dependent variable. "Cut" levels were set at the time element where more than 50% of respondents would disagree to continue waiting for access in the non-fighting scenario.

Fighting was found to be a statistically significant predictor of impetus at this level, as well as the levels above it; however, the results do indicate a "window" of roughly three days as an acceptable period of delay for more than 50% percent of respondents. While this would probably not prove true in practice (witness the two-day exclusion in Grenada), there is nevertheless evidence to suggest that a brief period of delay in access would be acceptable.

Research question three was based on cost/benefit considerations: Would MEs at smaller newspapers (those in the fourth quartile) recall their reporters sooner than MEs at larger newspapers? No significant differences were found; although the initial direction favored this hypothesis, attitudes past the 4-7 day threshold were inconclusive.

Research question four, again based on cost/benefit considerations, addressed chain-affiliated newspapers: Would MEs at smaller newspapers accept reports from a larger chain-affiliated newspaper in lieu of stories from their own reporter? Although the initial reaction was expected to be negative, the difference was expected to flatten as time passed. Unfortunately, there weren't enough responses to evaluate this question or even its direction.

Research question five yielded significant results. Would MEs with prior military service provide different answers than their nonservice counterparts? This variable was significant in acceptance of security review of a story concerning major troop strength change, and in acceptance of a six-hour delay of a troop movement story. Although a number of explanations were possible, these two questions, in tandem, demonstrate a protectiveness on the part of prior-service MEs.

The prior-service MEs were also significantly different in a number of demographic categories: age, gender, years in the newspaper profession and years as the managing editor of his/her newspaper. While service eligibility, gender, years in the profession and as the ME could all be explained as a function of age, the differences between these two groups, whether due to age or service status, illustrate a definite division of groups. The virtually even division between categories -- 29 prior-service MEs v. 28 non-service MEs -- gives credence to these differences, as the relatively small "n" in this study could cause Type I errors.

Research question six, as noted above, is an extension of research question three: Would MEs at smaller newspapers provide different answers than MEs at larger newspapers? Significant differences were found in attitudes toward publication delays to resolve a specified number of sensitive details. Although differences in the agreement level declined inversely to the number of details, all three were significant. This may indicate a greater willingness among MEs at smaller newspapers to accept delays; MEs at larger newspapers may

82

may initially be predisposed toward an adversarial relationship with governmental bureaucracies, or a combination of the two may be in effect. The direction of responses from both categories change inversely to the number of details involved, which tends to support the latter "combination" hypothesis.

The MES of smaller newspapers also differed from their counterparts in their attitudes toward the three levels -- press escorts, Joint Information Bureau personnel and policymakers -- of government representatives in the press pool process. The MEs at smaller papers gave press escorts higher marks for capability and cooperation vis-a-vis the other government personnel than did their colleagues at larger papers, reflecting the general trend of opinion in the literature review. Surprisingly, the Joint Information Bureau (JIB) personnel also fared better with the "smaller" MEs; whether this reflects a lower level of disenchantment with bureaucracies at this level or a greater level of trust in government is unclear.

Research question seven returns to the press pool hierarchy: Would respondents rate the three groups differently in terms of capability and cooperation? Again, the literature review indicated a negative but relatively favorable attitude toward press escorts.

Not surprisingly, the JIB was rated lowest in terms of capability, which reflected a trend in the literature review. The cooperation ratings supported the hypothesis that press escorts were seen in a more favorable light, which may again reflect the "adversarial relationship" response.

Summary

Press pools have been plagued by problems since their introduction. A review of Gulf War literature revealed problems in three catego-ies: attitudinal, logistical and operational. Attitudinal problems were rooted in a lack of trust between the media and military, setting the stage for conflict. Logistical problems were manifested as copy transport and access problems; access was clearly the more troublesome of the two. Operational problems were largely seen as problems with press escorts, particularly with copy review delays. Two lawsuits filed against the government over pooling were inconclusive.

This study used a self-administered mail survey of managing editors at the 200 largest daily circulation newspapers to address the credibility of Gulf War coverage. Response was low (29%); attempts to find demographic information for comparison purposes was futile.

While MEs found that coverage of the Gulf War was credible, theirs was not a ringing endorsement. While a majority agreed that coverage was credible, nearly one-third disagreed; respondents clearly indicated dissatisfaction with the press pool system.

There were some clear-cut findings. Respondents were willing to accept some delays in coverage, but after four to seven days, a majority of respondents were unwilling to wait any longer. Whether in in a pool or waiting behind the lines, whether fighting was underway or not, the three-day period was the maximum acceptable delay.

A respondent's prior military service clearly affected some answers. While a number of the affected categories -- age, gender, years in the

profession and years as the managing editor -- have age-related explanations, prior-service editors were more concerned about troop safety than their counterparts. These editors favored delaying publication of troop movement stories longer than the non-service editors; unlike their colleagues, these editors were split over censoring major troop movement stories.

Other significant differences were found among managing editors of the smallest-circulation newspapers versus their colleagues at larger newspapers. The editors of smaller newspapers were more inclined to delay publication of troop movement stories than their counterparts; although the difference between these groups declined inversely to the number of details involved, the difference was significant at all three levels surveyed. These smaller editors were also more tolerant of press escorts and Joint Information Bureau superiors than were MEs at larger newspapers.

As expected, MEs gave individuals at all levels of the press pool hierarchy low marks, but the difference in ratings was significant. Press escorts and policymakers were seen as being more capable than JIB personnel, but escorts were seen as more cooperative. Tests of the latter comparison, however, were marred by low response rates. Although the direction of the relationship was clear, the low response rate invalidated the escort v. policymaker comparison.

85

Chapter Five: Postscript

"The more things change, the more they are the same." Alphonse Karr (Oxford Dictionary of Quotations, 1980, p. 288).

Following the cessation of hostilities in the Gulf (March 4, 1991), the media's attention shifted to other matters. The controversy over pooling did not, however, disappear: as mentioned above, the media issued their ad hoc report in July, and also sent a 10-point statement of principles to Defense Secretary Richard "Dick" Cheney.

This statement demanded changes in the way U.S. military operations were to be covered in future conflicts; specifically, the statement demanded open, independent reporting, not press pools, as the standard means of coverage. Additionally, the statement listed requirements abolishing security review, mandating access to all major military units, requiring timely and secure transmission of independentlygathered copy, and limiting the authority of public affairs offices. Limited use of pools would be allowed in the cpening hours -- 24 to 36 -- of a conflict or in areas where open coverage would be "physically impossible" (Gersh, 1992b, p. 24 [Copy at Appendix H]).

Following a September 12 meeting with senior representatives of the Associated Press (AP), the Washington Post, ABC News, the Los Angeles Times, Knight-Ridder and former American Society of Newspaper Editors president Burl Osborne, Secretary Cheney directed Pete Williams, the Assistant Secretary of Defense for Public Affairs, to meet with media representatives to iron out an agreement (Gersh, 1991j).

86

Discussions with Washington bureau chiefs of the AP, Knight-Ridder, ABC News, Time magazine and the Washington Post were to begin in September and conclude in February, 1992 (Gersh).

The revised guidelines were informally released in March, 1992; although the document was not formally endorsed by either the heads of media organizations nor by Secretary Cheney, that step is largely a formality.

Nine of the 10 original demands were accepted with minor editorial changes; but the two sides could not agree upon the prior review issue. For their part, the media asserted that they would "abide by clear operational security ground rules. Prior security review is unwarranted and unnecessary." (Gersh, 1992b, p. 18). Citing their record in the Vietnam War, the Gulf War and other wars, the media concluded that journalists should be trusted and that "We will challenge prior security review" if attempted in future conflicts (Gersh).

The military sounded a conservative note, saying that they must "retain the option to review news material, to avoid the inadvertent inclusion in news reports of information that could endanger troop safety or the success of a mission." (Gersh, 1992, p. 18). The review system, however, was significantly altered from the Gulf War model.

Implemented <u>only</u> to prevent disclosure of information which might jeopardize safety or success, the system would still use initial field review. Unlike the Gulf War system, this initial review, conducted by the [local] military commander's representative, leaves the copy in the reporter's control. If left unchanged, the disputed copy would be

87

dispatched to the reporter's editor, who would then contact the Pentagon to discuss security concerns, effectively leaving copy review and editing in the media's hands.

But what has really changed? Under the new rules, pools will still be used, primarily in the first hours (where they've generally worked well) or in situations where access is limited. Access to special operations will be limited "in some cases;" copy transmission and transportation responsibilities lie with the military "consistent with its capabilities" (Gersh, 1992, p. 24).

Additionally, the review issue begs clarification; outside the ground rules, there would be little to limit publication. The words of the Washington bureau chief linger: "It's not my job to keep your secrets; if I get one, and it's a good story, I'm going to print it." (Soucy, 1991, p. 109). Clearly, the gray areas allow room for leeway, but also for trouble.

At the beginning of the literature review, an anecdote centered on trust, and it is to trust we return. The Roman philosopher Publius Syrus wrote "Trust, like the soul, never returns once gone." (Evans, 1968). Whether trust is completely gone remains to be seen, but it certainly has not flourished between the military and the media of late; its future remains a question.

References

A statement of principle. (1984, January 14). Editor and Publisher, p. 40.

Agence France-Press, et. al. v. the Department of Defense (1991). 19 Media Law Reporter, pp. 1,257-1,270.

- Alter, J. (1991, February 11). Does bloody footage lose wars? <u>Newsweek</u>, p. 38.
- Alter, J. (1991, March 11). Clippings from the media war. <u>Newsweek</u>, p. 52.
- Alter, J.; Clifton, T. & Wilkinson, R. (1991, January 14). Will we see the real war? <u>Newsweek</u>, p. 19.
- American Newspaper Markets, Inc. (1990). <u>Circulation '91: The</u> <u>twenty-ninth annual comprehensive analysis of penetration and</u> <u>circulation of major print media</u>. Wilmette, IL: Standard Rate and Data Service.
- American Society of Newspaper Editors (1989). The changing faces of the newsroom: A human resources report. Washington, DC: American Society of Newspaper Editors.

Andreason, A. R. (1970). Personalizing mail questionnaire correspondence. <u>Public Opinion Quarterly</u>, <u>34(2)</u>, pp. 271-277.

Apple, R. W. Jr. (1991). Correspondents protest pool system. In Committee on Governmental Affairs. <u>Pentagon rules on media access</u> <u>to the Gulf War</u> (p. 1,158.) (S. Hrg. 102-178). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

- Apple, R. W. Jr. (1991.) Pentagon moves to widen reporters' access to Gulf ground units. In committee on Governmental Affairs. <u>Pentagon rules on media access to the Gulf War</u> (p. 1,160). (S. Hrg. 102-178). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. Associated Press Managing Editors (APME) Redbook (1989). New York:
- Associated Press.
- Associated Press Managing Editors (1992, April 13). [Telephone conversation with APME's Bruce Mason.]
- Aukofer, F. A. (1991). The press collaborators. <u>Nieman Reports</u>, <u>45</u>(2), 24-26.
- Babbie, E. (1990). <u>Survey research methods</u> (2nd ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Co.
- Bagdikan, B. H. (1983). The media monopoly: The endless chain. In Atwan, A, Orton, B. & Vesterman W. (Eds.) <u>American mass media:</u> <u>Industries and issues</u> (3rd ed.) pp. 87-94. New York: Random House.
- Boot, W. (March/April, 1991). The press stands alone. <u>Columbia</u> <u>Journalism Review</u>, pp. 23-24.
- Boot, W. (May/June, 1991). The pool. <u>Columbia Journalism Review</u>, pp. 24-27.
- Braestrup, P. (1985). Battle lines. <u>Nieman_Reports</u>, <u>39</u>(3), 44-56. Braestrup, P. [In Valeriani, R. (May/June, 1991).] Talking back to the tube. <u>Columbia Journalism Review</u>, pp. 24-28.

- 90
- Browne, M. W. (1991). The military vs. the press. In Committee on Governmental Affairs. <u>Pentagon rules on media access to the Gulf</u> <u>War</u> (pp. 1,181-1,186.) (S. Hrg. 102-178). Washington, DC; U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Carpenter, E. H. (1974). Personalizing mail surveys: A replication and reassessment. <u>Public Opinion Quarterly</u>, <u>38</u>(4), pp. 614-620.
- CENTCOM (1991, January 30). CENTCOM pool membership and operating procedures. In Committee on Governmental Affairs. <u>Pentagon rules</u> <u>on media access to the Gulf War</u> (p. V-VI.) (S. Hrg. 102-178). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Charnley, M. V. & Charnley, B. (1979). <u>Reporting</u> (pp. 14-31) (4th ed.). New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Childers, T. L. & Ferrell, O. C. (1979). Response rates and perceived questionnaire length in mail surveys. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Marketing Research</u>, <u>16</u>(3), pp. 429-431.
- Ciolli, R. (1990, November 25.) Media v. military: Tense allies. <u>Newsday</u> [as reprinted in the Department of Defense Early Bird press digest, November 28, 1990.] Author's photocopy.
- Cloud, S. V. (1990, January 8). How reporters missed the war. <u>Time</u>, p. 61.
- Conduct of the Persian Gulf Conflict: An Interim [Department of Defense] Report to Congress (1991, July). In Committee on Governmental Affairs. <u>Pentagon rules on media access to the</u> <u>Persian Gulf War</u> (pp. 761-777). (S. Hrg 102-178). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Cox Broadcasting Corp. v. Cohn (1975). 420 U.S. 469.

Crittenden, W. F.; Crittenden, V. L. & Hawes, J. M. (1985).

Examining the effects of questionnaire color and print font on mail survey response rates. <u>Akron Business & Economic Review</u>, <u>16(4)</u>, pp. 51-56.

- Crosby, F. E.; Feldman, M. J. & Ventura, M. R. (1989). Examination of a survey methodology: Dillman's total design method. <u>Nursing</u> <u>Research, 38(1), pp. 56-58.</u>
- Department of Defense (1991, January 14.) Guidelines for news
 media. In Committee on Governmental Affairs. Pentagon rules
 on media access to the Gulf War (p. 330.) (S. Hrg. 102-178).
 Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Dillman, D. A. (1978). <u>Mail and telephone surveys: The total</u> <u>design method</u>. New York: Wiley & Sons.
- Dillman, D. A. & Frey, J. H. (1974). Contribution of personalization to mail questionnaire response as an element of a previously-tested method. <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>, <u>59</u>(3), pp. 297-301.
- Editor and Publisher International Yearbook (1990). New York: Editor and Publisher.
- Elkind, M.; Tryon, G. S. & DeVito, A. J. (1986). Effects of type of postage and covering envelope on response rates in a mail survey. <u>Psychological Reports</u>, <u>59</u>, pp. 279-283.
- Elson, J. (1990, August 27). And on this map we see.... <u>Time</u>, p. 27.

- Emery, E. (1971). The press in the Vietnam quagmire. <u>Journalism</u> <u>Quarterly</u>, <u>48</u>, 619-626.
- Evans, B. (Ed.). (1968). <u>Dictionary of quotations</u>. New York: Delacourt Press.
- Fox, R. J.; Crask, M. R. & Kim. J. (1988). Mail survey response rate: A meta-analysis of selected techniques for inducing response. <u>Public Opinion Quarterly</u>, <u>52</u>(3), 467-491.
- Frenznick, D. A. (1992). The first amendment on the battlefield: A constitutional analysis of press access to military operations in Grenada, Panama and the Persian Gulf. <u>Pacific Law Journal</u>, <u>23</u>(2), pp. 315-358.
- Futrell, C. M. & Lamb, C. W. Jr. (1981). Effect on mail survey return rates of including questionnaires with follow-up letters. <u>Perceptual & Motor Skills, 52(1), pp. 11-15.</u>
- Galloway, J. L. (1991, February 4). Who's afraid of the truth? <u>U.S. News & World Report</u>, p. 49.
- Garneau, G. (1987, July 25). Off to the Persian Gulf. Editor & Publisher, p. 11.
- Garneau, G. (1987, August 25). Media combat pool: How effective? Editor & Publisher, p. 11, 24b-c.
- Garneau, G. (1987, November 7). Problems with Pentagon's Persian Gulf press pool. Editor & Publisher, pp. 9-10.
- Garneau, G. (1988, March 26). New press pool activated. Editor & Publisher, pp. 9-10.

- 93
- Gaziano, C. & McGrath, K. (1986). Measuring the concept of validity. Journalism Quarterly, <u>66</u>, 451-462.
- Gergen, D. (1991, March 11). Why America hates the press. <u>U.S.</u> News & World Report, p. 57.
- Gersh, D. (1991, January 12). Pentagon prepares the press for war. Editor & Publisher, pp. 8-9.
- Gersh, D. (1991, February 2). Press pools on the verge of collapse? <u>Editor & Publisher</u>, pp. 7-8.
- Gersh, D. (1991, February 9). Trouble among the press ranks. Editor & Publisher, pp. 9, 46.
- Gersh, D. (1991, March 2). Clampdown -- then the good news. <u>Editor & Publisher.</u> pp. 8-9.
- Gersh, D. (1991, March 2). War information hearings. Editor & Publisher, pp. 10-11, 38.
- Gersh, D. (1991, April 6). Pentagon spokesman speaks. Editor & Publisher, pp. 16-17.
- Gersh, D. (1991, May 11). Journalists protest Desert Storm-type pools. Editor & Publisher, pp. 21, 42.
- Gersh, D. (1991, May 18). Veteran newsmen can live with pools. Editor & Publisher, p. 18.
- Gersh, D. (1991, July 6). Press restrictions must go. <u>Editor &</u> <u>Publisher</u>, pp. 7-8, 35.
- Gersh, D. (1991, September 21). The press makes its pitch. Editor & Publisher, p. 4.

- Gersh, D. (1992, March 21). War coverage guidelines. <u>Editor &</u> <u>Publisher</u>, pp. 18, 24.
- Gibson, D. C. (1985). A typology of informal information controls. Communication Quarterly, 33, 126-136.
- Gillmor, D. M.; Barron, J. A.; Simon, T. F. & Terry, H. A. (1990). <u>Mass communication law: Cases and comment</u> (5th ed.). New York: West Publishing Co.

Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court (1982). 457 U.S. 596.

Greer v. Spock (1976). 424 U.S. 828.

Grossman, L. K. (1991). A television plan for the next war. <u>Nieman Reports</u>, <u>45</u>(2), 27-31, 53.

- Grunwald, H. (1983, November 7). Trying to censor reality. <u>Time</u>, p. 102.
- Gugliotta, G. (1991). Signs of breakdown in pool system. In Committee on Governmental Affairs. <u>Pentagon rules on media access</u> <u>to the Gulf War</u> (pp. 1,179-1,180.) (S. Hrg. 102-178). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Gullahorn, J. E. & Gullahorn, J. T. (1963). An investigation of the effects of three factors on response to mail questionnaires. <u>Public Opinion Quarterly</u>, <u>27</u>(2), pp. 294-296.
- Halloran, R. (1991). Soldiers and scribblers revisited: Working with the media. In Matthews, L. J. (Ed.), <u>Newsmen and national</u> <u>defense: Is conflict inevitable</u>? (pp. 121-129). Washington, DC: Brassey's.

- Harris, J. R. & Guffey, H. J. Jr. (1978). Questionnaire returns: Stamps versus business return envelopes revisited. <u>Journal of</u> <u>Marketing Research</u>, <u>15</u>(2), pp. 290-293.
- Heberlein, T. A. & Baumgartner, R. (1978). Factors affecting response rates to mailed questionnaires: A quantitative analysis of the published literature. <u>American Sociological Review</u>, <u>43</u>(4), pp. 447-462.
- Heberlein, T. A. & Baumgartner, R. (1981). Is a questionnaire necessary in a second mailing? <u>Public Opinion Quarterly</u>, <u>45</u>(1), pp. 102-108.
- Hedges, C. (May/June 1991). The unilaterals. <u>Columbia Journalism</u> <u>Review</u>, pp. 27-29.
- Hines, C. (1991). Prepared Statement of Cragg Hines. In Committee on Governmental Affairs <u>Pentagon rules on media access to the</u> <u>Persian Gulf War</u> (p. 39.) (S. Hrg. 102-178.) Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- J. B. Pictures Inc., et. al. v. Department of Defense and Donald O. Rice, Secretary of the Air Force. (1991). In Committee on Governmental Affairs. <u>Pentagon rules on media access to the</u> <u>Persian Gulf War</u> (pp. 1,475-1,545.) (S. Hrg. 102-178.) Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Jobber, D. & Sanderson, S. (1983). The effects of a prior letter and coloured questionnaire paper on mail survey response rate. Journal of the Market Research Society, 25(4), pp. 339-349.

- 96
- Kalb, M. (1991). Inquiry: Media and the war. In Committee on Governmental Affairs. <u>Pentagon rules on media access to the</u> <u>Gulf War</u> (p. 1165.) (S. Hrg. 102-178.) Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Kerin, R. A. (1974). Personalization strategies, response rate and response quality in a mail survey. <u>Social Science Quarterly</u>, 55(1), pp. 175-181.
- King, J. O. & Wilson, D. D. Jr. (1978). The influence of personalization on mail survey response rates. <u>Arkansas Business</u> <u>& Economic Review</u>, <u>11</u>(4), pp. 15-18.
- Kinnard, D. (1976). <u>The war managers</u>. Hanover, N.H.: University Press of New England.
- Komarow, S. (1990, March). Pooling around in Panama. <u>Washington</u> <u>Journalism Review</u>, pp. 45-51.
- Lamb, D. (April, 1991). Pentagon hardball. <u>Washington Journalism</u> <u>Review</u>, pp. 33-36.
- Lederer, E. (1991, February 2). Getting the word out the first night. Editor & Publisher, p. 9.
- Lee, M. A. & DeVitt, T. (1991). Gulf War coverage: Censorship begins at home. <u>Newspaper Research Journal</u>, <u>12(1)</u>, 14-22.
- Leeson, D. The photo pools. <u>Nieman Reports</u>, <u>45</u>(2), p. 22.
- Linsky, A. S. (1975). Stimulating responses to mailed questionnaires: A review. <u>Public Opinion Quarterly</u>, <u>39(1)</u>, pp. 82-101.

- 97
- Lipset, S. M. & Schneider, W. (1983). <u>The confidence qap: Confidence</u> <u>in institutions</u> (pp. 13-40) (2nd ed.). Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins Press.
- Lubow, A. (1991, March 18). Read some about it. <u>The New Republic</u>, <u>204</u>, pp. 23-25.
- Maitre, H. J. (1991). Journalistic incompetence. <u>Nieman Reports</u>, <u>45</u>,(2), pp. 10-15, 50.
- Manker, C. V., Boyd, C. E. & Van Dyke, M. A. (1988, November). In defense of the Department of Defense [Letter to the editor]. <u>The Quill</u>, pp. 51-52.
- Massing, M. (May/June, 1991). Another front. <u>Columbia Journalism</u> <u>Review</u>, pp. 23-24.
- Matteson, M. (1974). Type of transmitted letter and questionnaire color as two variable influencing response rates in a mail survey. <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>, <u>54</u>, pp. 535-536.
- McCrohan, K. F. & Lowe, L. S. (1981). A cost/benefit approach to postage used on mail questionnaires. <u>Journal of Marketing</u>, <u>45(1)</u>, pp. 130-133.
- McMasters, P. (1991). The Pentagon and the press: The war continues. <u>Newspaper Research Journal</u>, <u>12</u>(1), 2-9.
- Media Pool Feedback (1991, January 21). In Committee on Governmental Affairs <u>Pentagon rules on media access to the</u> <u>Persian Gulf War</u> (pp. 474-476). (S. Hrg 102-178). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Military Obstacles Detailed (1991, July 13). Editor & Publisher, pp. 8-10.

Minor, D. (1970). The information war: The snow machine (pp.

35-62). New York: Hawthorne Books, Inc.

Monroe, B. (May, 1991). How to cover war: Forget the pool.

Columbia Journalism Review, p. 6.

Morrow, L. (1991, February 4). The fog of war. Time, pp. 16-19.

The Nation Magazine v. U.S. Department of Defense, 19 Media Law Reporter, pp. 1,257-1,270.

Near v. Minnesota (1931). 283 U.S. 697.

Neider, L. L. & Sugrue, P. K. (1983). Addressing procedures as a mail survey response inducement technique. <u>Journal of the</u> <u>Academy of Marketing Science</u>, <u>11</u>(4), 455-460.

New York Times Co. v. U.S. (1971). 403 U.S. 713.

Norusis, M. J. (1988). <u>The SPSSx guide to data analysis for SPSSx</u>. Chicago, IL: SPSS Inc.

Offenburger, C. (1991). In search of Iowans at war, reporter has his credentials yanked. In Committee on Governmental Affairs. <u>Pentagon rules on media access to the Gulf War</u> (p. 1,173). (S. Hrg. 102-178). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

- Oppenheim, A. N. (1966). Attitude-scaling methods. <u>Questionnaire</u> <u>design and attitude measurement</u> (pp. 120-159). New York: Basic Books.
- Oxford University Press (1980). Oxford dictionary of Quotations (3rd ed.). New York: Oxford University Press.

- Parton, N. (1950). Construction of the schedule or questionnaire. Surveys, pools and samples: Practical procedures (pp. 157-218). New York: Harper and Brothers.
- Pavlik, J. & Rachlin, S. (1991). On assignment: A survey of journalists who covered the war. In C. LaMay, M. FitzSimon & J. Sahadi (Eds.), <u>The media at war: The press and the Persian</u> <u>Gulf conflict</u> (pp. 8-25). New York: Gannett Foundation Media Center.
- Public Affairs Guidance, (1991, February 3). Operation Desert Storm casualty and mortuary affairs. In Committee on Governmental Affairs. <u>Pentagon rules on media access to the Gulf War</u> (p. 431.) (S. Hrg. 102-178). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Pyle, R. (1988, July/August). Covering a mini-war: Sometimes the pool works. <u>Washington Journalism Review</u>, pp. 14-17.
- Rescue Army v. Los Angeles Municipal Court (1947). 331 U.S. 549, 584.
- Richmond Newspapers, Inc. v. Virginia (1980). 448 U.S. 555.
- Robinson, M. J. & Kohut, A. (1988). Believability and the press. <u>Public Opinion Quarterly</u>, <u>52</u>, 174-189.
- Rodrigue, G. (1991). The writing pools. <u>Nieman Reports</u>, <u>45</u>(2), 20-22.
- Runkle, P. J. & McGrath, J. E. (1972). Analyzing empirical evidence: Translating observations into data. <u>Research on Human Behavior</u> (pp. 249-280). New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.

- Sarkesian, S. C. (1987). Soldiers, scholars and the media. In Matthews, L. J. (Ed.), <u>Newsmen and national defense: Is conflict</u> <u>inevitable</u>? (pp. 61-71). Washington DC: Brassey's.
- Schanberg, S. H. (March, 1991). Censoring for political security. Washington Journalism Review, pp. 23-26, 53.
- Sheahan, J. W. (1988, September). Flacking for the DoD. <u>The Quill</u>, pp. 32-35.
- Silverberg, M. (1991). Constitutional concerns in denying the press access to military operations. In L. B. Thompson (Ed.). <u>Defense beat: The dilemmas of wartime coverage</u>. New York: Lexington Books.
- Soucy, P. E. (1991). Media coverage of the military: A soldier's critique. In L. B. Thompson (Ed.) <u>Defense beat: The dilemmas</u> <u>of wartime coverage</u>. New York: Lexington Books.
- Stebenne, D. The military and the media: The Gulf conflict in historical perspective. In C. LaMay, M. FitzSimon & J. Sahadi (Eds.), <u>The media at war: The press and the Persian Gulf conflict</u> (pp. 8-25). New York: Gannett Foundation Media Center.

Steele, R. W. (1985). News of the 'good war': World War II news management. <u>Journalism Quarterly</u>, <u>62</u>, 707-716, 783.

Stevens, R. E. (1974). Does precoding mail questionnaires affect response rates? <u>Public Opinion Quarterly</u>, <u>38(4)</u>, pp. 621-622.

Stoler, P. (1985). The war against the press: Shutting off the flow (pp. 165-180). New York: Dodd, Mead & Co.
- Swan, J. E.; Epley, D. E. & Burns, W. L. (1980). Can follow-up response rates to a mail survey be increased by including another copy of the questionnaire? <u>Psychological Reports</u>, <u>47</u>, pp. 103-106.
- Thompson, M. (1987, November/December). With the press pool in the Persian Gulf. <u>Columbia Journalism Review</u>, pp. 40-45.
- Trainor, B. E. (1991). The military and the media: A troubled embrace. In Matthews, L. J. (Ed.), <u>Newsmen and national defense:</u> <u>Is conflict inevitable</u>? (pp. 121-129). Washington, DC: Brassey's.
- Trayes, E. J. (1978). Managing editors and their newsrooms: A survey of 208 APME members. Journalism Quarterly, 55, pp. 744-749, 898.

U.S. v. Chagra (1983). 701 F.2d 354, 365 (5th Cir.)

- Warden, M. (1988). <u>The military and media in conflict: The Sidle</u> <u>panel and the U.S. invasion of Grenada</u>. (Report No. CS-506-193). Portland, OR: The Association for Education in Journalism and Mass Communication. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 295 249).
- White, C. R. (1984, April). The Sidle commission. <u>Military Media</u> <u>Review, 12(2), pp. 18-20.</u>
- Williams, L. A. (1991). The press and the Persian Gulf War. <u>Parameters</u>, <u>21</u>(3), pp. 2-9.
- Wimmer, R. D. & Dominick, J. R. (1987). <u>Mass media research</u> (2nd ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.

- Wunder, G. C. & Wynn, G. W. (1988). The effects of address personalization on mailed questionnaires' response rate, time and quality. <u>Journal of the Marketing Research Society</u>, <u>30(1)</u>, pp. 95-101.
- Yu, J. & Cooper, H. (1983). A quantitative review of research design effects on response rates to questionnaires. <u>Journal</u> <u>of Marketing Research</u>, <u>20</u>(1), pp. 36-44.
- Zoglin, R. (1991, February 4). Volleys on the information front. <u>Time</u>, pp. 44-45.
- Zoglin, R. (1991, February 18). Jumping out of the pool. <u>Time</u>, p. 39.
- Zoglin, R. (1991, February 25). Just whose side are they on? <u>Time</u>, pp. 52-55.
- Zoglin, R. (1991, March 11). It was a public relations rout too. <u>Time</u>, pp. 56-57.

Appendix A

Operation Desert Storm Ground Rules (14 Jan 91)

Guidelines for News Media (14 Jan 91)

U.S. Central Command [CENTCOM] Pool Membership and Operating Procedures (30 Jan 91)

Note: Pages are reduced to 80% of original size to allow placement of "Press Pool" headers.

PREFACE

POLICY OVERSIGHT MATERIALS

Operation Desert Shield

GROUND RULES-JANUARY 14, 1991

The following information should not be reported because its publication or broadcast could jeopardize operations and endanger lives

1 For U.S. or coalition units, specific numerical information on troop strength, aircraft, weapons systems, on-hand equip-ment, or supplies (e.g., artillery, tanks, radars, missiles, trucks, water', including amounts of ammunition or fuel moved by or on hand in support and combat units. Unit size may be de-scribed in general terms such as "company-size," "multibattainon." multidivision," "naval task force." and "carrier battle group." Number or amount of equipment and supplies may be described in general terms such as "large," "small" OT 'manv

(2) Any information that reveals details of future plans, oper ations, or strikes, including postponed or cancelled operations.

(3) Information, photography, and imagery that would reveal the specific location of military forces or show the level of security at military installations or encampments. Nations may be described as follows: all Navy embark stories can identify the beschoed as tohows: all Navy embark stories can identify the ship upon which embarked as a dateline and will state that the report is coming from the "Persian Gulf," "Red Sea," or "North Arabian Sea." Stories written in Saudi Arabia may be datelined "Eastern Saudi Arabia," "Near the Kuwaiti border," etc. For specific countries outside Saudi Arabia, stories will state that the report is coming from the Persian Gulf region unless that country has acknowledged its participation. (4) Rules of engagement details.

(5) Information on intelligence collection activities, including targets, methods, and results.

(6) During an operation, specific information on friendly force troop movements, tactical deployments, and dispositions that would jeopardize operational security or lives. This would in-clude unit designations, names of operations, and size of friendly forces involved, until released by CENTCOM.

(7) Identification of mission aircraft points of origin, other than as land- or carrier-based.

(8) Information on the effectiveness or ineffectiveness of enemy camouflage, cover, deception, targeting, direct and indirect fire intelligence collection or security measures

(9) Specific identifying information on missing or downed aircraft or ships while search and rescue operations are planned or underway

(10) Special operations forces' methods, unique equipment or tactics

(11) Specific operating methods and tactics, (e.g., air angles of attack or speeds, or naval tactics and evasive maneuvers). Gen-eral terms such as "low" or "fast" may be used.

(12) Information on operational or support vulnerabilities that could be used against U.S. forces, such as details of major battle damage or major personnel losses of specific U.S. or coalition units, until that information no longer provides tactical advantage to the enemy and is, therefore, released by CENT-COM. Damage and casualties may be described as "light," 'moderate." or "heavy

GUIDELINES FOR NEWS MEDIA-JANUARY 14, 1991

v

News media personnel must carry and support any personal and professional gear they take with them, including protective cases for professional equipment, batteries, cables, converters, etc

Night Operations-Light discipline restrictions will be followed. The only approved light source is a flashlight with a red lens. No visible light source, including flash or television lights, will be used when operating with forces at night unless specifically approved by the on-scene commander.

Because of host-nation requirements, you must stay with your public affairs escort while on Saudi bases. At other U.S. tactical or field locations and encampments, a public affairs escort may be required because of security, safety, and mission requirements as determined by the host commander.

Casualty information, because of concern of the notification of the next of kin, is extremely sensitive. By executive directive, next of kin of all military fatalities must be notified in person by a uniformed memoer of the appropriate service. There have been instances in which the next of kin have first learned of the death or wounding of a loved one through the news media. The problem is particularly difficult for visual media casualty photographs showing a recognizable face, name tag, or other identifying feature or item should not be used before the next of kin have then notified. The anguish that sudden recognition at home can cause far outweighs the news value of the photograph, film or videotape. News coverage of casualties in medical centers will be in strict compliance with the instructions of doctors and medical officials.

To the extent that individuals on the news media seek access to the U.S. area of operation, the following rule applies. Prior to or upon commencement of hostilities, media pools will be established to provide initial combat coverage of U.S. forces. U.S. news media personnel present in Saudi Arabia will be given the opportunity to join CENTCOM media pools, providing they agree to pool their products. News media personnel who are not members of the official CENTCOM media pools will not be permitted into forward areas. Reporters are strongly discouraged from attempting to link up on their own with combat units. U.S. commanders will maintain extremely tight security throughout the operational area and will exclude from the area of operation all unauthorized individuals.

For news media personnel participating in designated CENT-COM Media Pools:

(1) Upon registering with the JIB, news media should contact their respective pool coordinator for an explanation of pool operations

(2) In the event of hostilities, pool products will be the subject to review before release to determine if they contain sensitive information about military plans, capabilities, operations, or vulnerabilities (see attached ground rules) that would jeopard-

ize the outcome of an operation or the safety of U.S. or coalition forces. Material will be examined solely for its conformance to the attached ground rules, not for its potential to express criticism or cause embarrassment. The public affairs escort officer on scene will review pool reports, discuss ground rule problems with the reporter, and in the limited circumstances when no agreement can be reached with a reporter about disputed materials, immediately send the disputed materials.

rials to JIB Dhahran for review by the Director and the appropriate news media representative. If no agreement can be reached, the issue will be immediately forwarded to OASD PA) for review with the appropriate bureau chief. The ultimate decision on publication will be made by the originating reporter's news organization.

(3) Correspondents may not carry a personal weapon.

CENTCOM Pool Membership and Operating Procedures—January 30, 1991

General

The following procedures pertain to the CENTCOM news media pool concept for providing news to the widest possible American audience during the initial stages of U.S. military ac tivities in the Arabian Gulf area. The CENTCOM pools will be drawn from news media within Saudi Arabia. Their composition and operation should not be confused with that of the De-partment of Defense National Media Pool. The pools are a cooperative arrangement designed to balance the media's desire for unilateral coverage with the logistics realities of the military operation, which make it impossible for every media repretative to cover every attivity of his or her choice, and with CENTCOM's responsibility to maintain operational security, protect the safety of the troops, and prevent interference with military operations. There is no intention to discriminate among media representatives on the basis of reporting content or viewpoint. Favoritism or disparate treatment of the media in pool operations by pool coordinators will not be tolerated. The purpose and intention of the pool concept is to get media representatives to and from the scene of military action, to get their reports back to the Joint Information Bureau-Dhahran for filing-rapidly and safely, and to permit unilateral media coverage of combat and combat-related activity as soon as possible. There will be two types of pools: eighteen-member pools for ground combat operations and smaller, seven-member pools for ground combat and other coverage. Pools will be formed and governed by the media organizations that are qualified to participate and will be administered through pool appointed coordinators working in conjunction with the JIB-Dhahran. media will operate under the ground rules issued by CENT-COM on January 15, 1991.

Pool participation

Due to logistics and space limitations, participation in the pools will be limited to media that principally serve the American public and that have had a long-term presence covering Department of Defense military operations, except for pool positions specifically designated as "Saudi" or "international." Pool positions will be divided among the following categories of media television, radio, wire service, news magazine, newspaper, pencil, photo. Saudi, and international Media that do not principally serve the American public are qualified to participate in the CENTCOM media pool in the international category.

Pool procedures

Because of the extensive media presence in the Arabian Gulf, the fact that some media organizations are represented by many individuals, and the likelinood that more organizations and individuals will arrive in the future, membership in all categories except pencil will be by organization rather than specific individual. An organization will be eligible to participate in pool activities only after being a member of the appropriate media pool category for three continuous weeks. Members of a single-medium pool may use their discretion to allow participation by organizations which have had a significant stay in country, but which have had breaks in their stay that would otherwise cause them to be ineligible to participate under the three-continuous-weeks rule.

The single-medium pools will be formed and governed by the memoers. The members of each category will appoint a pool coordinator who will serve as the spokesperson and single point of contact for that medium. The print media will select a coordinator who will serve as the point of contact for the pendicategory. Any disputes about membership in or operation of the pool shall be resolved by the pool coordinator

Each single-medium pool coordinator will maintain a current list of members and a waiting list prioritized in the order in which they should be placed on the pools. The same order will be used to replace pool members during normal rotations and those individual members who return from the field prematurely and who do not have another individual in Dhahran from their organization to replace them.

Membership of standing pools will rotate approximately every two to three weeks as the situation permits.

Pool catagories and composition:

Television: The television category will be open to the major television networks.

Radio: The radio category will be open to those radio networks that serve a general (nonprivate listening audience. Wire Service: The wire service category will be open to the

major wire services News Magazine: The news magazine category will be open to

those major national news magazines that serve a general news function.

Newspaper: The newspaper category will be divided into two subcategories for participation in the eighteen-member pools. One will be open to those major papers and newspaper groups that have made a commitment since the early stages of Operation Desert Shield to cover U.S. military activities in Saudi Arabia and which have had a continuous or near-continuous presence in Saudi Arabia since the early stages of the operation, such as the New York Times. Cox, Knight-Kidder, Wall Street Journal, Chicago Tribune, Los Angles Times, Washington Post, USA Today, and Boston Globe. The second category will include all other newspapers.

Rencil: The general category of "pencil" (print reporter) may be used by the print media pool coordinator in assigning print reporters to the smaller pools. All eligible print reporters may participate

Photo: The photography category will be divided into the four subcategories of wire, newspaper, magazine, and photo agency Participants may take part in only one subcategory

Saudi: The Saudi category will be open to Saudi reporters as determined by the Saudi Ministry of Information liaison in the JIB-Dhahran. They must speak and write English and must file their reports in English.

International: The international category will be open to reporters from organizations which do not principally serve the American public from any news medium. They must speak and write English and must file their reports in English.

SHARING OF MEDIA PRODUCTS WITHIN THE CENTCOM POOLS

Pool participants and media organizations eligible to participate in the pools will share all media products within their medium; e.g., television products will be shared by all other television pool members and photo products will be shared with other photo pool members. The procedures for sharing those products and the operating expenses of the pool will be determined by the participants of each medium

ALERT PROCEDURES FOR COMBAT CORRESPONDENT POOL ACTIVATION

When the pools are to be activated, the JIB-Dhahran director or his designated representative will call each of the pool coordinators and announce the activation of the pools. The pool co-

ordinators will be told when and where the pool members are to report the reporting time will be within—but not later than—two hours of alert notification).

. .

.

Operational security (OPSEC) considerations are of the utmost concern JIB personnel, pool coordinators, and pool members need to be especially cognizant of OPSEC. All in-volved with the activation of the pools need to remain calm and unexcited Voice inflection, nervous behavior, etc., are: all indicators that something extraordinary is underway and could

cators that something extraordinary is underway and could signal that operations are imminent. Neither pool coordinators nor pool members will be told if the activation is an "exercise" or actual "alert". Pool members should report to the predesignated assembly area dressed for deployment, with the appropriate equipment

and supplies. Recommendations for changes to pool membership or other procedures will be considered on a case-by-case basis.

١,

4

Appendix B

Pilot Study Questionnaire

Note: Pages are reduced to 80% of original size to allow placement of "Press Pool" headers.

106

Press Pools Questionnaire

Almost a year has passed since the Gulf War ended, but questions about the war still remain; for the media, one of the most controversial questions is the use of press pools. Although the joint media-Pentagon group report (due this month) on planning for future media coverage has not yet been released, press pools will likely remain part of coverage.

This questionnaire is designed to gain your responses to a series of questions regarding press pool coverage of U.S. military wartime operations. The survey covers three general topics: access, censorship and credibility. Where indicated, please assume one of your reporters has been selected to participate in a pool at a site outside the continental United States.

Please do <u>not</u> sign, indicate your newspaper's name, or otherwise indicate your identity on the questionnaire. To allow you the freedom to fully and honestly express your views, you may be assured of complete anonymity. To verify completion of the questionnaire, (and avoid follow-up mailings) please print your name on the enclosed postcard so that we may remove it from our mailing list; to request a copy of the completed study, please check the box on the postcard. *Only* the questionnaire should be returned in the postage-paid envelope.

<u>Thank you</u> for taking the time to complete and return this questionnaire. Comments and criticisms are welcomed; if there are any, please indicate them on the back of this sheet.

1

ABOUT YOUR NEWSPAPER

Daily circulation ______ (3) Chain affiliation (e.g., Knight-Ridder, Gannett, etc.) ______ (4)

1. In general, how do you feel about press pools as they were used in the Gulf War? (If more space is needed, please use the back cover of the questionnaire.) (5)

The following questions, unless otherwise indicated, seek your responses on an agreement/disagreement scale. Abbreviations for the five-category scale (strongly agree/approve, agree/approve, neutral, disagree/disapprove, strongly disagree/disapprove) are shown below:

SA	A	N	D	SD
strongly	agree /		disagree /	strongly
(agree / approve)	(approve)	(neutral)	(disapprove)	(disagree / disapprove)

The abbreviations shown will be used for brevity; the scale and abbreviations can be found at the top of each page for easy reference.

ACCESS

2. In this scenario, fighting has started. The military has warned that access to front-line units may be delayed for an indefinite period. Your reporter is part of a pool; you have the option to have your reporter wait on-scene or recall your reporter home. For each of the time periods indicated below, please check the block which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval <u>re</u> the given period as a reasonable period of delay:

		A		_	
1 DAY		1	1		(6)
2-3 DAYS			Ī	L. J	1(7)
4-7 DAYS		1	1	1	(8)
8-10 DAYS		1	1		(9)
11-14 DAYS	L	L		1	(10)

SURVEY CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE

SAANDSDstronglyagree /disagree /strongly(agree / approve)(approve)(disapprove)(disagree /

3. In this scenario, assume your reporter is NOT part of a press pool, but is instead waiting with other reporters at a central location for access to front-line units while fighting is underway. Your option is to have your reporter remain or to recall him/her. For the time periods given below, please check the block which most closely indicates your level of agreement /approval re the given period as a reasonable period of delay:

	SA	A	N	D	SD
1 DAYS			_		<u> </u>
2-3 DAYS		1		l	(12)
4-7 DAYS		1		1	[[13]
8-10 DAYS				1	L <u> </u>
11-14 DAYS		L			(15)

4. If your newspaper is a member of a chain, would you recall your reporter IP another reporter from your chain was in the pool and your newspaper could use that reporter's story? (Circle One) YES / NO (16)

5. If so, how many days would you wait until recalling your reporter? ______ (17)

6. If fighting was <u>not</u> underway, would your answers to questions 2-4 change? (Circle one) YES / NO (18) (If your answer is "NO," please skip to question 8.)

7. If so, how? (If more space is needed, please use the back cover of the questionnaire.) (19)

SURVEY CONTINUES ON FOLLOWING PAGE

2

109

SA	Α	N	D	SD	3
strongly	agree /		disagree /	strongly	
(agree / approve)	(approve)	(neutral)	(disapprove)	(disagree / disapprove	e)

CENSORSHIP

8. Pre-established "ground rules" allow press escorts to review a reporter's story before release to resolve disputes over details of a sensitive nature. Please check the block below which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval to censoring a story containing information on: ...

	A			
MINOR U.S. TROOP MOVEMENTS	1		1	(20)
MAJOR U.S. TROOP MOVEMENTS	 L	<u> </u>	i	(21)
PROBLEMS WITH UNIMPORTANT EQUIPMENT	<u> </u>	1	1	(22)
PROBLEMS WITH IMPORTANT EQUIPMENT	 L	i	L	(23)
MINOR ERRORS BY U.S. FORCES	 L	L		(24)
MAJOR ERRORS BY U.S. FORCES	1		1	(25)
MINOR CHANGE IN U.S. TROOP STRENGTH	 <u> </u>			L[(28)
MAJOR CHANGE IN U.S. TROOP STRENGTH	 1		1	(29)

9. The "ground rules" include the option to delay publication of a story for an indefinite period of time to resolve disputed passages. Fighting is underway in this scenario. Please check the block which most closely indicates your level of agreement/ approval re delaying publication of a story for the indicated period of time: -- -

				ע	
A TROOP MOVEMENT STORY FOR 6 HOURS	_	1	L		<u> </u>
THE ABOVE STORY FOR 12 HOURS		L	L		(31)
THE ABOVE STORY FOR 18 HOURS		1	L		(32)
THE ABOVE STORY FOR 24 HOURS	_	L	<u> </u>		(33)
A STORY WITH A FEW (1-3) SENSITIVE DETAILS]					
A STORY WITH SEVERAL (4-7) SENSITIVE DETAILS.		_	_		
A STORY WITH MANY (8+) SENSITIVE DETAILS		<u> </u>	L		<u> </u>

10. In one press pool expedition, difficulty in providing transport to front-line units was perceived as censorship, as reporters were "kept" from the action. In this scenario, fighting is underway. The military has told your reporter there may be a delay in transport to front-line units. Your option is to leave your reporter in place or to recall him/her home. Please check the block which most closely indicates your level of acceptance to the given period of delay:

				D	
29 MINUTES	l	1	1	1	(37)
30 MINUTES TO 1 HOUR					
2-4 HOURS					
5-7 HOURS		1	l		1(40)
8-10 HOURS		1	1		(41)
11-14 HOURS	l	1		i l	(42)
15-19 HOURS		L	1		(43)
20-24 HOURS		1			(44)
MORE THAN 24 HOURS		L		1	(45)

SURVEY CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE

110

SAANDSD4stronglyagree /disagree /strongly(agree / approve)(approve)(neutral)(disapprove)(disagree / disapprove)

CREDIBILITY

11. As perceived by the public, the level of news credibility often seems to vary. Researchers have identified a series of attributes related to news credibility; these attributes include integrity, capability and accuracy. Please check the block which most closely indicates the level of agreement/approval regarding the overall performance of reporters with respect to the attribute listed:

	SA	A	N	D	SD	
INTEGRITY OF REPORTERS			1		L	<u>⊥(46)</u>
CAPABILITY OF REPORTERS			I	ł	1	<u>1</u> (47)
ACCURACY OF REPORTERS		1	1		1	1(48)

12. In Gulf War press pools, news passed through a series of gatekeepers: press escorts, their Joint Information Bureau (JIB) superiors (if involved) and governmental policymakers. Press escorts and their JIB superiors Varied in capability (ability to do their jobs) and cooperation (willingness to do their jobs within the ground rules). Policymakers play an important role: because their policies define the ground rules and their implementation, their capability and cooperation with the media in setting the ground rules "set the stage" for news coverage. Please check the block which most closely indicates the level of your agreement/approval regarding the overall performance of the indicated group with respect to their capability and cooperation:

	SA	A	N	D	SD		
CAPABILITY OF PRESS ESCORTS		L	ł		ł	<u>⊥(49)</u>	
COOPERATION OF PRESS ESCORTS		1			1	<u> </u>	
CAPABILITY OF JIB SUPERIORS		1			1	<u>[(51)</u>	
COOPERATION OF JIB SUPERIORS						<u> </u> (52)	
CAPABILITY OF POLICYMAKERS				1	1	(53)	
COOPERATION OF POLICYMAKERS		1	1		1	(54)	

13. Finally, how would you rate the overall accuracy and credibility of Gulf War coverage? Please check the block which most closely indicates the level of your agreement/approval:

	SA	A	N	U	SD
ACCURACY OF THE SCOPE OF COVERAGE	L.	1	1		1(55)
OVERALL CREDIBILITY OF COVERAGE		1	1	1	(56)

SURVEY CONCLUDES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE

5

Information About You

12. To provide demographic information on the managing editors surveyed, please complete the following questions:

Year born: (57)
Gender (Circle one) MALE / FEMALE (58)
Years in the newspaper profession: (59)
Years as Managing Editor of your newspaper: (60)
Have you served in the U.S. armed forces? (Circle one) YES / NO (61)
If so, how long? (62)
Which branch? (Circle one)
Air Force Army Coast Guard Marine Corps Navy (65)

Highest rank held? _____ (63)

This completes this survey of managing editors on press pools. Thank you for your participation; it is greatly appreciated. Should you desire a copy of the resultant study, please check the box on the enclosed postcard and a copy will be sent to you when the study is complete. Appendix C

Circulation List 1st-250th Largest Daily Circulation U.S. Newspapers

Note: Page are reduced to 80% of original size to allow placement of "Press Pools" headers

		CIRCULATION	N SUMMARY (ranked by total				
	Merning or All Day Evening	Total Sunday		Marhing ar All Day	Evening	Total	Sunday
I NIE VOR NEWS 2 US ANDOLTS THES 3 HIS YOR THES 4 HIS YOR THES 5 HILL AND THES 5 HILL AND THES 5 CHILL AND THES 6 CHILL AND THE 6 CHILL AND THE 7 CHILL AN	1282 515 1116 929 1056 636 791 856 499 349 222 298 941 130 413 295	722.298 1117.675 702.506 710.758 675.171 621.762	125 PEORIA CONTRAL STAR @ 136 EL PACO (FAR ADAST THREES 127 SOUTH BENO THREES 128 TOULIN BENO THREES 129 LOS ANGELES DARY BREEZE 130 DATTORA BENOT BREVE 131 TOBE DEPARTOR BEODED 131 TOBE DEPARTOR 132 DART BENOT BENOTED 134 DART BENOTED 135 DART BENOTED 136 DART BENOTED 137 DART BENOTED	93 636 61.271 60.364 40 8,34	29 440 90 578 90 180 90 116 42 448	93 638 90 731 90 578 90 180 90 116 88 364 88 282	115 465 98 168 125 755 137 461 124 231 163 877 83 817
10 DCT001 F8(C FRESS 11 CHILGS SUN THE[S 13 NEW TORK POST 13 NEW TORK POST 13 NEW TORK POST 14 NEW THE SURFICE CONSTITUTION 15 NEW THE SURF SURF SURF 16 NEW THE SURF SURF SURF 17 NANSA CITY SIAB LEDGER	429.182 544.632 501.553 40.553 410.083 441.083 218.473 40.1083	644.632 596,213 552.840 508.553 786.405 478.623 464.227 658.376 464.083 658 814 458.867 411.746	131 COM DISING RECOOL NEWS 131 COM DISING RECOUNT NEWS 133 DATE OF DISING RECOUNT 134 DATE OF DISING RECOUNT 134 DATE OF DISING RECOUNT 135 COM DISING RECOUNT NEWS PRESENCE 136 CATCAGE DATE REAL 137 COM DISING REAL 138 CATCAGE DATE REAL 139 DOCTORN THE REAL 140 DECEMBER DATE REAL 140 DECEMBER DATE 141 DESCRIPTION OF DESCRIPTIONS	66 155 85 830 85 830 86 259 60 365 85 178 85 013 83 585	84 071 39 389 24 830	88 07) 86 155 85 830 85 784 85 648 85 195 85 178 85 013 83 585	94 139 95 796 65 031 68 895 140 522 83 446 93 335 97 642
10 CLEVILADO PLANO DEALE 20 SLATILE TWIES POSTINITELLE 21 PHOENU REPUBLIC CATETTE 22 HOUSTON CHRONICLE @ 34 NANH HEALD NEWS 34 NANH HEALD LISTAR AND TRIBUN 35 DITHENDER POST CATET 36 DITHENDER POST FORT CATET	178,736,272,454 446,344 205,499,236,900 422,933 422,933 425,154,170,380 167,244,229,73 167,244,227,236 2,349,730,121,640 377,953 2,349,730,121,640	446, 348, 548, 157 442, 407, 503, 947 41, 985, 529, 600 412, 913, 591, 015 424, 563, 526, 347 405, 554, 444, 998 402, 097, 647, 524 994, 530, 554, 142 391, 570, 438, 647	142 FORT UT193 VID-JUESS 143 UTCCR A DURAL STAR 144 BACCA ADIT WERE 145 BACCA ADIT WERE 145 ADACCA ADIT WERE 145 ADACCA ADIT OF A 146 ADACT CACL FIRES 148 PASAC VALUE TRANS 149 PASAC VALUE TRANS 140 PASAC VALUE TRANS 14	82 561 81 766 80 340 65 440 79 534 79 534 79 291 45 992 19 175	42 865 14 510 32 996 57 390	82 561 81 260 80 511 83 340 79 947 79 534 79 291 78 988 77 892 76 565	91 013 105 303 81 240 97 481 89 060 91 595 61 834 112 639 54 013 85 982
27 SLAN DEGO UNION TRIBUNE 28 ST LOUIS MOST DISANCH 29 DALLAS MORNING MEMS 20 BOSTOM HERALD 31 DEHNER ROCKY MOUNTAIN MEMS 20 TYDANANO INTERNA 31 ST PTTERSURG THAES 31 ONALO COUNTY 34 OVALAND DEECOMME 34 OVALAND DEGOMAN @ 35 BUFFALO REMS.	3/, 221 3/4, 321 3/4, 321 3/4, 321 3/4, 185 3/4, 186 3/9, 218 3/4, 086 3/2, 152 3/2, 152	341,363 437,654 339,218 366,563 324,058 365,051 322,152 411,960	ISI LARELAND LEDER ISI STATEN ISLAND ADMACE ISI TRENTON TINUES ISI POTACTIE DAMLAND PRESS @ ISI POTACTIE DAMLAND PRESS ISI DESTINATION FOR TAM ISI DAMINING LEDERS INA ISI DAMINING LEDERS ISI DAMINING RESS ISI DAMANAN RESS, PRESS	76 077 74 950 74 138 74 131 73 760 73 616 15 041 73 421 54 184	75 852 58 452 18,751	76 077 75 852 74 958 74 188 74 131 73 760 73 616 73 493 73 471 72 935	92 207 86 385 85 248 80 955 100 448 80 220 87 329 76 781 65 940 74 973
36 Cincinkani (Augusta Wost 39 Vito Gilas Sintis Rochung 40 San JOS Vito Unit HTWS 41 Onit Andro Statimics Stat 42 Onit Andro Statimics Stat 43 Sachadrin () Stati 44 Fort Augusta Statis Statis Statis 44 Fort Augusta Statis Statis Statis Statis	195 030 110.024 283 294 274 325 265 986 263 611 260 952 255 616 140,380 114,510 217 616 30.173 140,511 106,731 233,572	243 274 325 326 003 274,325 326 003 245 908 340 251 243 909 340 251 243 611 343 311 240 952 314 274 255 40 952 314 274 255 40 952 314 274	ISI MACON TELECARAM MENUS ISI ANACON TELECARAM MENUS ISI CUCHEN RECOSTERIAMAN ISI DUCHEN RECOSTERIAMAN ISI MANCHESTERIAMAN ISI MANCHESTERIAMAN ISI MANANGAN TELECON ISI MANANGAN TELECON ISI MANANGAN TELECON ISI MANANGAN TELECON ISI MANANGAN ISI	72 747 27 056 72 015 30 106 70 592 70 206 69 954 69 954 69 310 66 206	45 042 40 867	72 747 72 100 72 015 70 973 70 592 70 206 69 954 69 390 66 987 68 205	99 250 77 245 74 065 102 744 92 218 81 217 91 640 *7 176 86 519
48 CALARGOTTI GUBLERNER 50 BIEGINGHAL DEUTS GERHELT 51 HOUSHLE COLORIE R. HINL THE 51 HOUSE AN IN OUT DEUTS THE SAME 51 HOUSE THE SAME THE 51 HARTON COLORIES 51 DALAS THE SAME THE 52 DALAS THE SAME THE 53 DALAS THE SAME THE 54 DALAS THE SAME THE 55 DALAS THE	- 233.228 - 190.704 171.246 - 190.704 79.949 224.903 224.436 224.296 121.502 97.219 127.841 60.301	237 572 275,934 233 545 276,940 233 545 276,842 233 526 276,812 233 278 234,940 230 203 235,027 274 473 231,746 224 436 319,831 274 248 319,831 278 721 274,136	171 BEAMOOT JPHL EVTENTELJ 177 TOPER CAPITAL JUERNAL 178 TOPERA CAPITAL JUERNAL 178 TOPERA CAPITAL JUERNAL 174 TOPERA CAPITAL JUERNAL 174 CONCERNING TOPERA 175 CONFUS CHISTS CALLER THREE 176 CONFUS CHISTS CALLER THREE 178 CARANALD GEORET SALES FURS 180 LUBBOCK AVALANCE JOURNAL	67 449 67 424 90 431 67 293 47 818 66 441 66 421 66 421 66 421 65 578	16.750 19.310 64.917 23.274	67 469 67 424 67 381 67 293 67 128 66 917 66 461 66 021 65 923 65 528	8: 996 7" 103 80 036 63 059 64 987 73 775 8" 475 70 194 74 054 72 936
So is using considering and an analysis of the second seco	214 0.05 210,977 199,509 193,509 193,124 95,612 195,612 196,627 197,546 197,547 197,546 196,627 196,627 196,627 196,627 196,627 196,627 196,627 196,627 196,627 196,627 197,546 196,627 196,627 196,627 196,627 196,627 197,546 197,547 197,54	197,507 410,451 194,853 234,073 192,124 254,846 191,840 252,379 189,468 210,237 187,488 219,023 183,488 219,023	III WATERUM SEMEALANEDE III WATERUM SEVEN CO COURTM III CO CALTTE WALL CO COURTM III CO CALTTE WALL SA CO CALT III CO CALTTE WALL SA CAL III CO CALTTE WALL SA CAL III CO CALTTE WALL SA CAL III CO SPINGFELD NEWLING III SPANGFELD NEWLING & PR	39 837 64.275 63.721 62.283 50.566 61.250 59.712 59.866 7 93.257	25.133 64.000 10.375	64 970 64 375 64 000 63 721 62 283 61.323 61 250 59 712 59 684 59 257	73 964 77 497 80 636 77 039 83 615 70 819 48 948 62 495 81 304 97 812
SE DATON MET JOURNAL MEAND SALANDOND CIPELSINEYS CLOS ANGLES DALY METS 2 AUSTIN AN FRANK THE 2 AUSTIN AN FRANK THE 2 AUSTIN AN FRANK THE 2 AUSTIN AN FRANK THE 2 AUSTIN AND AND AND AND 2 WEST PALE DATON THE 5 STATE COUNTY RECORD 7 SALANDONG LIGHT 7 ALANDONG LIGHT 7 ALANDONG LIGHT 7 ALANDONG LIGHT 7 ALANDONG LIGHT 7 ALANDONG LIGHT	179 679 176 797 176 797 106 199 60,213 166 743 166 519 164 319 14 423 161 990 142,040 118 099 40,110	179 478 248 507 176,709 198,861 170,797 214,737 170,411 207,336 149 433 233,048 166,519 210,962 164,960 186,442 162,066 227 462 163,980 234,927	IN PERSONA REVERSIONAL IN PERSONA REVERSIONAL IN CONTRACTOR IN	99 211 50 929 57 234 7 56 409 56 360	57 163 54.911 56.304 56.291 56.201 56.201	59 211 58 929 57 234 57 163 56 911 56 409 56 304 56 291 56 201 56 019	15 114 72 300 76 767 76 128 65 455 65 763 72 088 55 701 61 299 79 424
17 TOLED BLOCK CURRAL 6: ARTO BLOCK CURRAL 8: assume Park PRESS 8: anteside RELS ENTERMENTE 6: friend REL 6: friend REL 6: friend REL 6: friend REL 6: friend RELS 6: fr	152 449 152 449 144 541 145 981 142 981 142 981 142 981 140.219 85 277 542 137 279	155.114 219 003 152.699 221.036 147.568 215.120 146.541 154.852 145.906 176.579 147.921 213.228	201 SALTU STATSSALD DURMAL 201 STATT HEAD 205 HARTA SOUTHAL 205 HARTAS DURMAL 205 HARTAS DURMAL 205 GARCHTON TOLLO CTY THAS 201 COLUMBUS LIDCER REQUITE 205 USES STATSSALD DURMAT 205 USES STATSSALD DURMAT 205 USES STATSSALD DURMAT 201 HART SOUTHAND STATS 211 HART COUNTY HEAD 211 HART COUNTY HEAD 211 HART COUNTY HEAD	55 991 55 832 55 483 55.359 56.333 35.140	55 073 55 013 55 425	55 991 55 873 55 832 55 832 55 483 55 483 55 483 55 359 55 333 55 140 55 120	62 916 62 916 82 635 58 017 68 209 96 719 65 763 62 338
1 - COLUMN STAT! RECOMD 2 - COLUMN STAT! RECOMD 3 - COLUMN STAT! RECOMD 5 - WORLSTST FILEGAMM 5 - WORLSTST FILEGAMM 5 - COLUMN FRANCHERTS 5 - COLUMN FRANCHERTS 5 - STOLARD (- WORLST LEGAMM 5 - STOLARD (- WORLST LEGAMM 5 - T WATER (- WORLST LEGAMM 5 - T WATER (- WORLST LEGAMM) 5 - T WATER (- WORLST LEGAMM) 5 - T WATER (- WORLST) 5 - T WATER (- WORLST	137,099 34,876,75,181 126,103,4804 123,031 80,608,41,864 95,202,26,744 119,540 62,908,524 64,908,524 64,9	137 019 162 006 134 099 130.073 130.077 144 221 123.031 154.302 122.476 125.553 121.966 139.941 119.540 196.543 119.162 137.136 118.973 133.777	212 FARCO MODER-LAD FORMA 213 BULKES CATTUR 213 SUP, 1104 FOST CREATER 216 CAMPACTURE SAME 217 SECO TREASMENT 218 SUB-MICTOR FREE 218 SUB-MICTOR FREE 218 SUB-MICTOR FREE 219 WOODBRIDGE WEWS TREASE 220 WOODBRIDGE WEWS TREASE	55 059 54 609 53 922 53 555 53 440 53 144 52 406	53 655 52 124	55 069 54 689 53 922 53 655 53 655 53 480 53 144 52 886 52 124	61 205 59 296 51 656 67 472 55 347 67 263 59 455 33 697 53 199
100 SARADOTA HERALD TRIBUNE 101 GPEENSBORD NEWS RECORD 102 GPEENSBORD NEWS RECORD 103 GPEENSBORD NEWS REFRE 104 MADISON CAR THRES WYS ET AL 104 STUTE DURING	118 704 78.465 38.394 113 997 113 767 65.170 25.930 110.452 90.916 27.541 90.916 27.541 10.7.948	113,997 139,360 113,767 129,109 112,100 133,273 110,442 154,563 106,447 144,963	221 BLCOMINGCOR PARTACLENTING 222 CALIFICATION PARTACLENTING 223 CALIFICATION PARTACLENTING 224 MOUNT CLISSICS MACDRE DALY 225 ACRISTON PARTACLE ACCENT 226 DISTON PARTACLE ACCENT 227 DISTONCE TRANSPORT 228 DISTONCE ACTION 229 DISTONCE ACTION 230 VIETURE CONTY STARPHILE PR	52 026 51 856 51 724 50 873 50 006 50 005 49 918 49 526	51 575 49 487	52 026 51 856 51 724 51 575 50 473 50 006 50 003 49 918 49 526 49 487	90 103 80 865 96 840 49 773 51 929 55 086 53 495 50 682 55 994
104	53 751 51 600 104 654 105 104 185 76 308 27,756 103 975 103 925 103 382 102 956 6 46 967 56 102	105 351 144 025 106 424 167 625 104 185 117,070 104 064 131 421 103 975 139 114 103 362 144 640 102 958 103 902	23) UNLES ANARY THEOLOGOUS 23) UNLESS ANARY THEOLOGUE 23) UNLESS ANALYSIS AND ANALYSIS 23) UNLESS ANALYSIS ANALYSIS 23) UNLESS ANALYSIS ANALYSIS 23) UNLESS ANALYSIS 23) UNLESS ANALYSIS 23) UNLESS ANALYSIS 23) UNLESS ANALYSIS 23) UNLESS ANALYSIS 24) UNLESS ANALYSIS 25) UNLESS ANALYSIS 2	47 267 48 144 23 493	49 108 48 701 48 996 44 192 74 296 43 682 47 366	49 386 49 297 49 108 48 701 48 596 48 192 48 266 47 789 47 582 47 366	100700001555 3355016553555
116 - washington finits 117 Scanafton functs finites 118 Envariant, e counted metas 119 Invariant, e counted metas 120 Accison classifier 121 Lancastre mit metas sum fi 122 Lancastre mit metas sum fi 123 Lancastre mit metas sum fi 124 Lancastre mit sen final Sum fi 125 Lancastre mit sen final Sum fi 126 Lancastre mit sen final Sum fi 127 Lancastre mit sen final Sum fi 128 Lancastre mit sen final Sum fi 129 Lancastre mit sen final Sum fi 120 Lancastre mit sen final Sum fi	101 1253 47 14 25 4870 46 1764 57 4870 55 084 44 454 59 0643 44 226 55 284 55 284 49 285 18 668 99 316 76 885 18 668	101.125 101.125 101.175 14.618 101.175 14.547 114.547 114.547 116.547 116.547 116.547 116.547 105.117 116.571 105.317 105.318	241 WURLEON CHARGEST 243 SILO SHUMENSA THATS T 243 SILO SHUMENSA THATS T 244 Z. CONHICTOR ST HATS 244 Z. CONHICTOR ST HATS 245 ME BEOFORD STANDARD THATS 246 SUCH FALLS AND LEADT 247 WILLS AND FALLS AND LEADT 247 WILLS AND CONTY THATS 248 SHUMENT OFFICE STAND	46 474 45 787 45 584	47 092 46 761 46 401	47 092 46 761 46 761 46 474 46 401 46 474 46 401 45 787 45 594 45 466 45 185	52 132 49 970 41 534 50 192 66 855 50 478 36 330
Crownen free Audi	1 Surray of Corculation 1	Data Banti casyngra CIRCUL	ATION 91	45 000	Dermas:0	45 QU.	

,

Appendix D

Mailing List 1st-200th Largest Daily Circulation U.S. Newspapers

113

Arthur Gelb Managing Editor The New York Times 229 W. 43rd St. New York, NY 10036

George Cotliar Managing Editor The Los Angeles Times Times Mirror Sq. Los Angeles, CA 90053

Jim Naughton Managing Editor Philadelphia Inquirer 400 N. Broad St. Philadelphia, PA 19103

Christina Bradford Managing Editor The Detroit News 615 Lafayette Blvd. Detroit, MI 48226

Larry Green Deputy Managing Editor Chicago Sun-Times 401 N. Wabash Ave. Chicago, IL 60611

Peter Thompson Managing Editor The Oregonian 1320 S.W. Broadway Portland, OR 97201

Monroe Dodd Managing Editor The Kansas City Star 1729 Grand Ave. Kansas City, MO 64108

Alex MacLeod Managing Editor Seattle Times P.O. Box 70 Seattle, WA 98111

Pete Weitzel Managing Editor Miami Herald One Herald Plaza Miami, FL 33101 Norman Pearlstine Managing Editor The Wall Street Journal 200 Liberty St. New York, NY 10281

Matthew Storin Managing Editor New York Daily News 220 E. 42nd St. Suite 817 New York, NY 10017

Richard Ciccone Managing Editor Chicago Tribune 435 N. Michigan Ave. Chicago, IL 60611

Howard Schnieder Mananging Editor Newsday 235 Pinelawn Road Melville, NY 11747

Lou Colasuonno Managing Editor New York Post 210 South St. New York, NY 10002

John Walter Managing Editor Atlanta Journal-Constitution P.O. Box 4689 Atlanta, GA 30302

Stephen Hannah Managing Editor Milwaukee Journal-Sentinel P.O. Box 661 Milwaukee, WI 53201

John Oppedahl Managing Editor Phoenix Republic 120 E. Van Buren St. Phoenix, AZ 85004

James I. Houck Managing Editor Baltimore Sun Calvert & Centre Streets Baltimore, MD 21278 Tom McNamara News Managing Editor USA Today 1000 Wilson Blvd. Arlington, VA 22209

Leonard Downie Managing Editor The Washington Post 1150 15th St. N.W. Washington, D.C. 20071

Matthew Wilson Managing Editor San Francisco Chronicle 901 Mission St. San Francisco, CA 94103

Robert McGruder Managing Editor - News The Detroit Free Press 321 W. Lafayette Blvd. Detroit, MI 48213

Thomas F. Mulvoy Jr. Managing Editor Boston Globe 135 Morrissey Blvd. Boston, MA 02107

Henry A. Stasiuk Managing Editor Newark Star-Ledger One Star Ledger Plaza Newark, NJ 07101

Gary R. Clark Managing Editor Cleveland Plain Dealer 1801 Superior Ave. Cleveland, OH 44114

Tony Pederson Managing Editor Houston Chronicle 801 Texas St. Houston, TX 77002

Tim J. McGuire Managing Editor Minneapolis Star & Tribune 425 Portland Ave. Minneapolis, MN 55488 William E. Deibler Managing Editor Pittsburgh Press 50 Boulevard of the Allies Pittsburgh, PA 15222

Bob Mong Managing Editor Dallas Morning News P.O. Box 655287 Dallas, TX 75265

Frank Caperton Managing Editor Indianapolis Star 307 N. Pennsylvania St. Indianapolis, IN 46204

Charles Cooper Managing Editor Houston Post P.O. Box 4747 Houston, TX 77210-4747

Tom Gregory Assistant Editor - News New Orleans Times Picayune 3800 Howard Ave. New Orleans, LA 70140

Bill Dunn Managing Editor Orlando Sentinel 633 N. Orange Ave. Orlando, FL 32801

Guy Unangst Managing Editor - News Fort Worth Star-Telegram P.O. Box 1870 Fort Worth, TX 76101

Gay Cook Managing Editor Denver Post 1650 Broadway Denver, CO 80202 Karin Winner Managing Editor San Diego Union 350 Camino de la Reina San Diego, CA 92108

Alan Eisner Managing Editor Boston Herald One Herald Square Boston, MA 02106

Michael Foley Managing Editor St. Petersburg Times P.O. Box 1121 St. Petersburg, FL 33731

Foster L. Spencer Managing Editor Buffalo News P.O. Box 100 Buffalo, NY 14240

Jerome M. Ceppos Managing Editor San Jose Mercury News 750 Ridder Park Dr. San Jose, CA 95150

Peter Bhatia Managing Editor Sacramento Bee P.O. Box 15779 Sacramento, CA 95852

Earl Maucker Managing Editor Ft. Lauderdale Sun-Sentinel 200 E. Las Olas Boulevard Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301-2293

Douglas Clifton Managing Editor Charlotte Observer P.O. Box 32188 Charlotte, NC 28232 David Lipton Managing Editor St. Louis Post-Dispatch 900 N. Tucker Blvd. St. Louis, MO 63101

Chris Cubbison Managing Editor Rocky Mountain News 400 W. Colfax Ave. Denver, CO 80204

N. Christian Anderson Editor/Vice President Orange County Register 625 N. Grand Ave. Orange County, CA 92701

Thomas Dunning Managing Editor Cincinnati Enquirer 617 Vine St. Cincinnati, OH 45202

Lawrence McConnell Managing Editor Tampa Tribune 202 Parker St. Tampa, FL 33606

Gary Kiefer Managing Editor Columbus Dispatch 34 S. Third St. Columbus, OH 43215

Marvin E. Garrette Managing Editor Richmond Times-Dispatch 333 E. Grace St. Richmond, VA 23219

Press Pools

115

James D. Willis Managing Editor Birmingham Post-Herald P.O. Box 2553 Birmingham, AL 35202

Philip Schoch Associate Managing Editor Dallas Times-Herald 1101 Pacific Dallas, TX 75200

Robert Pearman Managing Editor Omaha World-Herald World-Herald Square Omaha, NE 68102

David Westphal Managing Editor Des Moines Register P.O. Box 957 Des Moines, IA 50304

Mindi Keirnan Managing Editor - News St. Paul Pioneer Press 345 Cedar St. St. Paul, MN 55101

Sandra Thompson Managing Editor Las Vegas Sun P.O. Box 4275 Las Vegas, NV 89127

Steve Sidlo Assistant Managing Editor Dayton Daily News 4th & Ludlow Sts. Dayton, OH 45401

David Lowery Managing Editor Austin American-Statesman 166 E. Riverside Dr. Austin, TX 78704

Tom O'Hara Managing Editor West Palm Beach Post P.O. Box 24700 West Palm Beach, FL 33416 Irene Nolan Managing Editor Louisville Courier-Journal 525 W. Broadway Louisville, KY 40202

David S. Barrett Managing Editor Hartford Courant 285 Broad St. Hartford, CT 06115

A. James Memmott Managing Editor Rochester Democrat & Chronicle 55 Exchange Blvd. Rochester, NY 14614-2001

Thomas E. Heslin Managing Editor Providence Journal-Bulletin 75 Fountain St. Providence, RI 02902

Anne Harphan Managing Editor - News Honolulu Advertiser P.O. Box 3350 Honolulu, HI 96801

Vince Vawter Managing Editor Knoxville News-Sentinel P.O. Box 59038 Knoxville, TN 37950-9038

Mark Kilpatrick Managing Editor San Antonio Express-News Ave. E & 3rd St. San Antonio, TX 78205

Will Fehr Editor Salt Lake Tribune 400 Tribune Building Salt Lake City, UT 84111

Marion Gregory Managing Editor Raleigh News & Observer 215 S. McDowell St. Raleigh, VA 27601 Jim Raper Managing Editor Norfolk Virginian-Pilot 150 W. Brambleton Ave. Norfolk, VA 23510

Ed Kelley Managing Editor Daily Oklahoman P.O. Box 25125 Oklahoma City, OK 73125

Colleen Conant Managing Editor Memphis Commerical Appeal 495 Union Ave. Memphis, TN 38103

Gene Curtis Managing Editor Tulsa World 315 S. Boulder Ave. Tulsa, OK 74103

C.W. Johnson Jr. Managing Editor Nashville Tennessean 1100 Broadway Nashville, TN 37203

Mike Connor Managing Editor Syracuse Post-Standard P.O. Box 4915 Syracuse, NY 13221-4915

Jane Amari Managing Editor Los Angeles Daily News 21221 Oxnard St. Los Angeles, CA 91367

Ronald K. Martin Managing Editor Jacksonville Times-Union P.O. Box 1949 Jacksonville, FL 32231

Bernard J. Buranelli Managing Editor Bergen County Record 150 River St. Hackensack, NJ 07602

116

Jeff Cohen Managing Editor San Antonio Light McCullogh & Broadway San Antonio, TX 78291

James N. Crutchfield Managing Editor Akron Beacon Journal P.O. Box 640 Akron, OH 44309-0640

George Baker Managing Editor Fresno Bee 1626 E. St. Fresno, CA 93786

John Peck Managing Editor The Arizona Daily Star P.O. Box 26807 Tucson, AZ 85726-6807

John F. Grim Asst. Managing Editor - News Allentown Morning Call P.O. Box 1260 Allentown, PA 18105

Jerry Wakefield Asst. Managing Editor - News Lexington Herald-Leader 100 Midland Ave. Lexington, KY 40508-1999

Bill Handy Managing Editor The Wichita Eagle P.O. Box 820 Wichita, KS 67201

Norman G. Bell Managing Editor Tacoma Morning News Tribune P.O. Box 11000 Tacoma, WA 98411 Rod Deckert Managing Editor Albuquerque Journal P.O. Drawer JT 87103 Albuquerque, NM 87109

Raymond J. Tuers Senior Managing Editor Asbury Park Press P.O. Box 1550 Neptune, NJ 07754-1550

William K. Rutherford Managing Editor Little Rock Gazette P.O. Box 1821 Little Rock, AR 72201

Grace Kutkus Asst Managing Editor - News Charleston News & Courier 134 Columbus St. Charleston, NC 29403-4800

Harry T. Whitin Managing Editor - News Worcester Telegram & Gazette P.O. Box 15012 Worcester, MA 01615-0012

William K. Warren Managing Editor Roanoke Times & World-News P.O. Box 2491 Roanoke, VA 24010

Sherry Stufoa Managing Editor Fort Wayne Journal-Gazette P.O. Box 88 Fort Wayne, IN 46801

Robert M. Hitt III Managing Editor Columbia State P.O. Box 1333 Columbia, SC 29202 Patrick O'Gara Managing Editor Toledo Blade 541 Superior St. Toledo, OH 43660

Mel Opotowsky Senior Managing Editor Riverside Press-Enterprise 3512 14th St. Riverside, CA 92502

Raymond Kwapil News Editor Grand Rapids Press 155 Michigan St N.W. Grand Rapids, MI 49503

Leroy F. Adams Senior Vice President - News The Oakland Tribune 409 13th St. Oakland, CA 94612

Richard Archbold Managing Editor Long Beach Press-Telegram 604 Pine Ave. Long Beach, CA 90844

Christopher Peck Managing Editor Spokane Spokseman-Review P.O. Box 2160 Spokane, WA 99210

John N. Walston Managing Editor Wilmington News Journal P.O. Box 15505 Wilmington, DE 19850

117

Ned Cline Managing Editor Greensboro News & Record P.O. Box 20848 Greensboro, NC 27420-0848

Clifford Behnke Managing Editor Madison State Journal P.O. Box 8056 Madison, WI 53713

Don Marsh Editor Charleston Gazette 1001 Virginia St. E. Charleston, WV 25301

Jon Stapleton Managing Editor Colorado Springs Gazette P.O. Box 1779 Colorado Springs, CO 80901

John Robert Starr Managing Editor Little Rock Democrat Capitol Ave. & Scott Little Rock, AR

Wesley Pruden Managing Editor Washington Times 3600 New York Ave. N.W. Washington, DC 20002

Robert Buchanan News Editor Mobile Register P.O. Box 2488 Mobile, AL 36630

Allan M. Lazarus Managing Editor Shreveport Times 222 Lake St. Shreveport, LA 71130

Paula Moore Managing Editor El Paso Times 401 Mills Ave. El Paso, TX 79901 Tom Hutchinson Managing Editor - News Greenville News P.O. Box 1688 Greenville, SC 29602

Allen R. Wilhelm News Editor Flint Journal 200 E. First St. Flint, MI 48502

Clement J. Sweet Managing Editor Harrisburg Patriot P.O. Box 2265 Harrisburg, PA 17105

Jack Clark Managing Editor Baton Rouge Morning Advocate 525 Lafayette St. Baton Rouge, LA 70821

John Kolesar Managing Editor Camden Courier-Post P.O. Box 5300 Cherry Hill, NJ 08002

Edwin E. Rogers Managing Editor Scranton Tribune 149 Penn Ave. Scranton, PA 18505

Bennie Ivory Managing Editor Jackson Clarion-Ledger P.O. Box 40 Jackson, MS 39205

Joe Goodman Managing Editor Winston-Salem Journal 418 N. Marshall Winston-Salem, NC 27101

Ed Perkins Managing Editor South Bend Tribune 225 W. Colfax South Bend, IN 46626 Wayne E. Phaneuf Managing Editor - News Springfield Union-News 1860 Main St. Springfield, IL 01102

Will Corbin Managing Editor Newport News Daily Press 7505 Warwick Blvd. Newport News, VA 23607

Daniel Lynch Managing Editor - News Albany Times-Union P.O. Box 15000 Albany, NY 12212

Carol Hanner Managing Editor New Haven Register 40 Sargent Dr. New Haven, CT 06511

Stanton Palmer News Editor Chattanooga News-Free Press 400 E. 11th St. Chattanooga, TN 37401

Thomas Tuley Editor Evansville Courier P.O. Box 268 Evansville, IN 47702-0268

Marjorie L. Fanning Managing Editor Peoria Journal Star 1 News Plaza Peoria, IL 61643

Paul C. Jagnow Managing Editor/News Youngstown Vindicator P.O. Box 780 Youngstown, OH 44501-0780

118

Lee Moore Managing Editor/Day Daytona Beach News-Journal 901 Sixth St. Daytona Beach, FL 32117

Robert Swofford Managing Editor Santa Rosa Press Democrat 427 Mendocino Ave. Santa Rosa, CA 95401

Johnathan F. Kellogg Managing Editor Portland Press-Herald P.O. Box 1460 Portland, ME 04104

John R. Irby Managing Editor Bakersfield Californian P.O. Bin 440 Bakersfield, CA 93389

V. Paul Reynolds Managing Editor Bangor Daily News P.O. Box 1329 Bangor, ME 04402-1329

Mark Vasche Managing Editor The Modesto Bee P.O. Box 3928 Modesto, CA 95352

Allen Parsons Managing Editor Sarasota Herald-Tribune P.O. Box 1719 Sarasota, FL 34236

Robert Laska Executive Director Bridgeport Post 410 State St. Bridgeport, CT 06604 Jim McClure Managing Editor York Daily Record 1750 Industrial Highway York, PA 17402

Ann H. Kellet Managing Editor Contra Costa Times 2640 Shadeland Drive Walnut Creek, CA 94598

John Lampinen Managing Editor Chicago Daily Herald P.O. Box 280 Arlington Heights, IL 60006

Melinda Meers Managing Editor Ft. Myers News-Press 2442 Anderson Ave. Ft. Myers, FL 33901

Edward A. McGranahan Managing Editor Augusta Chronicle 725 Broad St. Augusta, GA 30913

Charles M. Gallagher Hanaging Editor Reading Times P.O. Box 582 Reading, PA 19603-0582

George Collier News Editor Inland Valley Daily Bulletin P.O. Box 4000 Ontario, CA 91761

Richard J. Cattiani Managing Editor Christian Science Monitor One Norway St. Boston, MA 02115

Charles R. Shaw News Editor Lancaster Intelligencer-Journal P.O. Box 1328 Lancaster, PA 17603 Terry Ryan Managing Editor Quincy Patriot-Ledger 400 Crown Colony Drive Quincy, MA 02169

Gerardo Lopez Managing Editor La Opinion 411 W. 5th St. Los Angeles, CA 90013

Mike Whitehead Managing Editor San Bernadino Sun 399 D. St. San Bernadino, CA 92401

Bob Moyer Managing Editor Lincoln Star P.O. Box 81609 Lincoln, NE 68501

Robert Ebener Managing Editor Atlantic City Press 1000 W. Washington Ave. Atlantic City, NJ 08232-38:

Jeff Webb Managing Editor Passaic/N.J. Herald & News 988 Main Ave. Passaic, NJ 07055

Jeff Storey Managing Editor Middletown Times Herald-Rec 40 Mulberry St. Middletown, NY 10940

Lori Demo Managing Editor Melbourne Today P.O. Box 363000 Melbourne, FL 32936

R.J. (Bob) Ward Managing Editor Huntsville Times P.O. Box 1487 Huntsville, AL 35807

Ron Woodgeard Managing Editor - News Macon Telegraph News P.O. Box 4167 Macon, GA 31201-3444

Larie Pintea Managing Editor Erie Morning Times W. 12th & Sassafras Sts. Erie, PA 16534

Mark Bowden Managing Editor Cedar Rapids Gazette 500 3rd Ave. S.E. Cedar Rapids, IA 52401

Jennifer Carroll Managing Editor Lansing State Journal 120 E. Lenawee St. Lansing, MI 48919

Edgar L. Fowler Jr. Managing Editor Montgomery Advertiser 200 Washington Ave. Montgomery, AL 36104

David House Managing Editor Corpus Christi Caller-Times P.O. Box 9136 Corpus Christi, TX 78469

Randy Sanders Managing Editor Lubbock Avalanche-Journal P.O. Box 491 Lubbock, TX 79408 Betty Wells Cox Executive Managing Editor Gary Post-Tribune 1065 Broadway Gary, IN 46402

Ken Harvey Managing Editor Sacramento Union 301 Capitol Mall Sacramento, CA 95812-2711

Mike Arnholt Managing Editor Fayetteville Observer-Times 458 Whitfield St. Fayetteville, NC 28306

Charles Perkins III Managing Editor Manchester Union Leader 100 William Loeb Drive Manchester, NH 03103

Louis A. Brancaccio Executive Editor Binghamton Press P.O. Box 1270 Binghamton, NY 13902-1270

William Mock Managing Editor Beaumont Enterprise P.O. Box 3071 Beaumont, TX 77704

Gale Baldwin Editor Trenton Trentonian Southard at Perry Sts. Trenton, NJ 08602

Horacio Aguirre Managing Editor Miami Diario Las Americas 2900 N.W. 39th St. Miami, FL 33142

Bob Veillette Managing Editor Waterbury Republican-American P.O. Box 2090 Waterbury, CT 06722-2090 Richard Jenson Asst Managing Editor Rockford Register Star 99 E. State St. Rockford, IL 61105

Wallace M. David Jr. Executive Editor Savannah Morning News P.O. Box 1088 Savannah, GA 31402

Patrick Yack Managing Editor Eugene Register-Guard P.O. Box 10188 Eugene, OR 97440

Orazio Ottaviano Managing Editor Schenectady Daily Gazette 2345 Maxon Rd. Schenectady, NY 12308

Patrick Coburn Managing Editor Springfield State Journal P.O. Box 219 Springfield, IL 62705-0219

Dick King Managing Editor Topeka Capitol-Journal 6th & Jefferson Sts. Topeka, KS 66607

Jon C. Ham Managing Editor Durham Morning Herald P.O. Box 2092 Durham, NC 27702

Dennis Spies Managing Editor Amarillo Daily News P.O. Box 2091 Amarillo, TX 79166

Leonard R. Brown Editor Bucks County Courier-Times 8400 Route 13 Levittown, PA 19057

120

James R. Mosby Jr. Editor Kalamazoo Gazette 401 S. Burdick St. Kalamazoo, MI 49007

Ed Dawson Managing Editor Asheville Citizen P.O. Box 2090 Asheville, NC 28802

George Pinkerton Executive Editor San Gabriel Valley Tribune P.O. Box 1259 Covina, CA 91722

Bill Fuller Managing Editor Tallahassee Democrat P.O. Box 990 Tallahassee, FL 32302

Paul C. Chaffee Editor Saginaw News 203 S. Washington Ave. Saginaw, MI 48607-1283

James Campanni Managing Editor Lowell Sun P.O. Box 1477 Lowell, MA 01835

Edward J. Baumeister Jr Managing Editor Trenton Times P.O. Box 847 Trenton, NJ 08605

Judith Locorriere Managing Editor Jersey Journal 30 Journal Sq. Jersey City, NJ 07306 Vikki Porter Managing Editor Reno Gazette-Journal P.O. Box 22000 Reno, NV 89520

Linda DeMeglio Managing Editor Delaware County Daily Times 500 Mildred Ave. Primos. PA 19018

Betty Liddick Managing Editor Springfield News-Leader 651 Booneville Springfield, MO 65806

Jeannine Guttmann Asst Managing Editor The Idaho Statesman P.O. Box 40 Boise, ID 837

Patrick Dougherty Managing Editor Anchorage Daily News P.O. Box 14-9001 Anchorage, AK 99514-9001

Bruce Giles Managing Editor Lakeland Ledger P.O. Box 408 Lakeland, FL 33802

John Cusumano Managing Editor The Oakland Press P.O. Box 436009 Pontiac, MI 48334

Scott Kearns Mananging Editor Spartanburg Valley Daily Tribune Lawrence Eagle-Tribune P.O. Box 1657 Spartanburg, SC 29304

Jody Cox Managing Editor Duluth News-Tribune 424 W. 1st St. Duluth, MN 55816-9000

Ken Fortenberry Managing Editor Pensacola News Journal One News Journal Plaza Pensacola, FL 32501

David Kaminski Managing Editor Canton Repository 500 Market Ave. S. Canton, OH 44702

Gary Schnorbus Managing Editor Morristown Daily Record P.O. Box 217 Parsippiany NJ 07054-0217

Les Trautmann Editor Staten Island Advance 950 Fingerboard Road Staten Island, NY 10305

William Nangle Executive Editor Lake County Times 601 45th Ave. Munster, IN 46321

Gerry Molina Managing Editor P.O. Box 100 Lawrence, MA 01842 Appendix E

Cover Letter

Follow-Up Cover Letter

Main Survey Questionnaire

Note: Pages are reduced to 80% of original size to allow placement of "Press Pool" headers.

Arizona State University

Walter Cronkite School of Journalism and Telecommunication Tempe, Arizona 85287-1305 (602) 965-5011

March 9, 1992

Gerry Molina Managing Editor Lawrence Eagle-Tribune P.O. Box 100 Lawrence, MA 01842

Just over a year has passed since the Gulf War ended, but questions about the war remain. For the media, one of the most controversial questions of coverage was the use of press pools. A joint media-Pentagon panel was forme³ last September to decide the nature of future media coverage, but its recommendations have not yet been announced. However, it is likely that press pools will remain a part of U.S. war coverage.

Despite numerous editorials, commentaries and stories on the use of press pools, there are few reported research findings on media attitudes regarding the use of press pools. Toward that end, you have been selected for a nationwide sample of managing editors of daily newspapers. To ensure that research findings accurately represent editors' attitudes, it is important that each questionnaire is completed and returned.

Anonymity is offered to encourage frank responses. A postcard bearing an identification number is enclosed; this method was chosen to allow identification of respondents while maintaining their anonymity. To verify completion of the survey (and avoid follow-up mailings) please fill out and mail the postcard when you return the completed survey.

This research is conducted to fulfill requirements toward my master's degree at Arizona State University; however, a condensed version of this study will be submitted for publication. If you would like to have a copy of this study, please check the box on the postcard and a copy will be sent to you.

I would be happy to answer any questions you have regarding this study. If you have any questions, please contact me at (602) 966-7681. Thank you for your assistance.

Jay C. Steuck

122

Arizona State University

Walter Cronkite School of Journalism and Telecommunication Tempe, Arizona 85287-1305 (602) 965-5011

Gerry Molina Managing Editor Lawrence Eagle-Tribune P.O. Box 100 Lawrence, MA 01842

March 16, 1992

Last week a questionnaire seeking your opinions about the use of press pools in wartime coverage of the U.S. military was mailed to you. You were selected as part of a nationwide sample of managing editors.

If you have already completed and returned the questionnaire, please accept my sincere thanks. If not, please do so today. Because this study surveys a sample of managing editors at major metropolitan dailies, it is important that yours be included if the results are to accurately represent the opinions of managing editors.

If by some chance you did not receive the questionnaire, or it got misplaced, a duplicate is enclosed. Anonymity is offered to encourage frank responses. A postcard bearing an identification number is enclosed; this method was chosen to allow identification of respondents while maintaining their anonymity. To verify completion of the survey (and avoid follow-up mailings) please fill out and mail the postcard when you return the completed survey.

This research is conducted to fulfill requirements toward my master's degree at Arizona State University; however, a condensed version of this study will be submitted for publication. If you would like to have a copy of this study, please check the box on the postcard and a copy will be sent to you.

I would be happy to answer any questions you have regarding this study. If you have any questions, please contact me at (602) 966-7681. Thank you for your assistance.

Jay C. Steuck

PRESS POOLS QUESTIONNAIRE

Almost a year has passed since the Gulf War ended, but questions about the war still remain. For the media, one of the most controversial elements of war coverage was the use of press pools. Although the joint media-Pentagon group report on planning for future media coverage has not been released, press pools will likely remain part of coverage.

This questionnaire is designed to gain your responses to a series of questions regarding the use of press pools. Where indicated, please assume one of your reporters has been selected to participate in a pool outside the continental United States.

Please <u>do not</u> sign, list your newspaper's name, or otherwise indicate your identity on the questionnaire. To allow you the freedom to fully and honestly express your views, the questionnaire has been designed to assure complete anonymity. To verify completion of the questionnaire (and avoid follow-up mailings) please print your name on the enclosed postcard so that we may remove your name from our mailing list. To request a copy of the completed study, check the box on the postcard. <u>Only</u> the questionnaire should be returned in the postage-paid envelope.

<u>Thank you</u> for taking the time to complete and return this questionnaire. Your cooperation is appreciated.

124

1

ABOUT YOUR NEWSPAFER

Daily circulation _____ (3) Chain affiliation, if any (e.g., Knight-Ridder, Gannett, etc.) ______ (4)

1. In general, how do you feel about press pools as they were used in the Gulf War? (Please use the space provided below; if more space is needed, please use the back cover.) (5)

The following questions, unless otherwise indicated, seek your responses on an agreement/approval scale. The scale (strongly agree/approve, agree/approve, neutral, disagree/disapprove, strongly disagree/ disapprove, and no opinion) is shown below.

SA	А	N	D	SD	NO
strongly	agree/		disagree/	strongly	no
agree/approve	approve	neutral	disapprove	disagree/disapprove	opinion

The abbreviations shown will be used for brevity; the scale and abbreviations can be found at the top of each page for easy reference.

ACCESS

2. In this scenario, fighting has not begun. The military has warned that access to front line units may be delayed indefinitely. Your reporter is part of the pool; you have the option to have your reporter wait or to recall your reporter home. For each of the periods indicated below, please check the category which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval regarding that period as a reasonable period of delay.

1 DAY	SA 	N 	SD	NO	(6)
2-3 DAYS -		 	 		(7)
4-7 DAYS	-	 	 		(8)
8-11 DAYS		 	 		(9)
12-15 DAYS		 	 		(10)
16-24 DAYS		 	 		(11)

SA	А	N	D	SD	NO 2
strongly	agree/	neutral	disagree/	strongly	no
agree/approve	approve		disapprove	disagree/disapprove	opinion

3. Although fighting has begun, the military has again warned that access to front-line units may be delayed for an indefinite period. Your reporter is part of a pool; you have the option to have your reporter to wait or to recall your reporter home. For each of the periods indicated below, please check the category which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval regarding that period as a reasonable period of delay.

	SA	Α	Ν	D	SD	NO	
1 DAY							(12)
2-3 DAYS							(13)
4-7 DAYS	·						(14)
8-11 DAYS							(15)
12-15 DAYS							(16)
16-24 DAYS						<u> </u>	(17)

4. In this scenario, assume your reporter is not part of a pool, but is instead waiting with other reporters at a central location for access to front-line units. Fighting has not begun. Your option is to have your reporter remain in place or to recall him/her. For the periods given below, please check the block which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval regarding that period as a reasonable period of delay:

	SA	Α	Ν	D	-	NO	
1 DAY							(18)
2-3 DAYS							(19)
4-7 DAYS							(20)
8-11 DAYS							(21)
12-15 DAYS							(22)
16-24 DAYS							(23)

SURVEY CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE

SA	А	N	D	SD	NO 3
strongly	agree/		disagree/	strongly	no
agree/approve	approve	neutral	disapprove	disagree/disapprove	opinion

5. In this scenario, your reporter is not part of a pool, but is waiting with other reporters at a central location for access to front-line units. Fighting is underway. Your option is to have your reporter remain in place or to recall him/her. For the period given below, please check the block which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval regarding that period as a reasonable period of delay:

	SA	Α	Ν	D	SD	NO	
1 DAY						(24)	
2-3 DAYS						(25)	
4-7 DAYS						(26)	
8-11 DAYS						(27)	
12-15 DAYS						(28)	
16-24 DAYS						(29)	

6. In this scenario, fighting has not started. If your newspaper is a chain member, would you recall your reporter if another reporter from your chain was in the pool and your newspaper could use that reporter's stories? (Circle One) YES/NO (30) (If your answer is "NO," please skip to question 8.)

7. If so, how many days would you wait until recalling your reporter? _____ (31)

8. In this scenario, fighting has begun. If your newspaper is a chain member, would you recall your reporter if another reporter from your chain was in the pool and your newspaper could use that reporter's stories? (Circle One) YES / NO (32) (If your answer is "NO," please skip to question 10.)

9. If so, how many days would you wait until recalling your reporter? _____ (33)

CENSORSHEP

10. Pre-established "ground rules" allow press escorts to review a reporter's story before release to resolve disputes over details of a sensitive nature. Please check the block below which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval to censoring a story on:

MINOR U.S. TROOP MOVEMENTS	 A 	 _	 • • •	(34)
MAJOR U.S. TROOP MOVEMENTS	 	 	 	(35)
PROBLEMS WITH UNIMPORTANT EQUIPMENT	 	 	 	(36)
PROBLEMS WITH IMPORTANT EQUIPMENT	 	 	 	(37)

--

....

SA	Α	N	D	SD	NO 4
strongly	agree/		disagree/	strongly	no
agree/approve	approve	neutral	disapprove	disagree/disapprove	opinion

(Question 10 continued) Pre-established "ground rules" allow press escorts to review a reporter's story before release to resolve disputes over details of a sensitive nature. Again, please check the block below which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval to censoring a story on:

~ .

. .

	SA	Α	Ν	D	SD	NO	
MINOR ERRORS BY U.S. FORCES							(38)
MAJOR ERRORS BY U.S. FORCES						<u> </u>	(39)
MINOR CHANGE IN U.S. TROOP STRENGTH							(40)
MAJOR CHANGE IN U.S. TROOP STRENGTH							(41)

11. The ground rules include the option to delay publication of a story for an indefinite period to resolve disputed passages. Fighting is underway; please check the block which most closely indicates your level of agreement/approval regarding delaying publication of a story for the indicated period:

١

1

A TROOP MOVEMENT STORY FOR 6 HOURS	SA 	N 	D 	SD 	NO 	(42)
THE ABOVE STORY FOR 7-12 HOURS		 				(43)
THE ABOVE STORY FOR 13-18 HOURS		 				(44)
THE ABOVE STORY FOR 19-24 HOURS		 				(45)
THE ABOVE STORY FOR 25-36 HOURS		 				(46)
THE ABOVE STORY FOR 37-48 HOURS		 				(47)

12. In the above scenario, the story is being held to resolve disclosure of a number of details. Please check the block which most closely indicates your level of agreement/ approval to delaying publication of a story for the indicated number of reasons:

	SA	Α	N	D	SD	NO	
A FEW (1-3) SENSITIVE DETAILS							(48)
SEVERAL (4-7) SENSITIVE DETAILS							(49)
MANY (8+) DETAILS							(50)

SURVEY CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE

SA	А	N	D	SD	NO 5
strongly	agree/	neutral	disagree/	strongly	no
agree/approve	approve		disapprove	disagree/disapprove	opinion

13. In one press pool expedition, difficulty in providing transport to front-line units was later characterized as censorship, as reporters were "kept" from the action. Fighting is underway in this scenario; the military has told your reporter there may be a delay in transport. Your option is to leave your reporter in place or to recall him/her home. Please check the block which most closely indicates your level of agreement/ approval to the given period of delay:

	SA	Α	N	D	SD	NO	
A HALF-HOUR							(51)
AN HOUR							(52)
2-5 HOURS							(53)
6-12 HOURS							(54)
13-24 HOURS							(55)
1-2 DAYS	<u></u>			~			(56)
3-6 DAYS							(57)
7-11 DAYS							(58)
12-14 DAYS						_	(59)

CREDIBILITY

14. As perceived by the public, the level of news credibility seems to vary. Researchers have identified a number of attributes related to news credibility: these attributes include integrity, capability and accuracy. Please check the block which most closely indicates your assessment of the overall performance of reporters with respect to the attribute listed:

	SA	Α	N	D	SD	NO	
INTEGRITY OF REPORTERS							(60)
CAPABILITY OF REPORTERS							(61)
ACCURACY OF REPORTERS							(62)

SURVEY CONCLUDES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE

SA	А	N	D	SD	NO 6
strongly	agree/		disagree/	strongly	no
agree/approve	approve	neutral	disapprove	disagree/disapprove	opinion

15. In Gulf War press pools, news passed through a series of gatekeepers: press escorts, and when involved, their Joint Information Bureau (JIB) superiors and government policymakers. Press escorts and JIB superiors varied in capability (the ability to do their jobs) and cooperation (willingness to do those jobs within the ground rules.) Policymakers' roles are also important; because they set the ground rules, their capability and cooperation with the media "set the stage" for news coverage. Please check the block which most closely indicates your assessment of the overall performance of the indicated group with respect to the attribute listed:

	S.A	Α	Ν	D	SD	NO	
CAPABILITY OF PRESS ESCORTS							(63)
COOPERATION OF PRESS ESCORTS							(64)
CAPABILITY OF JIB SUPERIORS					-		(65)
COOPERATION OF JIB SUPERIORS			<u></u>			<u> </u>	(66)
CAPABILITY OF POLICYMAKERS				_			(67)
COOPERATION OF POLICYMAKERS							(68)

16. Finally, how would you rate the overall accuracy and credibility of Gulf War coverage? Please check the block which most closely indicates the level of your agreement/approval:

	SA	Α	Ν	D	SD	NO	
ACCURACY OF THE SCOPE OF COVERAGE			+ +			((69)
OVERALL CREDIBILITY OF COVERAGE						((70)

UCY TUGEA MOITAMEDERI

To provide demographic information on the managing editors surveyed, please complete the following questions:

17. YEAR BORN: (71) 18. GENDER: (Circle One) MALE / FEMALE	(72)
19. YEARS IN THE NEWSPAPER PROFESSION:	(73)
20. YEARS AS THE MANAGING EDITOR OF YOUR NEWSPAPER:	(74)
	(75)
(If your answer is "NO," please skip the remaining questions.)	
22. IF SO, HOW LONG?	(76)
23. WHICH BRANCH? (Circle One)	
AIR FORCE ARMY COAST GUARD MARINE CORPS NAVY	(77)
24. HIGHEST RANK HELD?	(78)

This completes this survey of managing editors. Thank you for your participation. it is greatly appreciated Appendix F

Postcard Reply Enclosed with Main Survey Questionnaire

130

Jay C. Steuck 200 E. Southern Ave. #132 Tempe, AZ 85282-5144

I have returned my questionnaire separately.

-

your name (please print)

Thanks again for your help with this important study. If you would like a copy of the completed study, please check this box | | and a copy will be sent to you when it | | is completed. Appendix G

Postcard Follow-Up

131



USPS 1991

March 27, 1992

Two weeks ago, a questionnaire seeking your opinion on the use of press pools was mailed to you. Your name was drawn from a nationwide list of newspaper editors.

If you have already completed and returned it, please accept our sincere thanks. If not, please do so today. Because it has been sent to a small sample of newspaper editors, it is extremely important that yours be returned to accurately represent the opinions of newspaper editors.

Sincerely,

Appendix H

War Coverage Guidelines

by Debra Gersh

Editor & Publisher, pp.18, 24

132

War coverage guidelines

After six months of talks, media and military agree on proposed principles for news coverage of battlefield operations

By Debra Gersh

The media and the military have agreed on nine of 10 principles proposed for news coverage of battlefield operations and have essentially agreed to disagree on the issue of prio, review.

The principles agreed to are the result of about six months of talks between Washington. D.C.-based representatives of major news organizations and Assistant Secretary of Defense/Public Affairs Pete Williams.

The media representatives were Clark Hoyt, Knight-Ridder Newspapers bureau chief; Jonathan Wolman, bureau chief for the Associated Press; *Time* magazine bureau chief Stanley W. Cloud; Michael Getler, assistant managing editor/foreign, the Washington Post; and George Watson, ABC News bureau chief.

Following dissatisfaction with the military's relationship with reporters covering the Persian Gulf war, 17 news executives sent a report and a 10-point statement of principles to Defense Secretary Dick Cheney in June 1991 (*E&P*, July 6, P. 7).

Other than some minor editing changes, the principles agreed to are basically the same as those originally proposed, with the exception of prior review.

As E&P went to press, the statement had been presented to and approved by other Washington bureau chiefs and was to be sent to the heads of their news organizations for approval. In addition. Cheney was to be sent a copy for his endorsement.

According to the new statement of principles, a copy of which was obtained by E&P, the media originally proposed that "News material — words and pictures — will not be subject to security review."

The Pentagon countered with "Mihtary operational security may require review of news material for conformance to reporting ground rules."

After agreeing that they simply could not agree on the issue of prior review, both the news media and the Department of Defense included statements explaining their positions.

The news media statement read, "The news organizations are convinced that journalists covering U.S. forces in combat must be mindful at all times of operational security and the safety of American lives. News organizations strongly believe that journalists will abide by clear operational security ground rules. Prior security review is unwarranted and unnecessary.

"We believe that the record in Operation Desert Storm, Vietnam, and other wars supports the conclusion that journalists in the battlefield can be trusted to act responsibly.

"We will challenge prior security review in the event that the Pentagon attempts to impose it in some future military operation," they stated.

The Pentagon, however, argued that the military "must retain the option to review news material, to avoid the inadvertent inclusion in news reports of information that could endanger troop safety or the success of a mission.

"Any review system would be imposed only when operational security is a consideration — for example, the very early stages of a contingency operation or sensitive periods in combat. If security review were imposed, it would be used for one very limited purpose: to prevent disclosure of information which, if published, would jeopardize troop safety or the success of a military operation. Such a review system would not be used to seek alterations in any other aspect of content or to delay timely transmission of news material.

"Security review," the Department of Defense continued, "would be performed by the military in the field, giving the commander's representative the opportunity to address potential ground rule violations. The reporter would either change the story to meet ground rule concerns and file it, or file it and flag for the editor whatever passages were in dispute. The eaitor would then call the Pentagon to give the military one last chance to talk about potential ground rule violations.

"The Defense Department believes that the advantage of this system is that the news organization would retain control of the material throughout the review and filing process," it explained.

"The Pentagon would have two chances to address potential operational security violations, but the news organization would make the final decision about whether to publish the disputed information. Under principle four, violations of the ground rules could result in expulsion of the journalist involved from the combat zone."

The two sides found more common ground in the other nine principles. The Original and Revised points are as follows:

• Original: Independent reporting will be the principle means of coverage of U.S. military operations.

Revised: Open and independent reporting will be the principle means of coverage of U.S. military operations.

• Original: The use of pools should be limited to the kind envisioned by the Sidle Commission. Pools are meant to bring a representative group of journalists along with the first elements of any major U.S. military operation. These pools should last no longer than the very first stages of deployment the initial 24 hours to 36 hours and should be disbanded rapidly in favor of independent coverage. Pools are not to serve as the standard means of covering U.S. forces.

Revised: Pools are not to serve as the standard means of covering U.S. military operations, but pools may sometimes provide the only feasible means of early access to a military operation. Pools should be as large as possible and disbanded at the earliest opportunity — within 24 to 36 hours when possible.

The arrival of early-access pools will not cancel the principle of independent coverage for journalists already in the area.

 Original: Some pools may be appropriate for events or in places (See GUIDELINES on page 24)

EDITOR & PUBLISHER for March 21, 1992

IAPA

(Continued from page 23).

that "IAPA's response demonstrates to the U.S. newspaper industry that IAPA does care about free speech in the North, and that U.S. newspapers have a good reason for belonging to IAPA."

. .

Dominican President Joaquin Balaguer addressed the opening IAPA session expressing his firm support for "freedom of expression in all its manifestations."

This was the fourth time that he has addressed an IAPA session since 1964. The president, who is blind, has been in office for four terms, not successive. His half-hour address was a tribute to freedom, concluding with a statement that "IAPA is a symbol of freedom-we don't all speak the same language but we understand the same language of freedom.

The president entertained the 160 delegates and guests of IAPA, plus the diplomatic corps, at a dinner at the Presidential Palace that evening.

Three newsmen provided an update on conditions in Haiti. Garry Pierre Pierre, a reporter for the Sun-

. .

Sentinel, F: Lauderdale, Fla., was | born in Hatt: and said he left there 12 years ago. The situation is very volatile, scare, and sad, he rold, so one apparently is in charge, the military profits by the instability, and 80% of the people would leave if they could.

Kevin Noblet, AP Caribbean correspondent, who has spent eight weeks in four visits in Haiti since the coup, said the suppression of human rights is obvious. The people are thoroughly frightened and the police act with impunity, sometimes executing with summary justice on the streets.

Nathaniel Sheppard Jr., Chicago Tribune, told of a hair-raising experience trying to cover events in a remote village when he and other journalists were apprehended and threatened with death by a roving band. They were rescued by soldiers.

Noblet thought the chances for President Aristede's return to office are practically nil short of a popular uprising. Pierre said there is not much to be gained by his return because the damage to the country has already been done. Sheppard felt the OAS must bring about his return or appear to be just a paper tiger.

Noblet said that everyone has been trying unsuccessfully to find examples of repression and persecution of the returned refugees. * * *

Robert S. Pastorino, U.S. ambassador to the Dominican Republic, gave tribute to a free press, saying that "societies with a watchdog press have far more accountable governments. . . . The choice between a decent standard of living and the state of being fully informed is spurious. The most prosperous societies in the twentieth century are also those with the richest sources of information and the fewer restrictions on what may be printed or broadcast."

He complimented the press of the Dominican Republic "on the role it has played in the steady progress toward institutionalizing democratic processes over the past three decades."

* * *

The Future Sites Committee con-

firmed that the 1992 IAPA General Assembly will be held in Madrid, Spain, Sept. 28 to Oct. 1 at the Palace Hotel in celebration of the 500th anniversary of Christopher Columbus' voyage of discovery.

The next midyear meeting of the board of directors will be held in Miami. Fla., in the spring of 1993 and the General Assembly will be held in the fall at Bariloche, Argentina, at dates to be announced.

Guidelines

(Continued from page 18)

where open coverage is physically impossible, but the existence of such special-purpose pools will not cancel the principle of independent coverage. If news organizations are able to cover pooled events independently, they may do so.

Revised: Even under conditions of open coverage, pools may be appropriate for specific events, such as those at extremely remote locations or where space is limited.

• Original: Journalists in a combat zone will be credentialed by the U.S. military and will be required to abide by a clear set of military security guidelines that protect U.S. forces and their operations. Violation of the guidelines can result in suspension of credentials and expulsion from the combat zone.

Revised: Journalists in a combat zone will be credentialed by the U.S. military and will be required to abide by a clear set of military security ground rules that protect U.S. forces and their operations. Violation of

the ground rules can result in suspension of the credentials and expulsion from the combat zone of the journalist involved. News organizations will make their best efforts to assign experienced journalists to combat operations .

• Original: Journalists will be provided access to all major military units.

Revised: Journalists will be provided access to all major military units. Special operations restrictions may limit access in some cases.

· Original: Military public affairs offices should act as liaisons but should not interfere with the reporting process.

Revised: Same.

• Original: The military will be responsible for the transportation of pools. Field commanders should be instructed to permit journalists to ride on military vehicles and trans-port whenever feasible.

Revised Under conditions of open coverage, field commanders will permit journalists to ride on military vehicles and aircraft whenever possible. The military will be responsuble for the transportation of pools. • Original The military will supply public affairs officers with timely, secure, compatible transmission facilities for pool material and will make these facilities available whenever possible for filing independent coverage. In cases when government facilities are unavailable, journalists will, as always, file by any other means available and will not be prevented from doing so.

Revised: Consistent with its capabilities, the military will supply PAOs with facilities to enable timely, secure, compatible transmission of pool material and will make these facilities available whenever possible for filing independent coverage. In cases when government facilities are unavailable, journalists will, as always, file by any other means available. The military will not ban communications systems operated by news organizations, but electromagnetic operational security in battlefield situations may require limited restrictions on the use of such systems

• Original: These principles will apply as well to the operations of the standing Department of Defense National Media Pool system Revised: Same

ED TOR & PUBLISHER to March 21, 1990